
1 
 

 
BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 

Agenda 
August 3, 2015 

7:00 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Town Hall 
85 Union Street 

Roll Call of Members 
 
Acknowledgement of Meeting Notice 
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Adjustments to Agenda 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 

a) Approval of the Minutes of July 20, 2015 
b) Approval of a Quitclaim Deed for property depicted at Map U15 Lot 124 Sub 000 Typ 

000 
 
Public Comments 
 
Correspondence 
 
Committee Reports 
 
MANAGER’S REPORT: 
a) Nomination papers availability 
b) Update on train idling and layover facility 
c) Solarize Brunswick RFP online and webpage active 
 
NEW BUSINESS 

 
83.  The Town Council will consider setting a public hearing for August 17, 2015, 

regarding “An Ordinance Authorizing the Planning, Design and Completion of 
Repairs to the Brunswick Junior High School and the Coffin Elementary School, the 
Acquisition of a 12 Classroom Modular Unit, and Site Work and Related 
Improvements, with Total Project Costs Not to Exceed Twelve Million, Five Hundred 
and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($12,550,000), Plus Other Authorized Costs, and Further 
Authorizing Issuance of Bonds and Notes in an Amount not to Exceed Twelve 
Million, Five Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($12,550,000), Plus Other 
Authorized Costs,” and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager) 

ACTION 
 
84.  The Town Council will consider accepting and expending a Safe Routes to School 

Crossings MDOT Grant in the amount of $100,000, and will take any appropriate 
action. (Manager) 



2 
 

ACTION 
 
85.  The Town Council will consider accepting and expending the 2016 Shore and Harbor 

Planning Grant Award in the amount of $15,900.00 for the Brunswick Mooring Field 
Opportunities project, and will take any appropriate action. (Councilor S. Wilson and 
Councilor Walker) 

ACTION 
 
86. The Town Council will consider accepting and expending a Coastal Community Grant 

for the Mare Brook Watershed and Community Engagement Project in the amount of 
$47,925.00, and will take any appropriate action. (Councilor Walker)   

ACTION 
 
87. The Town Council will consider accepting ownership of property at Bay Bridge 

Landing from the MDOT, and will take any appropriate action.  (Councilor Watson) 
ACTION 

 
88. The Town Council will consider appointments to the Town’s Boards and Committees, 

and will take any appropriate action. (Appointments Committee) 
ACTION 

 
INDIVIDUALS NEEDING AUXILIARY AIDS FOR EFFECTIVE 

COMMUNICATION SHOULD CONTACT  
THE TOWN MANAGER’S OFFICE AT 725-6659 (TDD 725-5521) 

 
 
  



3 
 

Brunswick Town Council 
Agenda  

August 3, 2015 
Council Notes and Suggested Motions 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
a) Approval of the Minutes of July 20, 2015: A copy of the minutes is included in your 

packet.   
b) Approval of a Quitclaim Deed for property depicted at Map U15 Lot 124 Sub 000 Typ 

000:  This item is to deed back property to the owner, who has paid owed taxes. A copy 
of the deed is included in your packet. 

 
The Council has the option to remove any item from the Consent Agenda to be 
considered separately. 
 

Suggested motion:  
Motion to approve the Consent Agenda. 

 
COUNCIL COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
Councilors with information on the Committees they are involved with will share information 
with the Council and public. 
 
MANAGER’S REPORT: 
a) Nomination papers availability:   Nomination papers for Town Council and School Board 

are available and need to be returned no later than Friday, September 4th.  Districts 3 and 
4, and one of the At-Large seats for both the Town Council and School Board will be up 
for election in November. 

b) Update on train idling and layover facility: This item is to update the Council and public 
on the installation of the auxiliary power unit and the status of the facility.  A copy of a 
memo from Manager Eldridge is included in your packet. 

c) Solarize Brunswick RFP online and webpage active:  This item is to inform the Council 
and public that the RFP for Solarize Brunswick is available on the Town’s website, which 
has a link on the home page to all their pages. 

 
NEW BUSINESS 

 
83.  At the request of the School Board, this item asks the Council to set a public hearing 

regarding this bond ordinance in the amount of $12,550,000 for school repairs.  As 
outlined in the Town Charter, after the Council holds the public hearing, the Council 
can either vote on the ordinance or place it on the November ballot.  If the latter were 
to occur, the Council will need to do so by your September 8th meeting in order for 
ballots to be prepared in time to make absentee deadlines.  Copies of the draft bond 
ordinance and various reports provided by the School Department about the scope of 
the project are included in your packet. 

  



4 
 

 
Suggested motion:  
Motion to set a public hearing for August 17, 2015, regarding “An Ordinance 
Authorizing the Planning, Design and Completion of Repairs to the Brunswick Junior 
High School and the Coffin Elementary School, the Acquisition of a 12 Classroom 
Modular Unit, and Site Work and Related Improvements, with Total Project Costs Not 
to Exceed Twelve Million, Five Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($12,550,000), 
Plus Other Authorized Costs, and Further Authorizing Issuance of Bonds and Notes in 
an Amount not to Exceed Twelve Million, Five Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars 
($12,550,000), Plus Other Authorized Costs.” 

 
84.  This item asks the Council to consider accepting and expending a Safe Routes to 

School Crossings MDOT Grant.  In 2012, the Town applied for this grant as part of a 
recommendation from the Safe Routes to School Committee.  Originally, funds were 
expected to be available in 2014, but were delayed due to state shortfalls, with funding 
available now.  The grant will be used to fund the installation of a pedestrian activated 
crosswalk flashing beacon system at four crosswalks to improve overall bike and 
pedestrian safety for children walking or biking to school.  Copies of a memo from the 
BBPAC and the map with locations of beacons are included in your packet.  

 
Suggested motion:  
Motion to accept and expend a Safe Routes to School Crossings MDOT Grant in the 
amount of $100,000, with an additional town match of $25,000. 

 
85.  This item asks the Council to consider accepting and expending the 2016 Shore and 

Harbor Planning Grant Award in the amount of $15,900.00 for the Brunswick 
Mooring Field Opportunities project.  The Council approved applying for this grant in 
April.  It was requested by the Rivers and Coastal Waters Commission, who believe 
this grant would assist the Town to conduct a feasibility study to provide deep water 
mooring access to inland residents of the Town.  The work done through this grant 
will allow the Commission to report back to the Council in 2016 on the feasibility of a 
mooring field.  The Town’s 25% match comes from the use of the knowledge and 
experience of the Town Harbormaster, and the expertise of grant preparation by Sue 
Stableford and Bill Good, RCWC Members.  Copies of the letter of award and the 
agreement to accept are included in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion:  
Motion to accept and expend the 2016 Shore and Harbor Planning Grant Award in the 
amount of $15,900.00 for the Brunswick Mooring Field Opportunities project. 

 
86. This item, sponsored by Councilor Walker, is for the Council to consider accepting 

and expending a Coastal Community Grant from the Mare Brook Watershed and 
Community Engagement Project in the amount of $47,925.00.  The match 
requirement will be met as an in-kind contribution (volunteer hours) from town 
committees, citizens, Friends of Casco Bay, Maine Coast Heritage Trust, and other 
entities participating on the technical advisory committee. The Council granted the 
Town permission to apply for this grant in May, and recently received a letter 
indicating it had been awarded.  The purpose of the grant would be to fund work 



5 
 

necessary to complete a Mare Brook Watershed Based Management Plan. The goal of 
the plan will be to: 

1) To develop, facilitate and engage an action-oriented stakeholder 
group and technical advisory team to advise and oversee 
watershed assessments and the development of a 10 year 
implementation plan.  

2) To conduct detailed watershed assessments including a stream 
corridor assessment and a green infrastructure reconnaissance 
inventory. 

3) To produce a detailed and user-friendly watershed based management 
plan that will outline a course of action to bring the stream into class B 
attainment levels. 

 
Suggested motion:  
Motion to accept and expend a Coastal Community Grant in the amount of $47,925.00 
for the Mare Brook Watershed and Community Engagement Project. 

 
87. This item, sponsored by Councilor Watson, asks the Council to consider accepting 

ownership of property at the Bay Bridge Landing.  As part of the construction of the 
Merrymeeting Bridge, the Maine Department of Transportation (“MDOT”) was 
required to construct a wetlands mitigation project.  MDOT chose to create a wetland 
area near the vicinity of Bay Bridge Estates.  The Town expressed an interest in 
creating an interpretive park and trails in the wetland project, and MDOT agreed to 
construct trails and parking to create the park.  In return the Town became a party to a 
conservation easement.  At the time the easement was executed, it was assumed that 
the Town would eventually assume ownership of the parcel.  MDOT has offered to 
deed the property to the Town.  Copies of a memo from Manager Eldridge providing 
additional information, along with the conservation easement and draft Governor’s 
Deed for the property, are included in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion:  
Motion to accept ownership of the property, as described in the attached Governor’s 
Deed, at the Bay Bridge Landing, from the State of Maine. 

 
88. At this time the Appointments Committee will make nominations to fill vacancies on 

Town Boards and Committees.  Copies of the report and applications are included in 
your packet. 

 
Suggested motion: 
Nominations will be made, with no seconds required, and the Council will then vote 
on the nominations. 

 
Suggested motion: 
Motion to adjourn the meeting. 



 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA - A 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Draft 
BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 

Minutes 
July 20, 2015 

6:30 P.M. – Executive Session 
7:00 P.M. – Regular Meeting 

Council Chambers 
Town Hall 

85 Union Street 
 
Councilors Present: W. David Watson, Stephen S. Walker, Suzan Wilson, John M. Perreault, 

Daniel E. Harris, Jane F. Millett, Sarah E. Brayman, Katherine E. 
Wilson, and John Richardson Jr. 

 
Councilors Absent: None 
 
Town Staff Present: John S. Eldridge, III, Town Manager; Fran Smith, Town Clerk/Assistant 

to the Town Manager; Steve Langsdorf, Town Attorney; Linda Smith, 
Business Development Manager; Anna Breinich, Director of Planning 
and Development; Tom Farrell; Parks and Recreation Director; Peter 
Baecher, Parks and Recreation Facilities Manager; Mark Waltz, Police 
Commander; Terry Goan, Police Officer; and TV video crew 

 
Chair Brayman called the meeting to order, asked the Clerk for roll call, and acknowledged that 
the meeting was properly noticed. 
 
Executive Session:  Labor Negotiations [1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(D)]  
 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Walker seconded, to go into executive session to 
discuss labor negotiations per 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(D).  The motion carried with nine (9) 
yeas. 
 
Meeting Resumes: 
 
Chair Brayman resumed the meeting and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Adjustments to Agenda 
 
To move Item 81 before Item 80. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA  (This item was discussed at 7:05 p.m.) 
a) Approval of the minutes of July 6, 2015   
b) Abatement of personal property taxes that were assessed in error   
c) Approval of Games of Chance for the Brunswick Knights of Columbus Council, 

#5008, 2 Columbus Drive 
d) MMA Annual Election of Vice President and Executive Board 
 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to approve the Consent Agenda.  
The motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
 



Brunswick Town Council Minutes 
July 20, 2015 
Page 2 
 

 
 

Public Comments (This item was discussed at 7:06 p.m.) 
 
Barbara Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street, spoke of the lack of birds on the green due to pesticide use.  
She did not support licensing cats. 
 
Richard Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street, said he liked the new Chamber lighting.  He spoke on the 
need to maintain town buildings, especially schools.  He would like to see a maintenance 
committee.  He also spoke regarding the high percentage of people in jail in this country, and 
would like further discussions with the Police and Council on this subject. 
 
Joe Ciarroca, 532 Harpswell Road, asked that agenda items be better explained prior to being 
discussed. 
 
Correspondence (This item was discussed at 7:16 p.m.) 
 
Chair Brayman spoke regarding the Peace Fair that will be held on August 1st. 
 
Councilor Perreault received correspondence regarding parking on Elm Street in front of Maine 
State Music Theater.  He said this is public parking and the theater should not be able to put out 
cones to block off spots. 
 
Committee Reports (This item was discussed at 7:19 p.m.) 
 
Reports were given on the Social Services Committee and the Finance Committee.  
 
MANAGER’S REPORT: 
(a) Report on the creation of the Mid Coast – Parkview Health System (This item was 

discussed at 7:23 p.m.) 
 
Lois Skillings, President and CEO of MidCoast, and Randee Reynolds, President and CEO of 
Parkview, provided this report.  They responded to questions from Councilor Millett, Councilor 
Harris, Councilor Watson, and Chair Brayman.   
 
Councilor Richardson and Councilor K. Wilson spoke regarding this item and thanked the two 
for their work on this vision. 
 
(b) Financial update (This item was discussed at 7:45 p.m.) 
 
Manager Eldridge provided this update and responded to questions from Councilor Harris. 
 
(c) Nomination papers availability (This item was discussed at 7:48 p.m.) 
 
Fran Smith, Town Clerk/Assistant to the Town Manager, provided information for this item. 
 
(d) Update on Zoning Ordinance Rewrite (This item was discussed at 7:53 p.m.) 
 



Brunswick Town Council Minutes 
July 20, 2015 
Page 3 
 

 
 

Manager Eldridge provided this update. 
 
(e) Report on the process to name the Kate Furbish Preserve trails (This item was 
      discussed at 7:54 p.m.) 
 
Bridger Tomlin, Bowdoin Fellow, provided this report.  He responded to questions from Chair 
Brayman, Councilor Millett, and Councilor Walker.  
 
(A copy of Mr. Tomlin’s information will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
(f) Update on upcoming roadwork on Nancy Drive, Patricia Road, and Pierce Lane (This 
      item was discussed at 8:02 p.m.) 
 
Manager Eldridge provided this update. 
 
(A copy of a memo from Manager Eldridge and the bid results will be attached to the official 
minutes.) 
 
(g) Update on Pine Street Bicycle and Pedestrian Access to Brunswick Landing (This item 

was discussed at 8:05 p.m.) 
 
Manager Eldridge provided this update, and responded to questions from Councilor K. Wilson.  
 
(A copy of a memo from Manager Eldridge, providing additional information on the schedule 
and funding, will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
(h) Reminder of the public meeting regarding downtown Brunswick’s consideration for a 

Commercial Historic District nomination by the Maine Historic Preservation 
Commission  (This item was discussed at 8:07 p.m.) 

 
Manager Eldridge provided information that downtown Brunswick is not being considered at 
this meeting for this nomination. 
 
Debora King, Executive Director of BDA, spoke regarding this item. 
 
(i) (ADD) Receipt of grant for Mare Brook project. 
 
Manager Eldridge provided information on this item. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Item 81 was taken up prior to Item 80 

 

 



Brunswick Town Council Minutes 
July 20, 2015 
Page 4 
 

 
 

80. The Town Council will hear public comments on amendments to Chapter 15 
“Traffic and Vehicles” of the Municipal Code regarding restriction of 
overnight parking in municipal lots on Union Street, and other miscellaneous 
parking changes, and will take any appropriate action. (Manager) (This item 
was discussed at 8:42 p.m.) 

 
Chair Brayman opened the public hearing. 
 
Commander Mark Waltz spoke regarding this item, and responded to questions from Councilor 
Harris, Councilor Millett, Councilor Perreault, and Councilor S. Wilson. 
 
The following person spoke regarding this item: 
Patrick Byrnes, manager of Byrnes Pub  
 
Chair Brayman closed the public hearing. 
 
MOTION: 
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor S. Wilson seconded, to adopt amendments to 
Chapter 15 “Traffic and Vehicles” of the Municipal Code regarding restriction of 
overnight parking in municipal lots on Union Street, and providing for 30 minute spots at 
Town Hall during business hours, and no parking on sections of Barrows Drive at Coffin 
School, a section of Federal Street on Railroad Bridge, the corner of McLellan Street and 
Harpswell Road, the intersection of Storer Road and Old Bath Road, and a section of 
Page Street.   
 
Councilor Millett, Councilor Perreault, Councilor Watson, and Councilor K. Wilson spoke 
regarding the motion. 
 
VOTE ON MOTION: 
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor S. Wilson seconded, to adopt amendments to 
Chapter 15 “Traffic and Vehicles” of the Municipal Code regarding restriction of 
overnight parking in municipal lots on Union Street, and providing for 30 minute spots at 
Town Hall during business hours, and no parking on sections of Barrows Drive at Coffin 
School, a section of Federal Street on Railroad Bridge, the corner of McLellan Street and 
Harpswell Road, the intersection of Storer Road and Old Bath Road, and a section of 
Page Street.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 

(A copy of the adopted amendments will be attached to the official minutes.) 

 
81. The Town Council will hear public comments on amendments to Chapter 10 

“Licenses and Business Regulations” of the Municipal Code regarding sellers of 
prepared food on a public way to require a 72 inch pedestrian walkway when 
placing outdoor seating on the sidewalk, and will take any appropriate action. 
(Manager) (This item was discussed at 8:10 p.m.) 

 
Chair Brayman opened the public hearing. 



Brunswick Town Council Minutes 
July 20, 2015 
Page 5 
 

 
 

 
Manager Eldridge spoke regarding this item, and responded to questions from Councilor 
Millett, Councilor Walker, Councilor Richardson, and Chair Brayman.  
 
Councilor Perreault spoke regarding this item. 
 
The following persons spoke regarding this item: 

Richard Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street 
Paul Harrison, owner of Little Dog Coffee Shop 
Debora King, Director of BDA 

 
Chair Brayman closed the public hearing. 
 
MOTION: 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to adopt amendments to Chapter 
10 “Licenses and Business Regulations” of the Municipal Code regarding sellers of 
prepared food on a public way to require a 60 inch pedestrian walkway when placing 
outdoor seating on the sidewalk.   
 
Councilor S. Wilson, Councilor Millett, Chair Brayman, Councilor Perreault, and Councilor K. 
Wilson spoke regarding this motion. 
 
VOTE ON MOTION: 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to adopt amendments to Chapter 
10 “Licenses and Business Regulations” of the Municipal Code regarding sellers of 
prepared food on a public way to require a 60 inch pedestrian walkway when placing 
outdoor seating on the sidewalk.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 

(A copy of the adopted amendments will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
82. The Town Council will consider adopting the “Solarize Brunswick” program, and 

will take any appropriate action. (Councilor Walker and Chair Brayman)  (This 
item was discussed at 9:00 p.m.) 

 
Councilor Walker introduced this item. 
 
Alex Anesko, Recycling and Sustainability Committee, provided this information, and 
responded to questions from Chair Brayman, Councilor Perreault, Councilor Walker, Councilor 
Millett, and Councilor K. Wilson.  
 
Chair Brayman opened the floor to public comments and the following people spoke: 

Richard Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street 
Michael Wilson, Echo Road and member of Recycling and Sustainability Committee 

 



Brunswick Town Council Minutes 
July 20, 2015 
Page 6 
 

 
 

Councilor Perreault asked questions, to which Attorney Langsdorf responded. 
 
Councilor Walker moved, Chair Brayman seconded, to adopt the “Solarize Brunswick” 
program as outlined by the Recycling and Sustainability Committee, as attached in the 
packet (and will be attached to the official minutes).  The motion carried with nine (9) 
yeas.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
(A copy of the information and the PowerPoint presentation will be attached to the official 
minutes.) 
 
Councilor Watson moved, Councilor Richardson seconded, to adjourn the meeting.  The 
motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 9:41 p.m. 
 
PLEASE NOTE:  THESE MINUTES ARE ACTION MINUTES.  THE ENTIRE 
MEETING CAN BE VIEWED AT WWW.BRUNSWICKME.ORG.  
 
 
Frances M. Smith  
Town Clerk 
July 23, 2015 
 

August 3, 2015 
Date of Approval 

 

___________________________ 
Council Chair 

 



 
 

CONSENT AGENDA - B 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 





 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - A 
NO BACK UP MATERIALS 



 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - B 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



	
	

MEMORANDUM	
	
	
TO:	 Town	Council	
	
FROM:	 John	Eldridge	
	 Town	Manager	
	
DATE:	 July	29,	2015	
	
SUBJECT:	 NNEPRA	Layover	and	APU	
	
	
	
Recently,	Patricia	Quinn	provided	an	update	on	the	layover	facility	and	the	auxiliary	power	unit	
(APU).		The	NNEPRA	Board	authorized	staff	to	finalize	negotiations	with	Consigli	for	construction	of	
the	layover	facility.		While	there	are	still	items	to	be	finalized,	NNEPRA	hopes	to	begin	construction	in	
September.		As	the	Council	may	have	heard,	the	Brunswick	West	Neighborhood	Coalition	is	appealing	
the	Maine	Department	of	Environmental	Protection	(MDEP)	grant	of	a	stormwater	license	for	the	
facility.		The	Coalition	has	also	requested	a	stay	which,	if	granted,	would	prevent	construction	from	
starting	during	the	appeal.	
	
As	for	the	APU,	the	cabinet	and	poles	have	been	installed.		Electrical	work	has	begun,	and	the	APU	is	
expected	to	be	operational	shortly.		The	APU	will	allow	the	trains	to	run	at	a	lower	idle.			
	
	
	



 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - C 
NO BACK UP MATERIALS 



 
 

 
ITEM 83 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



1

Fran Smith

From: John Eldridge
Sent: Thursday, July 30, 2015 2:56 PM
To: Fran Smith
Subject: FW: Repair Project.

From: Paul Perzanoski [mailto:PPerzanoski@brunswick.k12.me.us]  
Sent: Thursday, July 30, 2015 2:29 PM 
To: John Eldridge 
Subject: Repair Project. 
 
The School Board voted unanimously last night to send a $12,548,531 repair project of Coffin Elementary and Brunswick 
Junior High School forward to the Town Council for their consideration. Thank you for your consideration in this matter. 
Paul. 



Facilities Master Plan
2011‐2015

August 3, 2015



October 2011

• Harriman and Associates was hired to complete Phase I.

• The goal was to provide an assessment of the existing facilities to 
guide future renovations, additions, reconfigurations and 
maintenance of all facilities.



June 2012

• Phase I Final Report was completed.

• The School Board voted on June 7, 2012 to close Jordan Acres, 
expand Coffin School and renovate Brunswick Junior High School.

• The vote was 6 ‐ 2



August 2012

• PDT Architects was hired to complete Phase II of the Facilities Master 
Plan Study. Phase II has five parts.

1. Analytical Review of the sites and buildings.

2. Develop detailed program requirements for space needs, furnishings and 

equipment.

3. Develop floor plan designs. 

4. Develop new site plan drawings that resolve site inadequacies. 

5. Develop cost estimates reflecting the facility analysis and building diagrams.



Since October 2012

• Since October 3, 2012 between Facilities Committee 
Meetings, Special Meetings and workshops the School 
Board has held 25 meetings on the Facilities Master 
Plan.



Timeline for State Applications

• This timeline at its best estimates that it will be 2 
years before the state calls for applications again.  If all 
the work and state decision went without a hitch it 
would be 8 years before any new school opened.



Timeline

•Realistically we may not be selected in the first round 
which would push out the possibility for a new school 
to 2024 or beyond.  Our current Kindergarten 
students will be in high school by that time.



Community

• Through this process we have had feedback from the 
community.  We have not seen an outpouring of 
support to build a new school with local funds.



Coffin and Brunswick Junior High

• The PDT report of September 24, 2014 says that we 
have no life left in Coffin Elementary School and 
Brunswick Junior High School.  Based on the 
information we have, the administration recommends 
the follow actions:



Administration Recommendations 
• Develop a plan to apply for the next round of state school constructions 
projects.

• Develop a plan for the placement of students should they need to be 
moved for any length of time.

• Develop a plan to gain support and approval on a bond to repair the 
current schools.

• Develop a plan to address the vacant Jordan Acres Building.

• Develop a long range maintenance plan that includes putting money aside 
each year for future projects.

• The School Board voted on October 22, 2014 to accept these 
recommendations.



Summary

Since October 2014 PDT has worked with the School 
Board and School Department on various options and 
scenarios culminating in the repair proposal of $12.5 
million that is before you tonight.



Brunswick Schools
System Failures and Concerns



Winter of 2012/2013

• Steam pipe failures in the music room at the JH caused a lot of 
damage to building and instruments



Winter of 2013/2014 ‐ Failed underground 
pipe caused severe flooding in the JH



Winter 2014/2015

• Failed pump control, blown fuse, caused a freeze up
• Resulted in several pipe splits

• Many of the classroom heating units split and leaked



Roof run off continues to deteriorate the masonry joints. At 
times the water was so heavy it knocked the pipe clips off of 2” 
conduit running horizontally below. 



Water infiltration to the door, and window 
framing has rotted the structures



Lack of water control on the roof also leads to run 
off which seeps through the foundation onto the 
music room floor. Distance to drain.



Roof edging problems, continued



More



Coffin as well



Absence of weep holes and flashing increases 
the need to manage roof run  off water



J.H. floors

• Classroom floors could continue to sink

• As per the PDT report, the hall floor could give way and drop through 
the voided space below.

• We only know about the areas tested



JH ceiling tile adhesive is failing



Roofing reinforcements

• If schools are built and maintained to Maine standards there should 
be minimal need to shovel it off.

• Roof shoveling is never budgeted, what is spent on it is taken from 
other repairs.

• School department personnel are not trained on the proper use of 
harnessing equipment.

• The school department does not own any harnessing equipment.

• Staff are already stretched for time.



Existing underground heating line to Coffin



Storm sewer line failures

• Storm sewer lines have failed and no longer drain.

• Underground systems are old and tired and there is increased 
potential for critical failure.



Public address system failures, too old to repair

• If we are looking to extend the life of these buildings we should 
include these.

• They have been a challenge to maintain with parts availability so 
there is a possibility that they will fail.

• Master Plan statement, "The existing Intercom system is beyond its 
useful life. Dukane no longer manufactures parts for switch‐bank type 
systems, therefore any repairs requiring parts could lead to lengthy 
down time. Spare parts come from “old stock” and salvage from old 
consoles.”



Fire alarm systems

• Inadequate fire alarm systems do not come close to meeting today’s 
standards

• Classroom annunciation is non‐existent

• Audible annunciation is non‐existent



District Wide Communications

• Without a generator at the JH we would be helpless if we lost power 
in a storm and had to communicate

• Email system would go down

• Telephones would not operate
• In times of emergency this would be critical



The JH entrance does not protect our 
students or staff
• There are classrooms and circulating students that mix with anyone in 
the main lobby. 

• This can’t be resolved with a simple divider fix such as the one at 
Coffin



If there was a fire in the main core of the JH it 
would quickly spread throughout the school. 
Sprinklers and partitions needed



Library windows have failed to a point of 
failure. The insulation value is null.



Doors and windows will continue to rot



Coffin Portable building general conditions



More of the portables



Traffic concerns around the JH and Coffin 
entries
• We are very concerned with the high rate of traffic at the end of the 
school day for Coffin. Junior High Sports programs and parent pick up 
times create unsafe conditions for the little ones.



History of Maintenance Staff & lack there of!

• The budget year that I started working here, we eliminated 2 custodians as 
well as labor hours for any subs working in the summer.

• The following year we eliminated the summer paint crew budget line and 1 
more custodian.

• When JA closed we starting a maintenance program using the head 
custodian from J.A.

• 3 months +/‐ later the Coffin supervisor retired and because of a tight 
budget, the maintenance program was scratched and he was assigned to 
Coffin.

• 2 years ago we cut another custodian
• Increasing ESY and special needs programs, as well as vacations, are taking 
up available “maintenance/custodian” resources during the summer.



Maintenance

• As it has been stated by many, We are at bare bones.

• We cannot continue to cut and still expect 0 impact.

• This is a business of education so that is where staffing priority goes.
• Maintenance is a matter of priorities nowadays. 

• All departments are completing tasks that are outside of their 
responsibilities

• Most of these repairs are beyond a maintenance person’s scope.



 

1 
 

O:\Finance\Capital Projects\Projects\School Rehab\Funding\Bond Ordinance draft - School Rehab Project.docx 

 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 
 
 

An Ordinance Authorizing the Planning, Design and Completion of Repairs to the Brunswick 
Junior High School and the Coffin Elementary School, the Acquisition of a 12 Classroom Modular 

Unit, and Site Work and Related Improvements, with Total Project Costs Not to Exceed Twelve 
Million, Five Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($12,550,000) Plus Other Authorized Costs, and 

Further Authorizing Issuance of Bonds and Notes in an Amount Not to Exceed Twelve Million, 
Five Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($12,550,000) Plus Other Authorized Costs. 

WHEREAS, the Town of Brunswick (the “Town”) has adopted a capital improvement program for the 
fiscal years ending June 30, 2016-2020 (the “CIP”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the CIP identifies the Elementary School Solution and the Junior High School Solution (aka 
the School Rehab Project) to be undertaken beginning in the 2016-17 fiscal year, to be funded with 
general obligation debt; and 
 
WHEREAS, PDT Architects has proposed, and the Brunswick School Board has approved, a project for 
the planning, design and completion of repairs to the Brunswick Junior High School and the Coffin 
Elementary School, the acquisition and installation of a 12 classroom modular unit, and site work and 
related improvements (the “Project”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the based on information provided by PDT Architects, the Town has estimated the total cost 
of the Project to be $12,548,531, which is expected to be financed through the issuance of general 
obligation bonds; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Charter of the Town of Brunswick, Maine (the “Charter”) requires that any capital 
acquisition to be financed solely or partly by the issuance of bonds or notes to be authorized by ordinance;  
 
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE TOWN COUNCIL SUBMITS THE FOLLOWING ORDINANCE TO 
THE VOTERS OF THE TOWN OF BRUNSWICK FOR APPROVAL. 

 
Section 1.  Funding Sources and Appropriations. 
 

a. A total of twelve million, five hundred and fifty thousand dollars ($12,550,000) plus any 
additional amounts authorized under this ordinance, are appropriated to finance the cost 
of the planning, design and completion of repairs to the Brunswick Junior High School 
and the Coffin Elementary School, the acquisition and installation of a 12 classroom 
modular unit, and site work and related improvements (the “Project”), consistent with the 
Project as defined in proposal presented by the School Board to the Town Council on 
August 3, 2015.   

b. The issue and sale of the Town’s general obligation bonds or notes (and notes in 
anticipation thereof) is authorized in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed twelve 
million, five hundred and fifty thousand dollars ($12,550,000) plus other authorized 
costs.  The proceeds of the bonds and notes are appropriated to finance the costs of the 



 

2 
 

O:\Finance\Capital Projects\Projects\School Rehab\Funding\Bond Ordinance draft - School Rehab Project.docx 

 

Project.  The bonds and notes may also be used to reimburse the Town for any prior 
expenditures on the Project, or to refinance notes or advances as authorized herein. 

 
Section 2.  Authorization to Develop, Construct, and Equip the Project.  The Town Manager 

is authorized to negotiate, execute, and deliver, in the name of and on behalf of the Town, such contracts, 
agreements, and other documents and certificates as the Town Manager may determine to be necessary or 
appropriate in connection with the Project.  The aforementioned items shall be in such form and contain 
such terms and conditions as may be approved by the Town Manager.  Such approval shall be 
conclusively evidenced by the Town Manager’s execution thereof, provided however, that the Town 
Manager may delegate the authority granted hereunder as the Town Manager deems appropriate. 

 
Section 3.  Project Costs Defined.  The term “cost” or “costs” as used herein and applied to the 

Project, or any portion thereof, includes: 
 

a. the cost of planning, engineering, architectural, surveying, feasibility studies, 
environmental studies and assessments, legal, accounting, and any other professional 
services associated with the Project;  

b. the costs related to applying for and obtaining all permits, licenses, franchises, and the 
costs related to regulatory and judicial reviews; 

c. the cost of land, structures, real property interests, rights, easements, and franchises 
acquired in connection with the Project; 

d. the cost of any site work the Town Manager determines is necessary to prepare the site 
for its intended Project use, including but not limited to the cost of demolition and 
removal of any structures appurtenance thereto, pipes, drains, underground tanks, boxes, 
manholes, footings, foundations, hazardous materials, and any other item(s); 

e. the cost of constructing the Project, and all costs determined by the Town Manager to be 
necessary to place the Project in service and ready for its intended use, including but not 
limited to the cost of all appurtenances and other facilities either on, above, or under the 
ground, the cost of landscaping and site preparation, the cost of off-site improvements, 
the cost of all utility extensions and related improvements, the cost of renovating or 
remodeling any existing structure, the cost of all labor, materials, building systems, 
machinery and equipment, inspection and certification costs;  

f. the costs of equipping the Project for its intended use including all furniture and fixtures, 
all fixed or mobile equipment, and leasehold improvements; 

g. the cost of insuring the Project while under construction and for a reasonable period upon 
substantial completion of the project, including builders risk, general liability, product 
liability, workers compensation and any other insurance costs the Town Manager 
determines is related to the Project; 

h. the costs of financing the Project including but not limited to financing charges and 
issuance costs, underwriters' fees and costs, legal and accounting fees and costs, 
application fees, and other fees and expenses related to financing the Project;  

i. interest costs prior to and during construction and for a period not to exceed three years 
from the issue date of the bonds, underwriters' fees and costs, legal and accounting fees 
and costs, application fees, and other fees and expenses related to the financing 
transaction;  



 

3 
 

O:\Finance\Capital Projects\Projects\School Rehab\Funding\Bond Ordinance draft - School Rehab Project.docx 

 

j. any other costs identified in the Project budget, and the cost of any other items or services 
deemed to be cost under generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) as 
determined by the Town’s Finance Director. 

 
Section 4.  Details of the Bonds or Notes.   
 

a. Execution and Delivery of Bonds and Notes.  The bonds and notes issued hereunder, and 
any issued as the result of exchanges or transfers, shall be signed by the Treasurer and be 
countersigned by the Chair of the Town Council.  The bonds and notes shall have the seal 
of the Town affixed thereon, and be attested by the Town Clerk.  The Treasurer and Chair 
of the Town Council, from time to time, shall execute such bonds and notes as may be 
required to provide for exchanges or transfers of bonds and notes hereinbefore 
authorized.  
 

b. Book Entry Certificates  In lieu of physical certificates of the bonds and notes, the 
Treasurer be and hereby is authorized to undertake all acts necessary to provide for the 
issuance and transfer of such bonds and notes in book-entry form pursuant to the 
Depository Trust Company Book-Entry Only System.  As an alternative to the provisions 
herein regarding physical transfer of bonds, and the Treasurer is authorized and 
empowered to enter into a Letter of Representation or any other contract, agreement or 
understanding necessary or, in the Treasurer’s opinion, appropriate in order to qualify the 
bonds for and participate in the Depository Trust Company Book-Entry Only System. 

 
c. Tax Exempt Bonds.  The Treasurer and Chair of the Town Council are individually 

authorized to determine whether to issue the bonds and notes authorized herein as taxable 
bonds and notes or tax-exempt bonds and notes.  To the extent such bonds and notes are 
issued as tax-exempt bonds, the Treasurer and Chair of the Town Council are 
individually authorized to covenant and agree, on behalf of the Town and for the benefit 
of the holders of such bonds and notes, that the Town will file any required reports and 
take any other action that may be necessary to ensure that interest on the bonds and notes 
will remain exempt from federal income taxation and that the Town will refrain from any 
action that would cause interest on the bonds and notes to be subject to federal income 
taxation. 

 
d. No Arbitrage Certification.  The Treasurer and Chair of the Town Council are 

individually authorized to covenant and certify on behalf of the Town that no part of the 
proceeds of the bonds and notes shall be used directly or indirectly to acquire any 
securities or obligations, the acquisition of which would cause such bonds or notes to be 
“arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended. 

 
e. Qualified Tax Exempt Obligations.  The Treasurer is hereby authorized and empowered 

to take all such action as may be necessary to designate such bonds and/or notes as 
qualified tax-exempt obligations for purposes of Section 265(b) of the Code; it being the 
Town’s intention that the Treasurer, with advice of bond counsel, to make the required 
Section 265(b) election with respect to such bonds and notes, but only to the extent the 
election may be available and advisable as determined by the Treasurer. 



 

4 
 

O:\Finance\Capital Projects\Projects\School Rehab\Funding\Bond Ordinance draft - School Rehab Project.docx 

 

 
f. Principal Denominations.  The principal amount of the bonds of the same maturity shall 

be such minimum denomination as the Treasurer, in the Treasurer’s discretion, may 
approve. 

 
g. Maturities and Interest Rates.  The maturity(ies), interest rate(s) and sale price of the 

bonds or notes issued hereunder shall be either sent out to bid or negotiated by the 
Treasurer in such manner as the Treasurer deems appropriate and in the best interest of 
the Town and the financing of the above-referenced Project.  The Treasurer be and 
hereby is authorized to provide that any of the bonds or notes hereinbefore authorized 
may be made callable, with or without premium, prior to their stated dates of maturity.  
The bonds or notes hereby authorized shall be in such form and to otherwise contain such 
other terms and provisions as the Treasurer may approve, his or her approval to be 
conclusively evidenced by his/her execution thereof.   

 
h. Consolidation of Bond or Notes.  Any or all of the bonds or notes issued hereunder may 

be consolidated with and become a part of any other issue of bonds or notes authorized to 
be issued by any previous or subsequent ordinance of the Town Council of the Town of 
Brunswick. 

 
i. Other Authorized Officials.  If the Treasurer, Chair of the Town Council or Town Clerk 

are for any reason unavailable to approve and execute the bonds hereinbefore authorized 
or any other documents necessary or convenient to the issuance, execution and delivery 
of the bonds, the person or persons then acting in any such capacity, whether as an 
assistant, a deputy, or otherwise, is authorized to act for such official with the same force 
and effect as if such official had performed such act. 

 
j. Absence of Officials Prior to Delivery.  If any of the officials of the Town who have 

signed or sealed the bonds or notes shall cease to be such officials before the bonds or 
notes signed and sealed shall have been actually authenticated or delivered by the Town, 
such bonds and notes nevertheless may be authenticated, issued, and delivered with the 
same force and effect as though the person or persons who signed or sealed such bonds or 
notes had not ceased to be such officer or official; and also any such bonds and notes may 
be signed and sealed on behalf of the Town by those persons who, at the actual date of 
the execution of such bonds and notes, shall be the proper officials of the Town, although 
at the nominal date of such bonds and notes any such person shall not have been such 
officer or official. 

 
Section 5.  Sale of Bonds or Notes and Registrar, Paying Agent and Transfer Agent 
 

a. Official Statement.  The Treasurer is authorized to prepare, or cause to be prepared, a 
Preliminary Official Statement and an Official Statement for use in the offering and sale 
of the bonds or notes.  The Preliminary Official Statement and Official Statement shall be 
in such form and contain such information as may be approved by the Treasurer, with the 
advice of the underwriter for the bonds or notes and bond counsel for the Town.  The 
distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement in the name 
of and on behalf of the Town in connection with offering the bonds or notes is approved. 



 

5 
 

O:\Finance\Capital Projects\Projects\School Rehab\Funding\Bond Ordinance draft - School Rehab Project.docx 

 

 
b. Counsel.  The Treasurer is authorized to select Issuer Counsel, Bond Counsel and any 

other counsel the Treasurer deems necessary in connection with the planning, sale and 
issuance of the notes or bonds, and to execute and deliver such contracts or agreements as 
may be necessary or appropriate in connection therewith. 

 
c. Underwriter.  The Treasurer is authorized to select the underwriter for the bonds and 

notes, and to execute and deliver such contracts or agreements as may be necessary or 
appropriate in connection therewith. 

 
d. Registrar, Paying Agent and Transfer Agent.  The Treasurer is authorized to select the 

registrar, paying agent, and transfer agent for the bonds or notes and to execute and 
deliver such contracts and agreements as may be necessary or appropriate to secure their 
services.  The bonds and notes shall be transferable only on the registration books of the 
Town kept by the transfer agent.  Upon surrender of the bonds or notes with an 
accompanying written instrument of exchange or transfer, executed by the registered 
owner or the owner’s attorney, duly authorized in writing and satisfactory to the transfer 
agent, the Town and the transfer agent shall make a charge sufficient to cover any tax, fee 
or any other governmental charge required to be payable with respect to such exchange or 
transfer.  Subsequent to the first exchange or transfer, the cost of preparing new bonds or 
notes upon exchanges or transfer thereof shall be paid by the person requesting the same. 

 
Section 6.  Refunding.  The Treasurer and Chair of the Town Council be and hereby are 

authorized to execute a refunding of general obligation bonds and notes herein authorized when the 
Treasurer and the Chair of the Town Council determine that such refunding is in the best interest of the 
Town.  All delegated authority provided pursuant to this ordinance shall also apply to a refunding bond 
and note issue relating to the general obligation bonds and notes herein authorized. 

 
Section 7.  Continuing Disclosure.  The Treasurer and Chair of the Town Council be and hereby 

are individually authorized to covenant, certify, and agree, on behalf of the Town, for the benefit of the 
holders of such bonds and notes, that the Town will file any required reports, make any annual financial 
or material event disclosure, and take any other action that may be necessary to ensure that the disclosure 
requirements imposed by Rule 15c12-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission are met. 

 
Section 8.  Investment Earnings and Other Bond Proceeds.  Any investment earnings on the 

proceeds of the bonds and notes and any other unexpended proceeds thereof are appropriated for the 
following purposes: 

 
a. To any costs of the Project in excess of the amounts authorized herein; 
b. In accordance with the applicable terms and conditions of the Town’s Arbitrage and Use 

of Proceeds Certificate delivered in connection with the sale of the bonds or notes 
including, to the extent permitted thereunder, to interest on the bonds or notes, or to the 
Town's general fund; 

c. To any other qualified costs approved by the Town Council and not prohibited by the 
Town Charter or Ordinances, Maine law or the Internal Revenue Code. 

 



 

6 
 

O:\Finance\Capital Projects\Projects\School Rehab\Funding\Bond Ordinance draft - School Rehab Project.docx 

 

Section 9.  Authority to Levy Tax for Debt Service.  In each of the years during which any of 
the bonds or notes are outstanding, there shall be levied a tax in an amount which, with other revenues, if 
any, available for that purpose, shall be sufficient to pay the interest on said bonds or notes, payable in 
such year, and the principal of such bonds maturing in such year. 

 
Section 10.  Authority to Accept Grants and Contributions.  The Town Manager is authorized 

to accept contributions and make applications for federal and state grant funds, said contributions and 
grants to be used in lieu of or in addition to bond proceeds authorized hereunder.  The Town Manager is 
authorized to accept contributions and grants on behalf of the Town and said amounts are hereby 
appropriated to fund any portion of the Project.  The total amount appropriated under this Ordinance shall 
not be greater than the amount of bond proceeds plus any contributions and grants, and plus any other 
amounts appropriated herein. 

Section 11.  Advances to Fund Project.  The Town is authorized to make advances, from the 
Town’s general fund to a capital projects fund, in anticipation of the issuance of bonds or notes, or for the 
purpose of financing any part of the Project.  Advances used in lieu of bonds or notes authorized 
hereunder, are appropriated to finance the cost, or any part thereof, of the Project.  The Treasurer is 
authorized to establish and amend all details of any advances including, but not limited to the term, 
interest rates, and payment schedule.  The authority to issue the bonds and notes authorized herein shall 
remain and continue in full force and effect during the entire term of the advance(s).  The proceeds of the 
bonds and notes issued hereunder may be used to repay the advance(s) of any portion thereof. 

 
Section 12.  Declaration of Official Intent.  Advances from the Town’s general fund may 

finance the original expenditures related to the Project.  It is expected that those advances will be 
reimbursed in part or in whole by the issuance of bonds or notes authorized hereunder.  It is the intent of 
the Town Council that this Ordinance shall constitute the Town’s declaration of official intent within the 
meaning of Treasury Regulation 1.150-2.  

 
Section 13.  Abandonment of Borrowing Authority.  The Treasurer is empowered to declare 

abandoned, the authority to issue any bonds or notes the Treasurer deems to be in excess of the amount 
necessary to complete the Project.  Such a declaration once made may not be reversed other than by 
ordinance. 

 
 

Proposed to Town Council: August 3, 2015  
Public Hearing:    
Sent to Referendum:   
Approved by Voters:   
 
 



 

6 
 

O:\Finance\Capital Projects\Projects\School Rehab\Funding\Bond Ordinance draft - School Rehab Project.docx 

 

Section 9.  Authority to Levy Tax for Debt Service.  In each of the years during which any of 
the bonds or notes are outstanding, there shall be levied a tax in an amount which, with other revenues, if 
any, available for that purpose, shall be sufficient to pay the interest on said bonds or notes, payable in 
such year, and the principal of such bonds maturing in such year. 

 
Section 10.  Authority to Accept Grants and Contributions.  The Town Manager is authorized 

to accept contributions and make applications for federal and state grant funds, said contributions and 
grants to be used in lieu of or in addition to bond proceeds authorized hereunder.  The Town Manager is 
authorized to accept contributions and grants on behalf of the Town and said amounts are hereby 
appropriated to fund any portion of the Project.  The total amount appropriated under this Ordinance shall 
not be greater than the amount of bond proceeds plus any contributions and grants, and plus any other 
amounts appropriated herein. 

Section 11.  Advances to Fund Project.  The Town is authorized to make advances, from the 
Town’s general fund to a capital projects fund, in anticipation of the issuance of bonds or notes, or for the 
purpose of financing any part of the Project.  Advances used in lieu of bonds or notes authorized 
hereunder, are appropriated to finance the cost, or any part thereof, of the Project.  The Treasurer is 
authorized to establish and amend all details of any advances including, but not limited to the term, 
interest rates, and payment schedule.  The authority to issue the bonds and notes authorized herein shall 
remain and continue in full force and effect during the entire term of the advance(s).  The proceeds of the 
bonds and notes issued hereunder may be used to repay the advance(s) of any portion thereof. 

 
Section 12.  Declaration of Official Intent.  Advances from the Town’s general fund may 

finance the original expenditures related to the Project.  It is expected that those advances will be 
reimbursed in part or in whole by the issuance of bonds or notes authorized hereunder.  It is the intent of 
the Town Council that this Ordinance shall constitute the Town’s declaration of official intent within the 
meaning of Treasury Regulation 1.150-2.  

 
Section 13.  Abandonment of Borrowing Authority.  The Treasurer is empowered to declare 

abandoned, the authority to issue any bonds or notes the Treasurer deems to be in excess of the amount 
necessary to complete the Project.  Such a declaration once made may not be reversed other than by 
ordinance. 

 
 

Proposed to Town Council: August 3, 2015  
Public Hearing:    
Sent to Referendum:   
Approved by Voters:   
 
 



 

O:\Finance\Capital Projects\Projects\School Rehab\Funding\School Rehab Bond Ordinance PH Notice.doc 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 
The Town Council will hold a public hearing on Monday, August 17, 2015, at 7:00 p.m. in the Town 
Council Chambers of the Brunswick Town Hall, 85 Union Street to consider the following: 
 

An Ordinance Authorizing the Planning, Design and Completion of Repairs to the Brunswick 
Junior High School and the Coffin Elementary School, the Acquisition of a 12 Classroom Modular 

Unit, and Site Work and Related Improvements, with Total Project Costs Not to Exceed Twelve 
Million, Five Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($12,550,000) Plus Other Authorized Costs, and 
Further Authorizing Issuance of Bonds and Notes in an Amount not to Exceed Twelve Million, Five 

Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($12,550,000) Plus Other Authorized Costs. 

 
All interested person are invited to attend the public hearing and will be given the opportunity to be heard. 
 
The text of the proposed ordinance is too extensive to be included with this notice.  Anyone having 
questions about the proposed ordinance or wishing to obtain copies of it should contact the Brunswick 
Town Clerk's or Town Manager's Office during regular office hours Monday through Friday from 8:30 
a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 
 
INDIVIDUALS NEEDING AUXILIARY AIDS FOR EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION PLEASE 
CONTACT THE TOWN MANAGER'S OFFICE AT 725-6659 (TDD 725-5521) 
 

Frances M. Smith 
Town Clerk of Brunswick, Maine 

 
 
August ___, 2015 
 
 
Printed in the Times Record on August ___, 2015 
 





Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine                                         

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS - ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST

REV 7/28/2015     

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks

CES-1.1 Entire Building - Architectural Provide full NFPA-complaint sprinkler coverage at unprotected areas. $3.25/sf 31000 $100,750

CES-1.2
Replace existing sprinkler heads at areas that are currently protected by a sprinkler 

system.
$50/200sf 22000 $5,500

Replacement required within next 10 years.

CES-1.3 Upgrade classroom door hardware to security lock function & ADA compliance $500/door 87 $43,500

CES-1.4 Replace wire glass at doors and borrowed lites ($15,750) $350/door 45 $0 Optional

CES-1.5
Remove asbestos Tansite trim and asbestos flooring ($255,000).  Install new trim (2100 

l.f. x 1.33 s.f./l.f. x $5.50/s.f. = $15,500)
$270,500

From AQM report 6/2013

CES-1.6 Install new VCT flooring at abatement locations. $4.15 47,440 $196,876

CES -1.7 Remove existing lead paint ($75,000 Abatement + $5000 for repairs) $80,000 From AQM report 6/2013

CES-1.8 Remove existing PCB containing materials  ($185,000 Abatement + $25,000 to recaulk) $210,000
From AQM report 6/2013

CES-1.9
Provide eave overhang at all sloped roofs to eliminate water running down the face of 

the building and existing gutter system
$50/lf 700 lf $35,000

CES-1.10 Add ADA interior room signage throughout $50/door 100 $5,000

CES-1.11 Add exterior classroom and exit door number signage for security $50/sign 40 $2,000

CES 1-12 Provide new window shades in classrooms $5/sf 7760 sf $38,800

CES-1.13 Miscellaneous repair of window seals, glazing and screens $1000/clrm 30 $30,000

CES-1.14 Provide fire rated top of wall enclosures at all mechanical closets $500/room 6 $3,000

CES-1.15 Seal all corridor partitions against the passage of smoke per current codes $20/lf high walls 700 $14,000

$40/lf low walls 450 $18,000

CES-1.16 Repoint areas of brick veneer damage by roof run-off $10/sf 2000 sf $20,000

CES-1.17 Flooring upgrades (carpet tile) $6/sf 5000 sf $30,000

CES-1.18 Replace old white boards $750/ea 30 $22,500

CES-1.19 Paint all walls $1.88/sf 57,440 $107,987

CES-2.1 Entire Building - Mechanical Replace underground hot water supply and return piping to the Central Boiler Plant 1 $161,000
Siemen's Quote (Includes sitework)

CES-2.2
Replace two (2) metal chimneys & remove all existing abandoned fuel oil pumps and 

piping at the Central Boiler Plant
1 $17,500

CES-2.3 Provide a mechanical ventilation system (ERV) for the Gymnasium 1 $75,000 Plus structural costs item CES-4.2

CES-2.4 Provide local mechanical exhaust ventilation at all copying machines $4000/room 4 $16,000

CES-2.5 Provide A/C system in the main data server closet and in the Computer Lab classroom 1 $16,000

CES-2.6 Retro fix automatic electronic faucets/flush valves at student toilet rooms $350/fixture 38 $13,300

CES-2.7 Retro fit automatic electronic faucets/flush valves at staff toilets and classroom sinks $350/fixture 28 $9,800

CES-3.1 Entire Building - Electrical Replace clock system throughout $0.74 53000 $39,000

1 of 3



Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine                                         

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS - ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST

REV 7/28/2015     

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks

CES-3.2 Replace phone system throughout 1 $50,000
Based in the district phone system which is Avaya

CES-3.3 Replace public address system throughout $0.89 53000 $47,000

CES-3.4 Install new fire alarm system and emergency evacuation system $1.15/sf 53000 $61,000

CES-3.5 Install new CCTV Security System $1.00/sf 53000 $53,000

CES-3.6 Site Lighting upgrades -Entire Campus Included in Coffin School sitework item CES-8.5

CES-3.7 Install door status switches and monitoring system at all exterior doors $500/door 30 $15,000

Technology Upgrades:

CES-3.8 1.  Provide data and power outlets for ceiling mounted projectors in the classrooms $600/clrm 22 $13,200

CES-3.9 2.  Provide fiber optic wiring to data switches located throughout the building  $10,500

CES-3.10 Prox/PIN access at exterior doors $3,500 ea 6 $21,000

CES-4.1 Structural Reinforce existing kitchen storage room roof structure $3,500 3 $10,500

CES-4.2 Reinforce the existing roof structure for the new ERV serving the Gym $10,500 1 $10,500

CES-4.3 Brace beams at cafeteria roof $225 20 $4,500

CES-4.4 Reinforce the existing roof structure immediately adjacent to the Gym $210 100 $21,000

CES-4.5 Paint & Finishes for structural repairs $20,000

CES-5.1 Classroom Wings Provide (1) ADA accessible toilet room in each wing for student and staff use $12,500/room 2 $25,000

CES-5.2 Provide new ADA compliant drinking fountains in the Gym $3,500 1 $3,500

CES-5.3 If a full sprinkler system is provided, eliminate doors to courtyards from the classrooms $1000/door 20 $20,000

CES-5.4 Provided an ADA toilet room and classroom sink in the Life Skills Room 1 $15,000

CES-6.1 Kitchen/Cafeteria Provide new kitchen exhaust hood 1 $40,000

CES-6.2 Provide 3-bay stainless steel sink 1 $7,500

CES-6.3 Add acoustic panels and new light fixtures in the kitchen and cafeteria $7.50/sf 5450 sf $41,000

CES-7.1 Portable Classrooms Remove all older portable classrooms on the west side of the site (by Owner) $8,000/portable 4 $32,000

CES-7.2
Provided ADA accessible ramps to the two newer portables classrooms in the 

courtyards 
2 $7,500 ea $15,000

CES-7.3 Install new 4-classroom modular unit (10-year lease) $365,500 $0

CES-7.4 Pad and foundation preparations for modular classrooms $16,000 $0

2 of 3



Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine                                         

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS - ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST

REV 7/28/2015     

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks

CES-7.5 Utility connections for modular classrooms $12,000 $0

CES-7.6 Install sprinkler system in modular classrooms ($14,100) $3.25/sf 4340 sf $0

CES-8.1 Site Improvements Play area drainage improvements (FS&T item A-3) $13,500

CES-8.2 Sanitary sewer investigation at existing portables (FS&T item B-4) $23,900

CES-8.3 Pavement repair at bus drop-off, parking & play areas (FS&T items C-3A,3B, 3C & 5C) $186,000

CES-8.4 Playground improvements (FS&T items D2, D3, D4, D5) $184,100

CES-8.5 Site Lighting (FS&T item E-1) $138,400

SUB-TOTAL $2,663,113

10% Div 1 Conditions $266,311

10% GenCon O&P $266,311

10% Contingency $266,311

1% Bond $2,663

TOTAL $3,464,710

 3%/year Escal 1 year $3,568,651

2 years $3,672,593

3 of 3



 28 July 2015 Project Budget

 Repairs Only

Coffin Elementary School   1955 Brunswick School Department
Grades PK-2

396 Students 54,718 sf ( 138 sf/stud.)

Brunswick Junior High School  1959
Grades 6-8

600 Students 98,834 sf ( 165 sf/stud. )

Item 1: Construction

1.1 Repairs @ Coffin $3,568,651

1.2 Repairs @ Junior High $5,201,214

1.3 New 12 classroom modular $0

Subtotal $8,769,865 $8,769,865

Item 2: Admin. Costs and Reserves

2.1 Site Purchase $0

2.2 Furnishings & Moveable Equipment 6% $0

2.3 Technology 3% $0

2.4 Advertising, Insurance, Legal, Printing $10,000

2.5 Contingency (5 % of Item 1) $438,493

2.6 % for Art $0

Subtotal $448,493 $448,493

Item 3: Fees and Services

Basic Services

3.1 Architect New (Item 1 x State of ME Fee) $8,769,865 @ 7.3 % $640,200

3.2 Architect Reno( Allocatted Reno 1.2 above) $0

3.3 Reimbursables & Permits $30,000

Special Services

3.4 Environmental Permitting $20,000

3.5 Survey, Soils and Wetlands $0

3.6 Construction Testing $40,000

3.7 Special Inspections $15,000

3.8 Clerk $70,000

3.9 Commissioning $0

3.10 Owner's Representative $0

$0

Subtotal $815,200 $815,200

Total Project Cost $10,033,558



Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS - ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST

REV 7/28/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks

BJHS-1.1 Entire Building - Architectural Provide full NFPA-complaint sprinkler coverage at unprotected areas. $3.25/sf 51930 $168,800

BJHS-1.2

Replace existing sprinkler heads at areas that are currently protected by a sprinkler 

system.
$0.25/sf 41800 $10,500

Replacement required within next 10 years.

BJHS-1.3 Upgrade classroom door hardware to security function $350/door 77 $27,000

BJHS-1.4 Replace wire glass at doors and borrowed lites ($54.000) $50/sf 1080 sf $0 Optional

BJHS-1.5 Remove asbestos flooring/pipe covers/pipe fitting 1 $170,000 Abatement cost per AQM report + 1966 wing

BJHS-1.6 Provide new flooring at abatement locations $4.15/sf 9000 $37,350 At floor tile abatement areas per AQM report.

BJHS-1.7 Remove lead paint and repaint ($60,000 Abatement + $5000 for repairs) 1 $65,000 Abatement cost per AQM report.

BJHS-1.8 Remove PCB's and recaulk ($220,000 Abatement + $25,000 to recaulk) 1 $245,000 Abatement cost per AQM report.

BJHS-1.9 Add ADA signage throughout $50/sign 200 $10,000

BJHS-1.10 Provide exterior classroom and exit door numbering for security $50/sign 60 $3,000

BJHS-1.11

Miscellaneous repair of window seals, glazing and screens, and replace glazing in 

1980's wing, repair glazing in all other wings as required.

See line items in specific building areas.

BJHS-1.12 Add 1 each ADA-compliant Boys' & Girls' Toilet Rooms.  See also BJHS-5.9. $350/sf 600 sf $210,000

BJHS-1.13 Provide new window shades in classrooms $600/clrm 50 $30,000

BJHS-1.14 Modify roof edges at the Gym & classroom wing flat roof areas to prevent water from 

running down the face of the exterior walls.
$25/lf 2200 lf $55,000

BJHS-1.15 Repoint brick veneer in areas damaged by roof run-off. $10/sf 2000 $20,000

BJHS-1.16 New VCT flooring beyond 1.6 (above) $4.15/sf 66,473 $275,900

BJHS-1.17 Painting throughout $1.88/sf 94,000 sf $176,700

BJHS-1.18 New carpet replacement (Library hall, SPED, Admin) $6.00/sf 18,527 sf $111,100

BJHS-1.19 Replace old chalk and white boards $750 each 50 $37,500

BJHS-2.1 Entire Building - Mechanical Replace underground hot water supply and return piping to the Central Boiler Plant 1 $58,000 Siemen's quote

BJHS-2.2 Provide new pipe insulation for piping that has asbestos insulation abated. 1 $5,000

BJHS-2.3 Provide new emergency gas shut-off in (1) science room, eliminate gas to other science 

classrooms
 $10,000

Verify with Owner if gas is used in all science 

classrooms

BJHS-2.4 Provide ADA accessible emergency eyewashes in science and art rooms $4000/each 8 $32,000 Science and art rooms and kitchen

BJHS-3.1 Entire Building - Electrical Replace clock system throughout $0.74/sf 94000 sf $70,000

BJHS-3.2 Replace the phone system $30,000 Avaya phone system serves the School District

BJHS-3.3 Replace the public address system $0.89 94000 sf $84,000

BJHS-3.4 Install new fire alarm system and emergency evacuation system. $1.15 94000 sf $108,000

BJHS-3.5 Install new CCTV Security System. $1.00/sf 94000 sf $94,000

BJHS-3.6 Replace illuminated exit signs throughout the building. $180 each 50 $9,000

Technology Upgrades:

BJHS-3.7 1.  Provide data and power outlets for ceiling mounted projectors in the classrooms $600/clrm 25 $15,000

BJHS-3.8 2.  Provide fiber optic wiring to data switches located throughout the building 1 $18,400

BJHS-3.9 3.  Provide Generator for data closet - (Assumed 100KW) 1 $45,000

1 of 4



Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS - ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST

REV 7/28/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks

BJHS-3.10 Site Lighting upgrades -Entire Campus Included in Coffin School sitework item CES-8.5

BJHS-3.11 Install door status switches at all exterior door and monitoring system $500/door 17 $8,600

BJHS-3.12 Prox/PIN access at exterior doors $3,500/each 6 $21,000

BJHS-4.1 Main Entrance Area Replace exterior metal slat ceiling system and lights at  the main entrance 400 sf $8,000 $15/sf + $500/ light

BJHS-4.2

Replace metal slat ceiling system and lights at main entrance interior entry lobby & 

gym lobby
2950 sf $59,000 $15/sf + $500/ light

BJHS-4.3 Add/reconfigure a secure entry vestibule near the main office. 1 $75,000

BJHS-4.4 Seal top of exterior wall to roof deck at main entrance doors 1 $500

BJHS-4.5

Upgrade perimeter partitions around main lobby to 1-hour fire-rating, including doors, 

fire stopping, etc.
$150/lf 200 $30,000

BJHS-4.6

Install a 1-hour rated HM frame and glazing at borrowed lite between the Main Office 

and corridor
1 $5,000 Allowance

BJHS-4.7 Upgrade stair guard rails for fall protection and handrails for accessibility $100/lf 60 $6,000

BJHS-4.8 Install tempered safety glazing at main stair enclosure $25/sf 120 sf $3,000

BJHS-4.9 Renovate Boys' and Girls' toilet rooms 1st floor (2 rooms): $250/sf 500 $125,000

1.  New gwb ceilings in toilet rooms

2.  New toilet partitions and accessories

3.  Patch ct flooring at existing toilet partition mounting locations

4.  Paint walls

5.  Replace finned tube, provide new heat and ventilation

6.  Replace doors

BJHS-5.1 1980s wing Replace carpet in all non-science classrooms and staff rooms $5.50/sf 11177 sf $61,500

BJHS-5.2 Replace carpet in corridors $5.50/sf 4750 sf $26,000

BJHS-5.3 Reconfigure or eliminate gas system, including shut-off (see BJHS-2.3)

BJHS-5.4 Upgrade emergency shower in science classroom or convert to ADA eyewash unit. Included under mechanical items

BJHS-5.5 Windows throughout the wing are failing.  Replace all window glazing and seals.  $26,000 Price #2 CCG estimate

BJHS-5.6 Caulk the perimeter of all windows and doors $20,000 Price #3 CCG estimate

BJHS-5.7 Replace wood windows and louvers in the Library/Special Ed wing. $69,000 Price #1 & 4 CCG estimate

BJHS-5.8 Occasional damage to drywall at window perimeter-repair and paint $5,000 Allowance

BJHS-5.9 Renovate Boys' and Girls' toilet rooms at First and Second Floors (4 rooms). $250/sf 600 $150,000

1.  New gwb ceilings in toilet rooms

2.  New toilet partitions and accessories

3.  Patch ct flooring at existing toilet partition mounting locations

4.  Paint walls

5.  Replace finned tube, provide new heat and ventilation

6.  Replace doors

2 of 4



Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS - ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST

REV 7/28/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks

BJHS-5.10 Replace accordion partitions with fixed partitions. $10/sf 1575 sf $15,800

BJHS-5.11 Upgrade teachers lounge casework and sink to ADA standard 1 $4,000

BJHS-5.12 Upgrade teachers lounge toilet room to ADA standard 1 $10,000

BJHS-5.13

Upgrade guardrails and handrails at the library stair to comply with building code and 

ADA requirements
$100/lf 30 $3,000

BJHS-5.14 Upgrade library stair lighting levels $500/fixture 6 $3,000

BJHS-5.15 Replace stair door with labelled fire-doors $2000/door 2 $4,000

BJHS-6.1 1966 Wing Replace classroom SAT ceilings $4/sf 6000 sf $24,000

BJHS-6.2 Replace existing classroom light fixtures with LED fixtures (poor light levels) $180/fixture 80 $14,400

BJHS-6.3 Verify smoke/fire rating at top of corridor partitions $500/door 16 $8,000

BJHS-6.4 Upgrade faculty toilet rooms to ADA standard $7000/room 2 $14,000

BJHS-6.5 Option 1A - Foam grout the void under the corridor slab 1 $20,000 (EFT quote from SW Cole)

BJHS-6.6 Option 1B - Foam grout voids and jack slabs in classrooms 1 $130,000 The slabs will still settle over time.  

BJHS-6.7
Option 1C - Foam grout to stabilize soils, fill voids and jack classroom & corridor slabs $175,000 to reduce the risk of settlement over time.

BJHS-6.8

Option 2-Replace poor soils and settling slabs in classrooms & corridor = $570,000 + 

flooring

Remove and replace existing slabs and poor soils.  

Includes $40,000 for new partitions between 

classrooms

BJHS-6.9 Option 3 - Lightweight concrete fill to level the slabs in 7 classrooms $6.50/sf 5500 sf $35,000 estimate.  Slabs will continue to settle.

BJHS-6.10 Repair windows 1 $5,000

BJHS-6.11 Replace carpet at corridors, band room, interior classrooms and offices $5.50/sf 5300 sf $29,200

BJHS-6.12 Add ventilation at teachers room copiers 1 $4,000

1

BJHS-7.1 1976 Wing Replace operable partitions with smoke/fire rated partitions at corridor $20/sf + doors 1000 sf $26,000

BJHS-7.2

If sprinkler is added, eliminate exterior doors and modify frames with insulated panel 

(low) and window (above).
$1750/door 4 $7,000

BJHS-7.3 Repair windows 1 $5,000

BJHS-7.4

Modify roof edge with extension/drip to keep water off brick.  Add 'drip strip" and 

drainage.
$25/lf 1000 ft $25,000

BJHS-7.5 Enclose the kiln area with 1-hour rated partitions and one 45-minute door @ $1,665 448 sf $8.80/sf $5,600

BJHS-7.6 Provide SAT ceiling at Music Classroom (peeling paint at roof deck) $4/sf 1400 sf $5,600

BJHS-7.7 Replace lights in Music Classroom $180/fixture 16 $2,900

BJHS-7.8 Replace the HM door frame from the corridor to the courtyard $4,500

BJHS-8.1 1959 Wing Repair windows $5,000

BJHS-8.2 Provide ADA fixtures in the boys' and girls' locker rooms $20,000

3 of 4



Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS - ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST

REV 7/28/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks

BJHS-9.1 Structural Upgrades to Roof
Reinforce existing roof framing to comply with current IBC the requirements for new 

construction
$193,000 See report from Becker Structural Engineers.

BJHS-10.1 Site and Athletic Fields Turf playfield improvements (FS&T item A-1) ($96,800) $0 Optional

BJHS-10.2 Repair pavement ponding areas (FS&T items A-2 & 4) $15,300

BJHS-10.3 Storm drainage repair (FS&T items B-1 &2) $64,000

BJHS-10.4 Additional storm drainage investigation (FST&T item B-3) $36,400

BJHS-10.5 Pavement repair (FS&T items C-1, 2 & 4) $163,800

BJHS-10.6 Playground improvements (FS&T item D-1) $57,400

BJHS-10.7 Site lighting improvements (Included under Coffin School item CES-8.5) $0

SUB-TOTAL $3,854,750

10% Div 1 Conditions $385,475

10% GenCon O&P $385,475

10% Contingency $385,475

1% Bond $38,548

TOTAL $5,049,723

 3%/year Escal 1 year $5,201,214

2 years $5,352,706

4 of 4



 15 June 2015 Project Budget
12 Classroom Modular w/ Site Work

Coffin Elementary School   1955 Brunswick School Department

12 Classroom Modular      14,076 sf

Item 1: Construction

1.3 New 12 classroom modular $2,156,267

Subtotal $2,156,267 $2,156,267
Item 2: Admin. Costs and Reserves

2.1 Site Purchase $0
2.2 Furnishings & Moveable Equipment 6% $129,376
2.3 Technology 3% $0
2.4 Advertising, Insurance, Legal, Printing $10,000
2.5 Contingency (5 % of Item 1) $107,813
2.6 % for Art $0

Subtotal $247,189 $247,189
Item 3: Fees and Services

Basic Services
3.1 Civil Engineering $774,200 @ 7.3 % $56,517
3.3 Reimbursables & Permits $15,000

Special Services  
3.4 Environmental Permitting $20,000
3.5 Survey, Soils and Wetlands $0
3.6 Construction Testing $10,000
3.7 Special Inspections $10,000
3.8 Clerk $0
3.9 Commissioning $0

3.10 Owner's Representative $0
$0

Subtotal $111,517 $111,517

Total Project Cost $2,514,973



PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS WITH ESTIMATES OF PROBABLE COST
 Brunswick Junior High School
 Coffin Elementary School

BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DEPARTMENT
Brunswick, Maine

June 2015

PREPARED BY
PDT Architects
Portland, Maine

Architecture      Interior Design      Planning



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

Table of Contents: 

 

I. Brunswick Junior High School  

� Report with Descriptions of Proposed Improvements 

� Architectural Floor Plans Locating Proposed Improvements 

� Geotechnical Report on Exploration in Areas of Floor Settlement 

� Spreadsheet of Estimated Probable Costs of Proposed Improvements  

 

II. Coffin Elementary School 

� Report with Descriptions of Proposed Improvements 

� Architectural Floor Plans Locating Proposed Improvements 

� Spreadsheet of Estimated Probable Costs of Proposed Improvements  

 

III. Total Project Cost Summaries 

 

IV. Structural Engineer’s Report 

 

V. Site Improvements and Modular Classroom 

� Existing Conditions with Observations of Deficient Site Issues 

� Site Improvements Schematic 

� Playground Improvements Schematic 

� Modular Classroom Addition – Concept 1A 

 

 

 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

1 of 26 

 

Existing Building Overview: 

The Brunswick Junior High School consists of numerous additions to the original single story 

school constructed in the late 1950s.  As a result, the current building contains a variety of 

systems and materials from many different eras of construction that are at different points in 

their useful life spans.  This has made operation and maintenance of the building challenging for 

the school department.  

PDT Architects has developed the following list of proposed repairs, improvements and 

replacements of building systems with the goals of maintaining and improving safety, comfort, 

and accessibility over the next decade of building operation. Systems and materials found to be 

near or beyond their expected service lifespans have been identified for replacement.  

BUILDING-WIDE WORK: 

BJHS-1.1/1.2 FIRE PROTECTION 

The BJHS is partially protected by an automatic 

sprinkler system.  Extending the coverage area 

and integrating the existing system to provide a 

complete, supervised automatic sprinkler system 

would dramatically increase the level of 

protection for occupants and property in the 

event to of a fire.  Existing heads in protected 

areas should be replaced to assure functionality. 

Total building area:                 94,000 sf +- 

Area currently protected:      41, 800 sf +- 

Full sprinkler coverage also reduces the 

requirement for corridor separation from 1-hour 

fire-separation to smoke tight separation and 

eliminates the requirement for exterior doors 

and emergency escape windows from 

classrooms. 

 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

2 of 26 

 

BJHS-1.3 DOOR HARDWARE 

There is a wide variety of door hardware in use at 

the school.  Barrier-free compliant lever handles 

have been installed in the 1959/1983 100/200 

wing, but knobs are installed in the majority of 

other locations.  Doors appear to be lockable 

from the corridor side.  Replacing locksets that 

allow classrooms to be locked from the inside 

would add a layer of security.  

BJHS-1.4 WIRED GLASS 

A significant number of doors lites, side lites, 

transom lites and borrowed lites are glazed with 

wired glass.  Building Codes now consider wired 

glass to be a safety hazard and prohibit its 

installation in new educational occupancies.  

Existing wire glass is allowed to remain, but 

replacing it in doors, sidelights and borrowed lites 

at levels of potential student impact would 

increase safety.  

 

BJHS-1.5/1.6/1.7/.1.8 REMOVE HAZARDOUS 

BUILDING MATERIALS 

The School Department has kept current with 

hazardous material monitoring requirements.  

Surveys on file with the School Department 

indicate the presence of asbestos in transite 

boards, floor tile, tile adhesives and pipe 

insulation and fittings.  Lead paint has been 

documented in a few locations.  As long as its 

condition is monitored and documented, 

immediate abatement of asbestos and lead is not 

required, but it may be considered desirable by 

the facilities staff or by the community.  PCBs, 

identified in exterior sealants, must be removed 

immediately. 

 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

3 of 26 

 

BJHS-1.9 ADA SIGNAGE 

ADA-compliant room identification signage is not 

present at most locations.  Room signage is not 

required, but where room signage is provided it 

must be ADA-compliant. 

BJHS-1.10 EXTERIOR ROOM & DOOR NUMBERS  

Provide large-format exterior classroom and exit 

door numbering for security and to aid 

emergency responders. 

 

BJHS-1.11 REPAIR/REPLACE FAILING WINDOWS 

Repair windows to address observed air and 

water infiltration and failed seals.  Insulated glass 

panels can be replaced and new seals provided at 

glass perimeters.  Existing sealant can be 

removed from frame perimeters and new sealant 

installed.  This work can be done with existing 

frames can be left in place.  This is a cost-effective 

economical alternative to replacing entire 

window units.   



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

4 of 26 

 

BJHS-1.12 ACCESSIBLE STUDENT TOILET ROOMS 

None of the student toilet rooms meet current 

Maine Human Rights Act/ADAAG standards for 

accessibility.  Re-configuring all multi-user toilet 

rooms will reduce the fixture count dramatically.  

To avoid creating a shortage of toilet facilities, 

new accessible toilet rooms could be  

constructed elsewhere in the building  

BJHS-1.13 WINDOW TREATMENTS  

Provide new window shades or woven blinds at 

classrooms for light control, to reduce glare and 

improve visibility of teaching boards and video 

displays. 

BJHS-1.14 MODIFY ROOF EDGES  

Modify flat roof edges at the Gym & classroom 

wings to prevent water from running down the 

face of the exterior walls. At the Gym, this may 

lead to premature failure of exterior walls and 

translucent wall panels caused by from run-off 

that is intended to be received by interior roof 

drains.  The existing flush roof edge can be 

modified to create a small parapet that would 

prevent water from spilling over the side.  See 

also BJHS-1.15 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

5 of 26 

 

BJHS-1.15 REPOINT BRICK 

Repoint brick veneer in areas damaged by roof 

run-off. 

BJHS-2.1 REPLACE UNDERGROUND PIPING 

FROM BOILER PLANT AND REPLACE BOILER 

PLANT STACK 

The existing underground hot water piping 

between the Central Boiler Plant and school is 

past its useful life.  Existing and possible future 

leaks could result in the need to perform an 

emergency replacement which is likely to result 

in excessive costs and potential downtime. 

One of the existing boiler stacks is original and 

should be replaced to match the other stacks that 

have already been replaced.  Existing oil piping 

was abandoned in place when the system was 

converted to natural gas.  The existing oil pumps 

and piping should be removed. 
 

BJHS-2.2 REPLACE ABATED PIPE INSULATION 

Provide new pipe insulation for piping that has 

asbestos insulation abated.  See also BJHS-1.5. 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

6 of 26 

 

BJHS-2.3  SCIENCE ROOM GAS SYSTEM 

Provide new emergency gas shut-off in (1) 

science room, eliminate gas to other science 

classrooms. 

   

BJHS-2.4 EMERGENCY EYEWASH STATIONS 

Provide ADA-compliant emergency eyewashes in 

science and art rooms. 

 

BJHS-3.1/3.2 CENTRAL CLOCK and PHONE 

SYSTEMS 

The clock system is not up to date and does not 

cover all sections of the building.  Replace phone 

system.  



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

7 of 26 

 

BJHS-3.3 PUBLIC ADDRESS SYSTEM 

The existing PA is not up to date and does not 

cover all sections of the building.  Replace the 

public address system. 

BJHS-3.4 FIRE ALARM SYSTEM 

Provide new fire alarm system and emergency 

evacuation system. The existing fire alarm system 

should be updated with a newer addressable 

system. 

BJHS-3.5 CCTV SYSTEM 

Provide new CCTV Security System. 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

8 of 26 

 

BJHS-3.6 REPLACE EXIT SIGNS 

Replace illuminated exit signs throughout the 

building. 

BJHS-3.7 CEILING MOUNTED PROJECTORS 

Provide data and power outlets for ceiling 

mounted projectors in the classrooms. 

BJHS-3.8 FIBER OPTIC WIRING 

Provide fiber optic wiring to data switches 

located throughout the building. 

 

BJHS-3.9 GENERATOR 

Provide Generator for data closet - (Assumed 

100KW) 

 

BJHS-3.10 SITE LIGHTING 

Provide site lighting to enhance campus safety 

and security. 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

9 of 26 

 

BJHS-3.11 DOOR STATUS SWITCHES 

Install door status switches at all exterior door 

and monitoring system for increased security. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

10 of 26 

 

WORK IN MAIN ENTRANCE AREA: 

BJHS-4.1/4.2 REPLACE METAL CEILING & LIGHTS 

Replace metal slat ceiling system and lights at the 

main entrance. At the main entrance corridor, 

main circulation node and Gym Lobby, the linear 

metal ceiling has become damaged and delicate 

from age and modification.  Abandoned light 

fixtures have been left in place.  Addition of 

sprinkler system will further damage this ceiling 

system. 

BJHS-4.3 SECURITY VESTIBULE 

Add/reconfigure a secure entry vestibule near 

the main office to control entry access. 

BJHS-4.4 SEAL TOP OF WALL 

Stabilize or replace top of wall insulation above 

exterior aluminum storefront at main entrance 

lobby.  Loose fiberglass batt insulation observed 

above linear metal ceiling system.  



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

11 of 26 

 

BJHS-4.5 SEAL TOPS OF PARTITIONS 

The open stair at the main circulation node 

carries half of the occupant load from the second 

floor of the 1983/200 wing, and loads from 

several other corridors discharge into this space.  

The stair vertical opening appears to be enclosed 

by fire-rated construction at the second floor 

level but not at the first floor level.  In its current 

configuration, this node must be separated from 

adjacent areas of the building by 1-hour fire rated 

construction.  On the first floor, one of two 

marked exit paths passes through an adjacent 

non-sprinklered space.  Of the 13 door leaves 

that open into this space, only two are labelled as 

fire-rated.  Since this condition contains several 

life-safety and fire-separation issues, any work 

should be reviewed and approved by the State 

Fire Marshal’s office and local code enforcement 

and fire departments.   

BJHS-4.6 FIRE_RATED GLAZING 

Install a fire-rated hollow metal frame and glazing 

at borrowed lite between the Main Office and the 

adjacent corridor. 

BJHS-4.7 FALL PROTECTION 

Guard rails at the stair at the north end of the 

main corridors are too open and too low to 

comply with standards for fall protection in new 

construction.  Existing handrails also do not meet 

current standards for graspability.  Removing the 

current rail assembly back to the steel stringer 

and replacing it with a new guard and handrail 

system would increase safety and accessibility.  A 

similar condition exists at the Library stair. 

 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

12 of 26 

 

BJHS-4.8 INTERIOR GLAZING REPLACEMENT 

Install tempered safety glazing at main stair 

enclosure partition.  Existing glass is not marked 

as tempered. 

 

BJHS-4.9 RENOVATE STUDENT TOILET ROOMS 

Gypsum board ceilings in student toilet room 

would eliminate the opportunity for contraband 

to be stored in toilet rooms.  Existing suspended 

ceilings are nearing the end of their service life.  

Provide new toilet compartments, accessories, 

lighting and HVAC. Patch and repair floors. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

13 of 26 

 

WORK IN 1980s WING: 

BJHS-5.1/5.2 CARPET REPLACEMENT 

Corridors and non-science classrooms are 

carpeted.  Carpet is stained and ripped at 

multiple locations and transitions at corridor 

doors are secured with duct tape at many 

locations creating potential trip hazards.  Carpet 

will reach the end of its service life within the 

next few years. 

 

BJHS-5.3 SCIENCE ROOM GAS SYSTEM 

Reconfigure or eliminate gas system, including 

shut-off (see BJHS-2.3). 

BJHS-5.4 EMERGENCY EYE WASH AND SHOWER 

Upgrade emergency shower or convert to ADA 

eyewash units (see BJHS-2.4) 

 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

14 of 26 

 

BJHS-5.5/5.6/5.8 REPAIR CLASSROOM 

WINDOWS 

Interior and exterior perimeter gaskets between 

glass and frames have pulled away from the 

frame at numerous locations.  This allows water 

and air infiltration that can damage building 

materials and create condition for mold growth.  

Replace Insulated glazing units and seals, leaving 

frames in place.  Remove failed sealant and 

provide new sealant at window frame 

perimeters.   

BJHS-5.7 REPLACE WOOD WINDOWS 

Replace failing wood window units at Library 

and Special Ed areas with aluminum windows. 

BJHS-5.9 RENOVATE STUDENT TOILET RMS 

Gypsum board ceilings in student toilet room 

would eliminate the opportunity for contraband 

to be stored in toilet rooms.  Existing suspended 

ceilings are nearing the end of their service life.  

Provide new toilet compartments, accessories, 

lighting and HVAC. Patch and repair floors. 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

15 of 26 

 

BJHS-5.10 REMOVE ACORDIAN PARTITIONS 

FROM CLASSROOMS  

Several classrooms are separated by accordion 

partitions.  Replacing these with fixed partitions 

would increase acoustical separation between 

adjacent classrooms and provide more locations 

for installation of electrical and data receptacles.  

This would increase safety by reducing use of 

extension cords. 

 

 

BJHS-5.11/5.12 IMPROVE ACCESSIBILITY AT 

TEACHERS LOUNGE 

Casework at teacher’s lounge does not meet 

barrier-free standards.  Replace with accessible 

base cabinets and sink.  Upgrade toilet room to 

current ADA standard. 

 

BJHS-5.13 FALL PROTECTION AT LIBRARY STAIR 

Guard rails at the Library stair are too open and 

too low to comply with current standards for fall 

protection.  Removing the current rail assembly 

back to the steel stringer and replacing it with a 

new guard and handrail system would increase 

safety and accessibility.   



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

16 of 26 

 

BJHS-5.14 LIGHT LEVELS AT LIBRARY STAIR 

Light levels are below current standards.  

Replace existing light fixtures to increase safety 

for users of the stair. 

BJHS-5.15 REPLACE STAIR DOORS 

Existing doors are not labelled as fire-rated 

doors, as required by current codes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

17 of 26 

 

WORK IN 1960s WING: 

BJHS-6.1/6.2 REPLACE CLASSROOM CEILINGS 

AND LIGHT FIXTURES 

At all seven classrooms, the condition of 

suspended ceiling tiles is poor, and many have 

been replaced with non-matching tiles.  Grids 

have also been stressed by floor/partition 

settlement at several locations.  Light fixtures 

appear to be approaching the end of their service 

life. 

BJHD-6.3 SEAL TOP OF CORRIDOR PARTITIONS 

Codes require corridor partition in sprinklered 

educational occupancies to resist the passage of 

smoke.  Not all parts of existing corridor 

partitions extend to the roof deck. 

BJHS-6.4  ACCESSIBILE STAFF TOILET ROOMS 

The two staff toilet rooms do not meet current 

Maine Human Rights Act/ADAAG standards for 

accessibility.  Re-configure to provide one 

barrier-free water closet and one barrier-free 

lavatory.  Additional work to include replacement 

of existing suspended ceilings, toilet 

compartments, accessories, lighting and HVAC. 

Patch and repair floors. 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

18 of 26 

 

BJHS-6.5 FOAM GROUT UNDER CORRIDOR SLAB -  

OPTION 1A 

Core samples show a void under the corridor 

floor slab.  Grouting this space solid would 

decrease the likelihood of sudden failure of the 

corridor slab.  See also BJHS-6.6 and Becker 

Structural Engineering report. 

 

BJHS-6.6 FOAM GROUT UNDER CLASSROOM 

FLOOR SLABS - OPTION 1B 

Several classrooms that have experienced 

extreme differential floor slab settlement.   

It may be possible to raise existing classroom 

floor slabs in place by injecting foam grouting.  

Further investigation is required to confirm if 

this is a viable given the large quantity of organic 

material identified under the slabs by core 

sampling.  Slabs may continue to settle. 

 

BJHS-6.7 USE FOAM GROUT TO COMPACT AND 

STABILIZE SOIL UNDER CLASSROOM FLOORS - 

OPTION 1C 

To reduce the likelihood of further settlement 

over time, foam grout can also be used to 

compact the existing soil below floor slabs.  This 

would be in addition to the slab-raising work 

described in BJHS-6.6 

  



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

19 of 26 

 

BJHS-6.8 REPLACE EXISTING SOILS AND SLABS AT 

CLASSROOMS AND CORRIDORS 

Remove slabs, soils and organic materials down 

to stable soils and replace with compressed, 

stable fill.  Replace slabs.  Remove and replace 

existing framed partitions between classrooms 

that are constructed on the existing slab.  See 

also report from Becker Structural Engineering 

and geotechnical report from SW Cole. 

  

BJHS-6.9 LEVEL FLOOR FROM ABOVE 

Overlay existing failed classroom floor slabs with 

light-weight concrete to level surfaces.  Slabs 

may continue to settle. 

 

BJHS 6.10 REPAIR WINDOWS 

Interior and exterior perimeter gaskets between 

glass and frames has pulled away from the 

frame at several locations.  This allows water 

and air infiltration that can damage building 

materials and create condition for mold growth.  

Replace Insulated glazing units and seals, leaving 

frames in place.  Remove failed sealant and 

provide new sealant at window frame 

perimeters.   



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

20 of 26 

 

BJHS-6.11 REPLACE CARPET 

Carpet at corridors, Music Room and small rooms 

is stained and ripped at multiple locations and 

transitions at corridor doors are secured with 

duct tape at many locations creating potential 

trip hazards.  Carpet will reach the end of its 

service life within the next few years. 

 

 

BJHS-6.12 EXHAUST COPIERS IN WORK ROOM 

Current standards call for a dedicated exhaust 

system to remove airborne toxins generated by 

large copiers.  

 

WORK IN 1976 WINGS: 

BJHS-7.1 CORRIDOR/CLASSROOM SEPARATION 

Classrooms are separated from the corridor by 

operable partitions.  Replacing these with fixed 

partitions would increase acoustical separation, 

address code compliance issues and provide an 

opportunity to add power and data receptacles in 

classrooms. 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

21 of 26 

 

BJHS-7.2 INFILL EXTERIOR DOORS 

If sprinkler system is added, exterior doors from 

classrooms will no longer be required.  These 

doors are not wide enough to accommodate 

wheelchair passage and frames and transoms 

have been damaged by run-off from the roof.  

Remove doors, weld in hm sills and an 

intermediate hm rail, and infill with insulated 

metal panels. 

 

 

BJHS-7.3 REPAIR WINDOWS 

Interior and exterior perimeter gaskets between 

glass and frames has pulled away from the frame 

at several locations.  This allows water and air 

infiltration that can damage building materials 

and create condition for mold growth.  Replace 

Insulated glazing units and seals, leaving frames 

in place.  Remove failed sealant and provide new 

sealant at window frame perimeters.   

BJHS-7.4 ROOF DRAINAGE 

Water from the existing sloped roof runs over a 

metal fascia with a minimal drip edge.  This 

means that most of the run-off runs directly 

down the face of the building.  Extending the 

eave or the drip edge to direct water away from 

the wall/window surface and providing a gravel 

strip below the drop area would increase the life 

expectancy of the wall and windows at this 

location. 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

22 of 26 

 

BJHS-7.5 ENCLOSE KILN AREA 

The State Fire Marshal’s office has historically 

considered kiln areas in schools to have a 

significantly higher hazard than adjacent 

educational areas and has required them to be 

located in fire-rated enclosures, even in schools 

protected by sprinkler systems. 

BJHS-7.6/7.7 UPGRADE BAND ROOM CEILING 

Current space is very acoustically live with 

painted concrete floor, cmu and gwb wall 

surfaces and exposed metal roof deck.  An 

acoustical ceiling and new lighting would improve 

the environment and cover peeling paint. 

BJHS-7.8 REPLACE HM DOOR FRAMES 

Water infiltration and condensation have caused 

extensive rust at the bottom of hollow metal 

exterior door frames at corridor. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

23 of 26 

 

WORK IN 1959 WINGS: 

BJHS-8.1 REPAIR WINDOWS 

Repair existing aluminum windows that are no 

longer weather-tight. 

BJHS-8.2 ACCESSIBLE LOCKER ROOMS 

Provide barrier-free plumbing fixtures and 

lockers at Boys and Girls locker rooms as required 

by ADA standards. 

 

STRUCTURAL IMPROVEMENTS: 

BJHS-9.1 UPGRADE ROOF STRUCTURE 

Make structural improvements to roof areas as 

described in the attached structural engineering 

analysis and recommendations by Becker 

Structural Engineers. 

 

 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

24 of 26 

 

IMPROVEMENTS TO SITE AND ATHLETIC FIELDS: 

BJHS-10.1 

Turf playfield improvements (FS&T item A-1) 

 

BJHS-10.2 Repair pavement ponding areas (FS&T 

items A-2 & 4) 

 

BJHS-10.3 Storm drainage repair (FS&T items B-1 

&2) 

 



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

25 of 26 

 

BJHS-10.4  Additional storm drainage 

investigation (FST&T item B-3) 

 

BJHS-10.5 Pavement repair (FS&T items C-1, 2 & 

4) 

BJHS-10.6 Playground improvements (FS&T item 

D-1)  



 

Brunswick Junior High School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015   

 
 

 

26 of 26 

 

BJHS-10.7 Additional Site Lighting 

Provide site lighting to enhance campus safety 

and security. 

 

 





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
PREPARED FOR: 
Brunswick School Department 
Attention: Paul Caron  
Director of Facilities and Transportation 
46 Federal Street 
Brunswick, Maine 04011 
 
 
PREPARED BY: 
S. W. Cole Engineering, Inc. 
Paul F. Kohler, P.E. 
Sr. Vice President 
286 Portland Road 
Gray, Maine 04039 
(207) 657-2866 

June 10, 2015 
15-0349 S 

R  E  P  O  R  T 

Report of Finding 

Existing Floor Slab Distress 
Brunswick Jr. High School 
65 Columbia Ave 
Brunswick, Maine 



 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................................... 2 

1.1 Scope and Purpose ............................................................................................... 2 
1.2 Site Conditions ....................................................................................................... 3 

2.0 EXPLORATION AND TESTING ............................................................................... 3 
2.1 Explorations ........................................................................................................... 3 
2.2 Testing ................................................................................................................... 4 

3.0 SITE AND SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS ................................................................ 4 
3.1 Surficial .................................................................................................................. 4 
3.2 Soil and Groundwater ............................................................................................ 4 

4.0 GENERAL COMMENTS ........................................................................................... 5 
4.1 COMMENTS ............................................................................................................. 5 
5.0 CLOSURE ................................................................................................................. 6 

 
Attachment A Limitations 
Sheets 1 & 1A Exploration Location Plan 
Sheets 2-6  Exploration Logs 
Sheet 7  Keys to the Notes & Symbols 
Sheet 8  Subsurface Soil Cross Section 
Sheets 9 & 10 Laboratory Gradation Reports 



15-0349 

June 10, 2015 

Brunswick School Department 
Attention: Paul Caron – Director of Facilities and Transportation 
46 Federal Street 
Brunswick, Maine 04011 

Subject: Report of Findings 
Existing Floor Slab Distress 
Brunswick Jr. High School 
65 Columbia Avenue 
Brunswick, Maine 

Dear Paul: 

In accordance with our Proposal dated May 7, 2015, we have performed subsurface 

explorations for the subject project.  This report summarizes our findings and its 

contents are subject to the limitations set forth in Attachment A. 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Scope and Purpose 

The purpose of our services was to obtain subsurface information in the area of the slab 

distress in order to obtain slab, foundation and soils information.  Our scope of services 

included: 

- A review of existing drawings of the site and foundations provided by others 

- An initial site visit 

- Coordination of subsurface exploration work 

- Laboratory soils testing 

- Attending a project meeting at PDT Architects 

- Preparation of this report   



15-0349 
June 9, 2015 

 
 

3 

1.2 Site Conditions 

Based on the existing foundation drawings dated July 26, 1965 provided by Becker 

Structural Engineers, and observations during our site visit on April 30, 2015, we 

understand that the concrete slabs located in the existing westerly classroom wing have 

settled up to about 5 inches since construction in the late-1960s. The subject classroom 

wing is approximately 160 ft. by 66 ft. in plan dimensions and is connected to the 

existing school building on the easterly end. This wing is one-story, high bay with 

masonry exterior walls and masonry corridor walls. The perimeter and corridor walls are 

reportedly supported on spread footings. Foundation plans indicate the classroom and 

corridor slabs were cast at elevation 76.0 ft. (project datum).  The westerly end of this 

wing (existing music room) has a floor slab cast about 2 feet lower than the 

classroom/corridor slabs. We understand that the classroom slabs on both sides of the 

corridor have settled progressively greater from east to west, while the corridor slab and 

music room slabs do not show obvious evidence of settlement.  Additionally, the 

existing masonry walls do not show obvious evidence of settlement. 

 

Existing site features are shown on the “Exploration Location Plans” attached as Sheets 

1 and 1A. 

2.0 EXPLORATION AND TESTING 

2.1 Explorations 

Three hand borings (HB-1 through HB-3) and one hand probe (P-1) were made inside 

the building on May 5, 2015.  Additionally, two backhoe-dug test pits (TP-1 and TP-2) 

were made on the same day adjacent to the exterior foundation wall on the southerly 

side of the subject wing of the building.  The hand borings were made by S. W. Cole 

Engineering, Inc. (S.W.COLE).  The test pits were made by Ray Labbe & Sons, Inc. of 

Brunswick, Maine working under subcontract to S.W.COLE.  Locations of the 

explorations were selected by S.W.COLE based on discussions with PDT Architects 

during our site visit on April 30, 2015 and available locations to perform the 

explorations.  The approximate exploration locations are shown on the “Exploration 

Location Plans”, attached as Sheets 1 and 1A.   

 

Logs of the hand borings and hand probe explorations are attached as Sheets 2                     

through 5.  Logs of the test pit explorations are shown on sheet 6. A key to the notes 

and symbols used on the log sheets is attached as Sheet 7.  The approximate ground 



15-0349 
June 9, 2015 

 
 

4 

surface elevations shown on the logs were estimated based on topographic information 

shown on the drawings provided by PDT Architects. 

2.2 Testing 

Hand borings HB-1 through HB-3 and hand probe P-1 were made using hand operated 

equipment.  Soils were generally sampled continuously using a split spoon sampler and 

a non-standard 70 pound drop hammer. The split spoon blow counts shown on the log 

sheets were adjusted to approximate a standard 140 pound drop hammer. The test pits 

were made using a small rubber-tired backhoe.   

 

Soil samples obtained during drilling were returned to our laboratory for classification 

and testing.  The results of soil moisture content and organic content are noted on the 

logs.  Results of two soil gradation tests are attached as Sheets 9 and 10.   

3.0 SITE AND SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS 

3.1 Surficial  

The existing ground surface around the subject classroom wing is approximately 

elevation 75 feet.  Based on available drawings, it appears that there may have been a 

low drainage swale that existed beneath the westerly end of this wing in the general 

area of the hand borings. A drainage swale currently exists on the southerly side of this 

wing with an elevation of about 68 feet which drains to the south. 

3.2 Soil and Groundwater 

In general, the hand borings encountered a 4 to 5 inch thick slab overlying loose 

granular fill. Voids were encountered beneath the slabs at HB-2 and HB-3. A practical 

refusal surface was encountered at a depth of about 4.3 feet below the slab surface at 

HB-1, which may be a cobble, boulder or possibly a utility pipe. HB-2 and HB-3 

encountered about 5 to 6 feet of fill overlying what appears to be native loose sand and 

organics. The organic thickness appears to be about 2.5 to 3 feet thick at these two 

borings. What appears to be sandy soils were encountered with a rod probe beneath 

the organics. HB-2 and HB-3 were terminated at depths of about 11.3 and 8.3 feet, 

respectively below the slab surface. Hand probe P-1 encountered what appears to be 

the top of the corridor wall footing at a depth of about 7 feet below the slab surface. 

 

 

 



15-0349 
June 9, 2015 

 
 

5 

Test pits TP-1 and TP-2 encountered a mix of sand with roots and organics (foundation 

backfill) extending to approximately the bottom of footing depth. What appears to be 

loose native sand was observed at the bottom of footing depth. A rod probe was pushed 

by hand approximately 3 feet below the bottom of footing elevation through loose soil. 

At a depth of about 3 feet below the bottom of footing, the soil appears to be denser.  

 

Wet to saturated soils were encountered at depths of about 4 to 6 feet below the ground 

surface at the explorations.   

 

Refer to the attached logs for more detailed descriptions of the subsurface findings.  An 

approximate soil cross section through the westerly classroom wing is attached as 

Sheet 8.   

4.0 GENERAL COMMENTS 

4.1 COMMENTS 

Based on the findings at the explorations and information shown on the foundation 

drawings provided, it appears likely, that a low drainage swale with several feet of 

organics at or near the ground surface existed beneath this wing.  It appears that the 

foundations for this wing are spread footings that are founded on native sands.  The 

organics were likely removed from beneath the footings, but not the floor slab areas. 

Sandy fill was used to raise the grade beneath the slab areas, loading the organics 

remaining below the slabs.  Over the years, the loose fill and organics have likely 

consolidated, leaving a void beneath the corridor slab and causing settlement of the 

classroom slabs. 

 

We understand that several options are being considered to mitigate the slab settlement 

and sub-slab voids, including removal of the slabs, loose fill and organics and 

replacement with compacted structural fill and new slabs. Another option that is being 

considered is grouting beneath the slabs to stabilize the loose soils and organics as well 

as to jack up the slabs, where needed. 

 

It should be understood that this has been a preliminary investigation for informational 

purposes. We recommend additional exploration work be performed, likely including 

borings inside and outside of the classroom wing to help better define the subsurface 

conditions prior to selecting and performing any mitigation measures. 



15-0349 
June 9, 2015 

 
 

6 

5.0 CLOSURE 

It has been a pleasure to be of assistance to you with this phase of your project.  We 

look forward to working with you during the construction phase of the project.   

 

Sincerely, 
 
S. W. Cole Engineering, Inc. 
 
  
 
Paul F. Kohler, P.E. 
Sr. Vice President 
 
c: Jim Harford (PDT Architects) 
 
PFK/jlw 



 

 

 
Attachment A 

Limitations 
 
This report has been prepared for the exclusive use of Brunswick School Department 

for specific application to the exiting westerly classroom wing of the Junior High School 

located at 65 Columbia Avenue in Brunswick, Maine.  S. W. Cole Engineering, Inc. 

(S.W.COLE) has endeavored to conduct the work in accordance with generally 

accepted soil and foundation engineering practices.  No warranty, expressed or implied, 

is made. 

 

The soil profiles described in the report are intended to convey general trends in 

subsurface conditions.  The boundaries between strata are approximate and are based 

upon interpretation of exploration data and samples. 

 

Variations in subsurface conditions may occur between explorations and may not 

become evident until construction.  If variations in subsurface conditions become 

evident after submission of this report, it will be necessary to evaluate their nature and 

to review the recommendations of this report. 

 

Observations have been made during exploration work to assess site groundwater 

levels.  Fluctuations in water levels will occur due to variations in rainfall, temperature, 

and other factors. 

 

S.W.COLE’s scope of work has not included the investigation, detection, or prevention of 

any Biological Pollutants at the project site or in any existing or proposed structure at the 

site.  The term “Biological Pollutants” includes, but is not limited to, molds, fungi, spores, 

bacteria, and viruses, and the byproducts of any such biological organisms. 

 

Recommendations contained in this report are based substantially upon information 

provided by others regarding the proposed project.  In the event that any changes are 

made in the design, nature, or location of the proposed project, S.W.COLE should 

review such changes as they relate to analyses associated with this report.  

Recommendations contained in this report shall not be considered valid unless the 

changes are reviewed by S.W.COLE. 

 



HB-1

HB-2

HB-3

P-1

TP-1

TP-2

A
1B

BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DEPARTMENT

BRUNSWICK JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL
EXISTING SLAB SETTLEMENT

65 COLUMBIA AVENUE
BRUNSWICK, MAINE

OVERALL SITE PLAN

Job  No.:
Date :

15-0349
05/20/2015

Scale:
Sheet:

1" = 20'Ñ
1

LEGEND:

APPROXIMATE HAND BORING LOCATION

APPROXIMATE TEST PIT LOCATION

APPROXIMATE HAND PROBE LOCATION

NOTES:

1. OVERALL SITE PLAN WAS PREPARED FROM A SCANNED
IMAGE FILE OF A SCALE PLAN OF THE BUILDING
PROVIDED BY PDT ARCHITECTS.

2. THE EXPLORATIONS WERE LOCATED IN THE FIELD BY
TAPED MEASUREMENTS FROM EXISTING SITE FEATURES.

3. THIS PLAN SHOULD BE USED IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE
ASSOCIATED S. W. COLE ENGINEERING, INC.
GEOTECHNICAL REPORT.

4. THE PURPOSE OF THIS PLAN IS ONLY TO DEPICT THE
LOCATION OF THE EXPLORATIONS IN RELATION TO THE
EXISTING CONDITIONS AND PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION
AND IS NOT TO BE USED FOR CONSTRUCTION.

0 05/20/2015 DRAFT SUBMISSION CEM

1 05/27/2015 DRAFT REPORT SUBMISSION CEM

Feet

0 20 40

2 06/10/2015 FINAL REPORT SUBMISSION CEM

R:
\2

01
5\

15
-0

34
9\

C
A

D
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

03
49

 E
LP

s.d
w

g,
 6

/1
0/

20
15

 2
:3

2:
18

 P
M

, 1
:1

, C
EM

, S
. W

. C
ol

e 
En

gi
ne

er
in

g,
 In

c.



HB-1

HB-2

HB-3

P-1

TP-1

TP-2

A
1B

BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DEPARTMENT

BRUNSWICK JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL
EXISTING SLAB SETTLEMENT

65 COLUMBIA AVENUE
BRUNSWICK, MAINE

EXPLORATION LOCATION PLAN

Job  No.:
Date :

15-0349
05/19/2015

Scale:
Sheet:

1" = 20'Ñ
1A

Feet

0 20 40

LEGEND:

APPROXIMATE HAND BORING LOCATION

APPROXIMATE TEST PIT LOCATION

APPROXIMATE HAND PROBE LOCATION

NOTES:

1. EXPLORATION LOCATION PLAN WAS PREPARED FROM A
SCANNED IMAGE FILE OF A SCALE PLAN OF THE
BUILDING PROVIDED BY PDT ARCHITECTS.

2. THE EXPLORATIONS WERE LOCATED IN THE FIELD BY
TAPED MEASUREMENTS FROM EXISTING SITE FEATURES.

3. THIS PLAN SHOULD BE USED IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE
ASSOCIATED S. W. COLE ENGINEERING, INC.
GEOTECHNICAL REPORT.

4. THE PURPOSE OF THIS PLAN IS ONLY TO DEPICT THE
LOCATION OF THE EXPLORATIONS IN RELATION TO THE
EXISTING CONDITIONS AND PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION
AND IS NOT TO BE USED FOR CONSTRUCTION.

0 05/20/2015 DRAFT SUBMISSION CEM

1 05/21/2015 DRAFT REPORT SUBMISSION CEM

2 06/10/2015 FINAL REPORT SUBMISSION CEM

R:
\2

01
5\

15
-0

34
9\

C
A

D
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

03
49

 E
LP

s.d
w

g,
 6

/1
0/

20
15

 2
:3

2:
33

 P
M

, 1
:1

, C
EM

, S
. W

. C
ol

e 
En

gi
ne

er
in

g,
 In

c.



BORING NO.:

SHEET:

PROJECT NO.:

PROJECT: EXISTING FLOOR SLAB DISTRESS DATE START:

CLIENT : BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DEPARTMENT DATE FINISH:

LOCATION: BRUNSWICK JR. HIGH SCHOOL, COLUMBIA AVE., BRUNSWICK, ME

DRILLING FIRM: S.W. COLE ENGINEERING, INC.

SWC REP.:

CASING:

SAMPLER:

CORE BARREL:

CASING 
BLOWS

PER 
FOOT

NO. PEN. REC.
DEPTH 
@ BOT

0-6 6-12 12-18 18-24

 4" CONCRETE SLAB WITH WIRE MESH AND POLY VAPOR BARRIER

 

 BROWN SAND, SOME SILT, SOME FINE GRAVEL (FILL)

 1.6' ~ LOOSE ~ W = 7.7%

 1D 24" 20" 2.3' 3 3 2 3

  DARK BROWN SAND, SOME SILT, TRACE GRAVEL

 WITH BRICK FRAGMENTS, WOOD PIECES, AND ORGANICS (FILL)

 ~ LOOSE TO MEDIUM DENSE ~

 2D 24" 18" 4.3' 5 7 4 3 4.3'

 

 PRACTICAL REFUSAL AT 4.3' +/-

 PROBABLE COBBLE, BOULDER, OR PIPE

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  NOTE:  SAMPLING WAS PERFORMED USING A 70 LB. HAMMER

 INSTEAD OF A TYPICAL 140 LB. HAMMER.

  BLOW COUNTS SHOWN ON LOGS HAVE BEEN

 ADJUSTED TO REPRESENT APPROXIMATE 

 CORRESPONDING 140 LB. HAMMER COUNTS

 

 

SAMPLES: SOIL CLASSIFIED BY: REMARKS:

D = SPLIT SPOON     DRILLER - VISUALLY STRATIFICATION LINES REPRESENT THE

C = 3" SHELBY TUBE X     SOIL TECH. - VISUALLY APPROXIMATE BOUNDARY BETWEEN SOIL TYPES

U = 3.5" SHELBY TUBE X     LABORATORY TEST AND THE TRANSITION MAY BE GRADUAL. BORING NO.: HB-1

SOILS WET BELOW 4' +/-

SAMPLE SAMPLER BLOWS PER 6"
DEPTH STRATA & TEST DATA

OPEN HOLE WATER LEVEL INFORMATION

SS 1 3/8" 70 LBS 30" SOILS DAMP BELOW SLAB

ELEVATION: 76' +/-
DRILLER: MAS / EMW

TYPE SIZE I.D. HAMMER WT. HAMMER FALL MAS / EMW

BORING LOG
HB-1

1 OF 1

15-0349

5/15/2015

5/15/2015

2



BORING NO.:

SHEET:

PROJECT NO.:

PROJECT: EXISTING FLOOR SLAB DISTRESS DATE START:

CLIENT : BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DEPARTMENT DATE FINISH:

LOCATION: BRUNSWICK JR. HIGH SCHOOL, COLUMBIA AVE., BRUNSWICK, ME

DRILLING FIRM: S.W. COLE ENGINEERING, INC.

SWC REP.:

CASING:

SAMPLER:

CORE BARREL:

CASING 
BLOWS

PER 
FOOT

NO. PEN. REC.
DEPTH 
@ BOT

0-6 6-12 12-18 18-24

 5" CONCRETE SLAB WITH WIRE MESH AND POLY VAPOR BARRIER

 6.5" 1-1/2-INCH VOID BELOW SLAB

 W = 5.5%

 BROWN SAND, SOME GRAVEL, SOME SILT

 1D 24" 18" 2.5' 4 5 4 3 WITH  1/2" THICK GRAY CLAYEY SILT AT 2.3' +/-

  (FILL) ~ LOOSE ~

 

 4.0' 1" THICK GRAY CLAYEY SILT  AT 3.3'

 (PROBABLE FILL)

 NOTE: SAMPLER DROPPED FROM 4' TO 6.3' +/-

 UNDER WEIGHT OF HAMMER

 6.0' ~ VERY LOOSE ~

 2D 45" 18" 6.3' 2 1 1 1/27" BROWN SAND, SOME SILT

 6.8' ~VERY  LOOSE ~

 

 DARK GRAY AND BLACK ORGANICS, SOME SAND, SOME SILT

 3D 24" 18" 8.3' 1 2 2 1 8.3' ~ VERY LOOSE ~

HAND PUSHED TILE PROBE 8.3' TO 9.3'

9.3' PROBABLE ORGANICS

 

 ADVANCED TILE PROBE BY SLIDE HAMMER 9.3' TO 11.3'

 POSSIBLE SAND

 11.3'

 

 BOTTOM OF EXPLORATION AT 11.3'

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  NOTE:  SAMPLING WAS PERFORMED USING A 70 LB. HAMMER

 INSTEAD OF A TYPICAL 140 LB. HAMMER.

  BLOW COUNTS SHOWN ON LOGS HAVE BEEN

 ADJUSTED TO REPRESENT APPROXIMATE 

 CORRESPONDING 140 LB. HAMMER COUNTS

 

 

SAMPLES: SOIL CLASSIFIED BY: REMARKS:

D = SPLIT SPOON     DRILLER - VISUALLY STRATIFICATION LINES REPRESENT THE

C = 3" SHELBY TUBE X     SOIL TECH. - VISUALLY APPROXIMATE BOUNDARY BETWEEN SOIL TYPES

U = 3.5" SHELBY TUBE X     LABORATORY TEST AND THE TRANSITION MAY BE GRADUAL. BORING NO.: HB-2

SOILS SATURATED BELOW 6' +/-

SAMPLE SAMPLER BLOWS PER 6"
DEPTH STRATA & TEST DATA

OPEN HOLE WATER LEVEL INFORMATION

SS 1 3/8" 70 LBS 30" SOILS DAMP BELOW SLAB

ELEVATION: 76' +/-
DRILLER: MAS / EMW

TYPE SIZE I.D. HAMMER WT. HAMMER FALL MAS / EMW

BORING LOG
HB-2

1 OF 1

15-0349

5/15/2015

5/15/2015

3



BORING NO.:

SHEET:

PROJECT NO.:

PROJECT: EXISTING FLOOR SLAB DISTRESS DATE START:

CLIENT : BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DEPARTMENT DATE FINISH:

LOCATION: BRUNSWICK JR. HIGH SCHOOL, COLUMBIA AVE., BRUNSWICK, ME

DRILLING FIRM: S.W. COLE ENGINEERING, INC.

SWC REP.:

CASING:

SAMPLER:

CORE BARREL:

CASING 
BLOWS

PER 
FOOT

NO. PEN. REC.
DEPTH 
@ BOT

0-6 6-12 12-18 18-24

 4" COCNRETE SLAB WITH WIRE MESH

 4.25" 1/4-INCH VOID BELOW SLAB

 1.1' BROWN SAND, SOME SILT, TRACE GRAVEL (FILL)

 

 1D 24" 18" 2.3' 4 5 8 10 DARK BROWN SILTY SAND, SOME GRAVEL (FILL)

  ~ LOOSE TO MEDIUM DENSE ~

 

 

 2D 24" 16" 4.3' 9 8 6 7 4.3' 4-INCHES BLACK ASPHALT OR ASH AT BOTTOM OF SAMPLE 2D

 5.0' DARK GRAY SILTY SAND WITH ORGANIC SEAMS , TRACE BRICK ~LOOSE~ (FILL)

 W = 388% O = 79%

 BLACK ORGANICS, SOME SAND, SOME SILT

 3D 24" 20" 6.3' 2 1 1 3 6.3' ~ VERY LOOSE ~

 HAND PUSHED TILE PROBE 6.3' TO 8' +/-

 PROBABLE ORGANICS

 8.0'

 8.3' ADVANCED TILE PROBE BY SLIDE HAMMER 8' TO 8.3' +/- POSSIBLE SAND

BOTTOM OF EXPLORATION AT 8.3'

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  NOTE:  SAMPLING WAS PERFORMED USING A 70 LB. HAMMER

 INSTEAD OF A TYPICAL 140 LB. HAMMER.

  BLOW COUNTS SHOWN ON LOGS HAVE BEEN

 ADJUSTED TO REPRESENT APPROXIMATE 

 CORRESPONDING 140 LB. HAMMER COUNTS

 

 

SAMPLES: SOIL CLASSIFIED BY: REMARKS:

D = SPLIT SPOON     DRILLER - VISUALLY STRATIFICATION LINES REPRESENT THE

C = 3" SHELBY TUBE X     SOIL TECH. - VISUALLY APPROXIMATE BOUNDARY BETWEEN SOIL TYPES

U = 3.5" SHELBY TUBE X     LABORATORY TEST AND THE TRANSITION MAY BE GRADUAL. BORING NO.: HB-3

SOILS MOIST TO WET BELOW 4.5' +/-

SAMPLE SAMPLER BLOWS PER 6"
DEPTH STRATA & TEST DATA

OPEN HOLE WATER LEVEL INFORMATION

SS 1 3/8" 70 LBS 30" SOILS DAMP BELOW SLAB

ELEVATION: 76' +/-
DRILLER: MAS / EMW

TYPE SIZE I.D. HAMMER WT. HAMMER FALL MAS / EMW

BORING LOG
HB-3

1 OF 1

15-0349

5/15/2015

5/15/2015

4



BORING NO.:

SHEET:

PROJECT NO.:

PROJECT: EXISTING FLOOR SLAB DISTRESS DATE START:

CLIENT : BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DEPARTMENT DATE FINISH:

LOCATION: BRUNSWICK JR. HIGH SCHOOL, COLUMBIA AVE., BRUNSWICK, ME

DRILLING FIRM: S.W. COLE ENGINEERING, INC.

SWC REP.:

CASING:

SAMPLER:

CORE BARREL:

CASING 
BLOWS

PER 
FOOT

NO. PEN. REC.
DEPTH 
@ BOT

0-6 6-12 12-18 18-24

 4.5" CONCRETE SLAB

 6.5" 2-INCH VOID BELOW SLAB

 

 

 

  

 HAND PUSH TILE PROBE TO 7.0'

 

 

 

 

 

 

 7.0' ATTEMPT TO ADVANCE TILE PROBE BY SLIDE HAMMER AT 7.0' - REFUSAL

 

 REFUSAL @ 7.0'

 PROBABLE OBSTRUCTION OR TOP OF FOOTING

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

  NOTE: P-1 MADE WITH A TILE PROBE ADJACENT TO CORRIDOR

 WALL IN ATTEMPT TO OBTAIN DEPTH TO TOP OF 

 WALL FOOTING

 

 

SAMPLES: SOIL CLASSIFIED BY: REMARKS:

D = SPLIT SPOON     DRILLER - VISUALLY STRATIFICATION LINES REPRESENT THE

C = 3" SHELBY TUBE X     SOIL TECH. - VISUALLY APPROXIMATE BOUNDARY BETWEEN SOIL TYPES

U = 3.5" SHELBY TUBE     LABORATORY TEST AND THE TRANSITION MAY BE GRADUAL. BORING NO.: P-1

SAMPLE SAMPLER BLOWS PER 6"
DEPTH STRATA & TEST DATA

TILE PROBE WATER LEVEL INFORMATION

ELEVATION: 76' +/-
DRILLER: MAS / EMW

TYPE SIZE I.D. HAMMER WT. HAMMER FALL MAS / EMW

PROBE LOG
P-1

1 OF 1

15-0349

5/15/2015

5/15/2015

5



36
"Ñ

74
"Ñ

33
"Ñ

12
"

93
"Ñ

CLASSROOM WINDOWS

BOTTOM OF WINDOW FLASHING

BRICK WALL

TOP OF CONCRETE
AT BRICK SHELF

GROUND SURFACE

6"Ñ TOPSOIL & ORGANICS

CONCRETE
FOUNDATION

POSSIBLE STEPPED FOUNDATION

BROWN, GRAY AND VERY DARK
BROWN, FINE TO MEDIUM SAND,
SOME SILT, ROOTS, ORGANICS
(FOUNDATION BACKFILL)

S-1 FROM JUST BELOW BOTTOM OF FOOTING
FINE TO COARSE SAND, SOME SILT

~ APPEARED
MORE DENSE ~

? ?

TILE PROBE
~ LOOSE ~

12
"Ñ

SEEPAGE AT 4.5'Ñ

APPEARED SATURATED AT
3.5'Ñ

10
"Ñ

32
"Ñ

33
"Ñ

55
"Ñ

CLASSROOM WINDOWS

BOTTOM OF WINDOW FLASHING

BRICK WALL

TOP OF CONCRETE
AT BRICK SHELF

GROUND SURFACE

6"Ñ TOPSOIL & ORGANICS

CONCRETE
FOUNDATION

BROWN, GRAY AND VERY DARK
BROWN, SAND, SOME SILT,
ROOTS, ORGANICS
(FOUNDATION BACKFILL)

S-1 FROM SOIL JUST BELOW BOTTOM OF FOOTING
FINE TO COARSE SAND, SOME SILT

~ APPEARED
MORE DENSE ~

? ?

TILE PROBE
~ LOOSE ~

14
"Ñ

APPEARED SATURATED AT
3.5'Ñ

BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DEPARTMENT

BRUNSWICK JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL
EXISTING SLAB SETTLEMENT

65 COLUMBIA AVENUE
BRUNSWICK, MAINE

TEST PIT LOGS

Job  No.:
Date :

15-0349
05/20/2015

Scale:
Sheet:

Not to Scale
6

TEST PIT LOG TP-1 TEST PIT LOG TP-2

0 05/20/2015 DRAFT SUBMISSION CEM

1 05/27/2015 DRAFT REPORT SUBMISSION CEM

2 06/10/2015 FINAL REPORT SUBMISSION CEM

R:
\2

01
5\

15
-0

34
9\

C
A

D
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

03
49

 T
es

t P
its

.d
w

g,
 6

/1
0/

20
15

 2
:3

2:
35

 P
M

, 1
:1

, C
EM

, S
. W

. C
ol

e 
En

gi
ne

er
in

g,
 In

c.



  
 
 
 

 
KEY TO THE NOTES & SYMBOLS 

 Test Boring and Test Pit Explorations 
 
All stratification lines represent the approximate boundary between soil types and the transition may 
be gradual. 
 
Key to Symbols Used: 
 
w - water content, percent (dry weight basis) 
qu - unconfined compressive strength, kips/sq. ft. - based on laboratory unconfined 

compressive test 
Sv - field vane shear strength, kips/sq. ft. 
Lv - lab vane shear strength, kips/sq. ft. 
qp - unconfined compressive strength, kips/sq. ft. based on pocket 
  penetrometer test 
O - organic content, percent (dry weight basis) 
WL - liquid limit - Atterberg test 
WP - plastic limit - Atterberg test 
WOH - advance by weight of hammer 
WOM - advance by weight of man 
WOR - advance by weight of rods 
HYD - advance by force of hydraulic piston on drill 
RQD - Rock Quality Designator - an index of the quality of a rock mass.  RQD is computed 

from recovered core samples. 
T - total soil weight 
B - buoyant soil weight 
 
Description of Proportions: 
 
0 to 5% TRACE 
5 to 12% SOME 
12 to 35% "Y" 
35+% AND 
 
REFUSAL:  Test Boring Explorations - Refusal depth indicates that depth at which, in the drill 
foreman's opinion, sufficient resistance to the advance of the casing, auger, probe rod or sampler 
was encountered to render further advance impossible or impracticable by the procedures and 
equipment being used. 
 
REFUSAL:  Test Pit Explorations - Refusal depth indicates that depth at which sufficient 
resistance to the advance of the backhoe bucket was encountered to render further advance 
impossible or impracticable by the procedures and equipment being used. 
 
Although refusal may indicate the encountering of the bedrock surface, it may indicate the striking 
of large cobbles, boulders, very dense or cemented soil, or other buried natural or man-made 
objects or it may indicate the encountering of a harder zone after penetrating a considerable depth 
through a weathered or disintegrated zone of the bedrock. 

7 



POSSIBLE GROUND SURFACE
PRIOR TO  CONSTRUCTION

HB-3 HB-21/4" VOID BENEATH SLAB

BROWN SANDY FILL

DARK BROWN SANDY FILL

ORGANICS

SAND WITH SOME
ORGANICS

PROBABLE NATIVE
SAND

POSSIBLE STEPPED
FOOTING

SOUTH CLASSROOM CORRIDOR NORTH CLASSROOM

TOP OF SLAB ELEVATION
REPORTEDLY EL. 76.0'

BROWN
SANDY
FILL

1 1/2" VOID
BENEATH SLAB

SAND

ORGANICS

PROBABLE NATIVE SAND

HB-1NO VOID OBSERVED
BENEATH SLAB

BROWN SANDY FILL

DARK BROWN SANDY FILL
WITH PIECES OF BRICK, WOOD
AND ORGANICS

PRACTICAL REFUSAL
POSSIBLE COBBLE OR
UTILITY

P-1TP-1

?

??

?

??

?

?

??

?

?

?

?
??

?

?? ?

ORGANICS

APPROXIMATE EXISTING
GROUND SURFACE

APPROXIMATE EXISTING
GROUND SURFACE

? ?

??

??

BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DEPARTMENT

BRUNSWICK JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL
EXISTING SLAB SETTLEMENT

65 COLUMBIA AVENUE
BRUNSWICK, MAINE

SECTION

Job  No.:
Date :

15-0349
05/20/2015

Scale:
Sheet:

1" = 5'
8

0 05/20/2015 DRAFT SUBMISSION CEM

NOTES:

1. FOUNDATION/BUILDING INFORMATION FROM PLANS
PROVIDED BY PDT ARCHITECTS.

2. SEE EXPLORATION LOGS FOR MORE DETAILED
INFORMATION. 1 05/27/2015 DRAFT REPORT SUBMISSION CEM

2 06/10/2015 FINAL REPORT SUBMISSION CEM

R:
\2

01
5\

15
-0

34
9\

C
A

D
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

03
49

 E
LP

s.d
w

g,
 6

/1
0/

20
15

 2
:3

6:
05

 P
M

, 1
:1

, C
EM

, S
. W

. C
ol

e 
En

gi
ne

er
in

g,
 In

c.



Project Name BRUNSWICK ME - BRUNSWICK ME - BRUNSWICK JR. HIGH 
SCHOOL SLAB SETTLEMENT - GEOTECHNICAL CONSULTATION

Project Number 15-0349

Lab ID 19352G

Material Source HB-1  1D  0.3-2.3
Date Completed 5/21/2015

Tested By JUSTIN BISSON

Date Received 5/20/2015

ASTM C-117 & C-136

Client BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DEPARTMENT

Report of Gradation

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

0.00100.01000.10001.000010.0000100.0000

SIEVE SIZE - mm

A
M

O
U

N
T

 P
A

S
S

IN
G

 
 .

SAND, SOME SILT AND GRAVEL

3" 2" 1" #10 #20 #40 #100 #2001/2" 1/4"

SIEVE SIZE AMOUNT PASSING (%)STANDARD 

DESIGNATION (mm/µm)

6" 100150 mm

5" 100125 mm

4" 100100 mm

3" 10075 mm

2" 10050 mm

1-1/2" 10038.1 mm

1" 10025.0 mm

3/4" 10019.0 mm

1/2" 9812.5 mm

1/4" 956.3 mm

No. 4 5.8% Gravel944.75 mm

No. 10 902.00 mm

No. 20 80850 um

No. 40 88.2% Sand65425 um

No. 60 42250 um

No. 100 20150 um

No. 200 6% Fines6.075 um

Comments: w = 7.7% 9Sheet



Project Name BRUNSWICK ME - BRUNSWICK ME - BRUNSWICK JR. HIGH 
SCHOOL SLAB SETTLEMENT - GEOTECHNICAL CONSULTATION

Project Number 15-0349

Lab ID 19351G

Material Source HB-2  1D  0.5-2.5
Date Completed 5/21/2015

Tested By JUSTIN BISSON

Date Received 5/20/2015

ASTM C-117 & C-136

Client BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DEPARTMENT

Report of Gradation

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

0.00100.01000.10001.000010.0000100.0000

SIEVE SIZE - mm

A
M

O
U

N
T

 P
A

S
S

IN
G

 
 .

SAND, SOME GRAVEL, SOME SILT

3" 2" 1" #10 #20 #40 #100 #2001/2" 1/4"

SIEVE SIZE AMOUNT PASSING (%)STANDARD 

DESIGNATION (mm/µm)

6" 100150 mm

5" 100125 mm

4" 100100 mm

3" 10075 mm

2" 10050 mm

1-1/2" 10038.1 mm

1" 10025.0 mm

3/4" 10019.0 mm

1/2" 9412.5 mm

1/4" 926.3 mm

No. 4 9.6% Gravel904.75 mm

No. 10 842.00 mm

No. 20 69850 um

No. 40 82.9% Sand52425 um

No. 60 34250 um

No. 100 18150 um

No. 200 7.5% Fines7.575 um

Comments: w = 5.5% 10Sheet



Brunswick Junior High School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
BJHS‐1.1 Entire Building ‐ Architectural Provide full NFPA‐complaint sprinkler coverage at unprotected areas. $3.25/sf 51930 $168,800

BJHS‐1.2
Replace existing sprinkler heads at areas that are currently protected by a sprinkler 
system.

$0.25/sf 41800 $10,500
Replacement required within next 10 years.

BJHS‐1.3 Upgrade classroom door hardware to security function $350/door 77 $27,000
BJHS‐1.4 Replace wire glass at doors and borrowed lites $50/sf 1080 sf $54,000 Optional
BJHS‐1.5 Remove asbestos flooring/pipe covers/pipe fitting 1 $170,000 Abatement cost per AQM report + 1966 wing
BJHS‐1.6 Provide new flooring at abatement locations $4.00/sf 9000 $36,000 At floor tile abatement areas per AQM report.
BJHS‐1.7 Remove lead paint and repaint ($60,000 Abatement + $5000 for repairs) 1 $65,000 Optional ‐ Abatement cost per AQM report.
BJHS‐1.8 Remove PCB's and recaulk ($220,000 Abatement + $25,000 to recaulk) 1 $245,000 Abatement cost per AQM report.
BJHS‐1.9 Add ADA signage throughout  $50/sign 200 $10,000
BJHS‐1.10 Provide exterior classroom and exit door numbering for security $50/sign 60 $3,000

BJHS‐1.11
Miscellaneous repair of window seals, glazing and screens, and replace glazing in 
1980's wing, repair glazing in all other wings as required.

See line items in specific building areas.

BJHS‐1.12 Add 1 each ADA‐compliant Boys' & Girls' Toilet Rooms.  See also BJHS‐5.9. $350/sf 600 sf $210,000
BJHS‐1.13 Provide new window shades in classrooms $600/clrm 50 $30,000 Optional
BJHS‐1.14 Modify roof edges at the Gym & classroom wing flat roof areas to prevent water from 

running down the face of the exterior walls.
$25/lf 2200 lf $55,000

BJHS‐1.15 Repoint brick veneer in areas damaged by roof run‐off. $10/sf 2000 $20,000

BJHS‐2.1 Entire Building ‐ Mechanical Replace underground hot water supply and return piping to the Central Boiler Plant 1 $58,000 Siemen's quote
BJHS‐2.2 Provide new pipe insulation for piping that has asbestos insulation abated. 1 $5,000
BJHS‐2.3 Provide new emergency gas shut‐off in (1) science room, eliminate gas to other science 

classrooms
  $10,000

Verify with Owner if gas is used in all science 
classrooms

BJHS‐2.4 Provide ADA accessible emergency eyewashes in science and art rooms $4000/each 8 $32,000 Science and art rooms and kitchen

BJHS‐3.1 Entire Building ‐ Electrical Replace clock system throughout  $0.74/sf 94000 sf $70,000 Optional
BJHS‐3.2 Replace the phone system $30,000 Avaya phone system serves the School District
BJHS‐3.3 Replace the public address system $0.89 94000 sf $84,000
BJHS‐3.4 Install new fire alarm system and emergency evacuation system. $1.15 94000 sf $108,000
BJHS‐3.5 Install new CCTV Security System. $1.00/sf 94000 sf $94,000
BJHS‐3.6 Replace illuminated exit signs throughout the building. $180 each 50 $9,000

Technology Upgrades:
BJHS‐3.7 1.  Provide data and power outlets for ceiling mounted projectors in the classrooms $600/clrm 25 $15,000
BJHS‐3.8 2.  Provide fiber optic wiring to data switches located throughout the building 1 $18,400
BJHS‐3.9 3.  Provide Generator for data closet ‐ (Assumed 100KW) 1 $45,000
BJHS‐3.10 Site Lighting upgrades ‐Entire Campus Included in Coffin School sitework item CES‐8.5
BJHS‐3.11 Install door status switches at all exterior door and monitoring system $500/door 17 $8,600

1 of 4



Brunswick Junior High School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
BJHS‐4.1 Main Entrance Area Replace exterior metal slat ceiling system and lights at  the main entrance 400 sf $8,000 $15/sf + $500/ light

BJHS‐4.2
Replace metal slat ceiling system and lights at main entrance interior entry lobby & 
gym lobby

2950 sf $59,000 $15/sf + $500/ light

BJHS‐4.3 Add/reconfigure a secure entry vestibule near the main office. 1 $75,000
BJHS‐4.4 Seal top of exterior wall to roof deck at main entrance doors 1 $500

BJHS‐4.5
Upgrade perimeter partitions around main lobby to 1‐hour fire‐rating, including doors, 
fire stopping, etc.

$150/lf 200 $30,000

BJHS‐4.6
Install a 1‐hour rated HM frame and glazing at borrowed lite between the Main Office 
and corridor

1 $5,000 Allowance

BJHS‐4.7 Upgrade stair guard rails for fall protection and handrails for accessibility $100/lf 60 $6,000
BJHS‐4.8 Install tempered safety glazing at main stair enclosure $25/sf 120 sf $3,000
BJHS‐4.9 Renovate Boys' and Girls' toilet rooms 1st floor (2 rooms): $250/sf 500 $125,000

1.  New gwb ceilings in toilet rooms
2.  New toilet partitions and accessories
3.  Patch ct flooring at existing toilet partition mounting locations
4.  Paint walls
5.  Replace finned tube, provide new heat and ventilation
6.  Replace doors

BJHS‐5.1 1980s wing Replace carpet in all non‐science classrooms and staff rooms $5.50/sf 11177 sf $61,500
BJHS‐5.2 Replace carpet in corridors $5.50/sf 4750 sf $26,000
BJHS‐5.3 Reconfigure or eliminate gas system, including shut‐off (see BJHS‐2.3)
BJHS‐5.4 Upgrade emergency shower in science classroom or convert to ADA eyewash unit. Included under mechanical items

BJHS‐5.5 Windows throughout the wing are failing.  Replace all window glazing and seals.   $26,000 Price #2 CCG estimate

BJHS‐5.6 Caulk the perimeter of all windows and doors $20,000 Price #3 CCG estimate
BJHS‐5.7 Replace wood windows and louvers in the Library/Special Ed wing. $69,000 Price #1 & 4 CCG estimate
BJHS‐5.8 Occasional damage to drywall at window perimeter‐repair and paint $5,000 Allowance
BJHS‐5.9 Renovate Boys' and Girls' toilet rooms at First and Second Floors (4 rooms). $250/sf 600 $150,000

1.  New gwb ceilings in toilet rooms
2.  New toilet partitions and accessories
3.  Patch ct flooring at existing toilet partition mounting locations
4.  Paint walls
5.  Replace finned tube, provide new heat and ventilation
6.  Replace doors

BJHS‐5.10 Replace accordion partitions with fixed partitions. $10/sf 1575 sf $15,800
BJHS‐5.11 Upgrade teachers lounge casework and sink to ADA standard 1 $4,000
BJHS‐5.12 Upgrade teachers lounge toilet room to ADA standard 1 $10,000

2 of 4



Brunswick Junior High School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks

BJHS‐5.13
Upgrade guardrails and handrails at the library stair to comply with building code and 
ADA requirements

$100/lf 30 $3,000

BJHS‐5.14 Upgrade library stair lighting levels  $500/fixture 6 $3,000
BJHS‐5.15 Replace stair door with labelled fire‐doors $2000/door 2 $4,000

BJHS‐6.1 1966 Wing Replace classroom SAT ceilings $4/sf 6000 sf $24,000
BJHS‐6.2 Replace existing classroom light fixtures with LED fixtures (poor light levels) $180/fixture 80 $14,400
BJHS‐6.3 Verify smoke/fire rating at top of corridor partitions $500/door 16 $8,000
BJHS‐6.4 Upgrade faculty toilet rooms to ADA standard $7000/room 2 $14,000
BJHS‐6.5 Option 1A ‐ Foam grout the void under the corridor slab  1 $20,000 (EFT quote from SW Cole)
BJHS‐6.6 Option 1B ‐ Foam grout voids and jack slabs in classrooms 1 $130,000 The slabs will still settle over time.  

BJHS‐6.7
Option 1C ‐ Foam grout to stabilize soils, fill voids and jack classroom & corridor slabs $175,000 to reduce the risk of settlement over time.

BJHS‐6.8

Option 2‐Replace poor soils and settling slabs in classrooms & corridor = $570,000 + 
flooring

Remove and replace existing slabs and poor soils.  
Includes $40,000 for new partitions between 
classrooms

BJHS‐6.9 Option 3 ‐ Lightweight concrete fill to level the slabs in 7 classrooms $6.50/sf 5500 sf $35,000 estimate.  Slabs will continue to settle.
BJHS‐6.10 Repair windows 1 $5,000
BJHS‐6.11 Replace carpet at corridors, band room, interior classrooms and offices $5.50/sf 5300 sf $29,200
BJHS‐6.12 Add ventilation at teachers room copiers 1 $4,000

1
BJHS‐7.1 1976 Wing Replace operable partitions with smoke/fire rated partitions at corridor $20/sf + doors 1000 sf $26,000

BJHS‐7.2
If sprinkler is added, eliminate exterior doors and modify frames with insulated panel 
(low) and window (above).

$1750/door 4 $7,000

BJHS‐7.3 Repair windows 1 $5,000

BJHS‐7.4
Modify roof edge with extension/drip to keep water off brick.  Add 'drip strip" and 
drainage.

$25/lf 1000 ft $25,000

BJHS‐7.5 Enclose the kiln area with 1‐hour rated partitions and one 45‐minute door @ $1,665 448 sf $8.80/sf $5,600
BJHS‐7.6 Provide SAT ceiling at Music Classroom (peeling paint at roof deck) $4/sf 1400 sf $5,600
BJHS‐7.7 Replace lights in Music Classroom $180/fixture 16 $2,900
BJHS‐7.8 Replace the HM door frame from the corridor to the courtyard $4,500

BJHS‐8.1 1959 Wing Repair windows $5,000
BJHS‐8.2 Provide ADA fixtures in the boys' and girls' locker rooms $20,000

BJHS‐9.1 Structural Upgrades to Roof
Reinforce existing roof framing to comply with current IBC the requirements for new 
construction = $193,000

Optional ‐ See report from Becker Structural Engineers.

3 of 4



Brunswick Junior High School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
BJHS‐10.1 Site and Athletic Fields Turf playfield improvements (FS&T item A‐1) $96,800 Optional
BJHS‐10.2 Repair pavement ponding areas (FS&T items A‐2 & 4) $15,300
BJHS‐10.3 Storm drainage repair (FS&T items B‐1 &2) $64,000
BJHS‐10.4 Additional storm drainage investigation (FST&T item B‐3) $36,400
BJHS‐10.5 Pavement repair (FS&T items C‐1, 2 & 4) $163,800
BJHS‐10.6 Playground improvements (FS&T item D‐1) $57,400
BJHS‐10.7 Site lighting improvements (Included under Coffin School item CES‐8.5) $0

SUB‐TOTAL $3,189,000

10% Div 1 Conditions $318,900
10% GenCon O&P $318,900
10% Contingency $318,900

1% Bond $31,890
TOTAL $4,177,590

 3%/year Escal 1 year $4,303,000
2 years $4,432,000

4 of 4



Brunswick Junior High School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS BY CATEGORY ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
Structural Repairs

BJHS‐1.14 Modify roof edges at the Gym & classroom wing flat roof areas to prevent water from 
running down the face of the exterior walls.

$25/lf 2200 lf $55,000

BJHS‐1.15 Repoint brick veneer in areas damaged by roof run‐off. $10/sf 2000 $20,000
BJHS‐6.5 Option 1A ‐ Foam grout the void under the corridor slab  1 $20,000 (EFT quote from SW Cole)
BJHS‐6.6 Option 1B ‐ Foam grout voids and jack slabs in classrooms 1 $130,000 The slabs will still settle over time.  

BJHS‐6.7
Option 1C ‐ Foam grout to stabilize soils, fill voids and jack classroom & corridor slabs $175,000 to reduce the risk of settlement over time.

BJHS‐6.8

Option 2‐Replace poor soils and settling slabs in classrooms & corridor = $570,000 + 
flooring

Remove and replace existing slabs and poor soils.  
Includes $40,000 for new partitions between 
classrooms

BJHS‐6.9 Option 3 ‐ Lightweight concrete fill to level the slabs in 7 classrooms $6.50/sf 5500 sf $35,000 estimate.  Slabs will continue to settle.

BJHS‐7.4
Modify roof edge with extension/drip to keep water off brick.  Add 'drip strip" and 
drainage.

$25/lf 1000 ft $25,000

BJHS‐9.1
Reinforce existing roof framing to comply with current IBC the requirements for new 
construction = $193,000

Optional ‐ See report from Becker Structural Engineers.

SUBTOTAL $250,000

Security 
BJHS‐1.3 Upgrade classroom door hardware to security function $350/door 77 $27,000
BJHS‐1.10 Provide exterior classroom and exit door numbering for security $50/sign 60 $3,000
BJHS‐3.2 Replace the phone system $30,000 Avaya phone system serves the School District
BJHS‐3.3 Replace the public address system $0.89 94000 sf $84,000
BJHS‐3.5 Install new CCTV Security System. $1.00/sf 94000 sf $94,000
BJHS‐3.10 Site Lighting upgrades ‐Entire Campus Included in Coffin School sitework item CES‐8.4
BJHS‐3.11 Install door status switches at all exterior door and monitoring system $500/door 17 $8,600
BJHS‐4.3 Add/reconfigure a secure entry vestibule near the main office. 1 $75,000

BJHS‐7.2
If sprinkler is added, eliminate exterior doors and modify frames with insulated panel 
(low) and window (above).

$1750/door 4 $7,000

BJHS‐10.7 Site lighting improvements (Included under Coffin School item CES‐8.5) $0
SUBTOTAL $328,600

Safety & Building Code Requirements
BJHS‐1.1 Provide full NFPA‐complaint sprinkler coverage at unprotected areas. $3.25/sf 51930 $168,800

BJHS‐1.2
Replace existing sprinkler heads at areas that are currently protected by a sprinkler 
system.

$0.25/sf 41800 $10,500
Replacement required within next 10 years.

BJHS‐1.4 Replace wire glass at doors and borrowed lites $50/sf 1080 sf $54,000 Optional

1 of 4



Brunswick Junior High School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS BY CATEGORY ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
BJHS‐1.5 Remove asbestos flooring/pipe covers/pipe fitting 1 $170,000 Abatement cost per AQM report + 1966 wing
BJHS‐1.6 Provide new flooring at abatement locations $4.00/sf 9000 $36,000 At floor tile abatement areas per AQM report.
BJHS‐1.7 Remove lead paint and repaint ($60,000 Abatement + $5000 for repairs) 1 $65,000 Optional ‐ Abatement cost per AQM report.
BJHS‐1.8 Remove PCB's and recaulk ($220,000 Abatement + $25,000 to recaulk) 1 $245,000 Abatement cost per AQM report.
BJHS‐1.9 Add ADA signage throughout  $50/sign 200 $10,000
BJHS‐1.12 Add 1 each ADA‐compliant Boys' & Girls' Toilet Rooms.  See also BJHS‐5.9. $350/sf 600 sf $210,000
BJHS‐2.3 Provide new emergency gas shut‐off in (1) science room, eliminate gas to other science 

classrooms
  $10,000

Verify with Owner if gas is used in all science 
classrooms

BJHS‐2.4 Provide ADA accessible emergency eyewashes in science and art rooms $4000/each 8 $32,000 Science and art rooms and kitchen
BJHS‐3.4 Install new fire alarm system and emergency evacuation system. $1.15 94000 sf $108,000
BJHS‐3.6 Replace illuminated exit signs throughout the building. $180 each 50 $9,000
BJHS‐4.4 Seal top of exterior wall to roof deck at main entrance doors 1 $500
BJHS‐4.5 Upgrade perimeter partitions around main lobby to 1‐hour fire‐rating, including doors,  $150/lf 200 $30,000

BJHS‐4.6
Install a 1‐hour rated HM frame and glazing at borrowed lite between the Main Office 
and corridor

1 $5,000 Allowance

BJHS‐4.7 Upgrade stair guard rails for fall protection and handrails for accessibility $100/lf 60 $6,000
BJHS‐4.8 Install tempered safety glazing at main stair enclosure $25/sf 120 sf $3,000
BJHS‐4.9 Renovate Boys' and Girls' toilet rooms 1st floor (2 rooms): $175/sf 500 $87,500

2.  New toilet partitions and accessories
3.  Patch ct flooring at existing toilet partition mounting locations
4.  Paint walls

BJHS‐5.3 Reconfigure or eliminate gas system, including shut‐off (see BJHS‐2.3)
BJHS‐5.4 Upgrade emergency shower in science classroom or convert to ADA eyewash unit. Included under mechanical items
BJHS‐5.9 Renovate Boys' and Girls' toilet rooms at First and Second Floors (4 rooms). $175/sf 600 $105,000

2.  New toilet partitions and accessories
3.  Patch ct flooring at existing toilet partition mounting locations
4.  Paint walls

BJHS‐5.11 Upgrade teachers lounge casework and sink to ADA standard 1 $4,000
BJHS‐5.12 Upgrade teachers lounge toilet room to ADA standard 1 $10,000

BJHS‐5.13
Upgrade guardrails and handrails at the library stair to comply with building code and 
ADA requirements

$100/lf 30 $3,000

BJHS‐5.14 Upgrade library stair lighting levels  $500/fixture 6 $3,000
BJHS‐5.15 Replace stair door with labelled fire‐doors $2000/door 2 $4,000
BJHS‐6.3 Verify smoke/fire rating at top of corridor partitions $500/door 16 $8,000
BJHS‐6.4 Upgrade faculty toilet rooms to ADA standard $7000/room 2 $14,000
BJHS‐6.12 Add ventilation at teachers room copiers 1 $4,000
BJHS‐7.1 Replace operable partitions with smoke/fire rated partitions at corridor $20/sf + doors 1000 sf $26,000
BJHS‐7.5 Enclose the kiln area with 1‐hour rated partitions and one 45‐minute door @ $1,665 448 sf $8.80/sf $5,600
BJHS‐8.2 Provide ADA fixtures in the boys' and girls' locker rooms $20,000

2 of 4



Brunswick Junior High School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS BY CATEGORY ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
BJHS‐10.3 Storm drainage repair (FS&T items B‐1 &2) $64,000
BJHS‐10.4 Additional storm drainage investigation (FST&T item B‐3) $36,400
BJHS‐10.6 Playground improvements (FS&T item D‐1) $57,400

SUBTOTAL $1,624,700

Repairs/Other for Additional 10 Year Occupancy 

BJHS‐1.11
Miscellaneous repair of window seals, glazing and screens, and replace glazing in 
1980's wing, repair glazing in all other wings as required.

See line items in specific building areas.

BJHS‐1.13 Provide new window shades in classrooms $600/clrm 50 $30,000 Optional
BJHS‐2.1 Replace underground hot water supply and return piping to the Central Boiler Plant 1 $58,000 Siemen's quote
BJHS‐2.2 Provide new pipe insulation for piping that has asbestos insulation abated. 1 $5,000
BJHS‐3.1 Replace clock system throughout  $0.74/sf 94000 sf $70,000 Optional

Technology Upgrades:
BJHS‐3.7 1.  Provide data and power outlets for ceiling mounted projectors in the classrooms $600/clrm 25 $15,000
BJHS‐3.8 2.  Provide fiber optic wiring to data switches located throughout the building 1 $18,400
BJHS‐3.9 3.  Provide Generator for data closet ‐ (Assumed 100KW) 1 $45,000
BJHS‐4.1 Replace exterior metal slat ceiling system and lights at  the main entrance 400 sf $8,000 $15/sf + $500/ light

BJHS‐4.2
Replace metal slat ceiling system and lights at main entrance interior entry lobby & 
gym lobby

2950 sf $59,000 $15/sf + $500/ light

BJHS‐4.9 Renovate Boys' and Girls' toilet rooms 1st floor (2 rooms): $75/sf 500 $37,500
1.  New gwb ceilings in toilet rooms
5.  Replace finned tube, provide new heat and ventilation
6.  Replace doors

BJHS‐5.1 Replace carpet in all non‐science classrooms and staff rooms $5.50/sf 11177 sf $61,500
BJHS‐5.2 Replace carpet in corridors $5.50/sf 4750 sf $26,000

BJHS‐5.5 Windows throughout the wing are failing.  Replace all window glazing and seals.   $26,000 Price #2 CCG estimate

BJHS‐5.6 Caulk the perimeter of all windows and doors $20,000 Price #3 CCG estimate
BJHS‐5.7 Replace wood windows and louvers in the Library/Special Ed wing. $69,000 Price #1 & 4 CCG estimate
BJHS‐5.8 Occasional damage to drywall at window perimeter‐repair and paint $5,000 Allowance
BJHS‐5.9 Renovate Boys' and Girls' toilet rooms at First and Second Floors (4 rooms). $75/sf 600 $45,000

1.  New gwb ceilings in toilet rooms
5.  Replace finned tube, provide new heat and ventilation
6.  Replace doors

BJHS‐5.10 Replace accordion partitions with fixed partitions. $10/sf 1575 sf $15,800
BJHS‐6.1 Replace classroom SAT ceilings $4/sf 6000 sf $24,000
BJHS‐6.2 Replace existing classroom light fixtures with LED fixtures (poor light levels) $180/fixture 80 $14,400
BJHS‐6.10 Repair windows 1 $5,000
BJHS‐6.11 Replace carpet at corridors, band room, interior classrooms and offices $5.50/sf 5300 sf $29,200

3 of 4



Brunswick Junior High School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS BY CATEGORY ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
BJHS‐7.3 Repair windows 1 $5,000
BJHS‐7.6 Provide SAT ceiling at Music Classroom (peeling paint at roof deck) $4/sf 1400 sf $5,600
BJHS‐7.7 Replace lights in Music Classroom $180/fixture 16 $2,900
BJHS‐7.8 Replace the HM door frame from the corridor to the courtyard $4,500
BJHS‐8.1 Repair windows $5,000
BJHS‐10.1 Turf playfield improvements (FS&T item A‐1) $96,800 Optional
BJHS‐10.2 Repair pavement ponding areas (FS&T items A‐2 & 4) $15,300
BJHS‐10.5 Pavement repair (FS&T items C‐1, 2 & 4) $163,800

SUBTOTAL $985,700

4 of 4



Brunswick Junior High School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS BY CATEGORY ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
Structural Repairs

BJHS‐1.14 Modify roof edges at the Gym & classroom wing flat roof areas to prevent water from 
running down the face of the exterior walls.

$25/lf 2200 lf $55,000

BJHS‐1.15 Repoint brick veneer in areas damaged by roof run‐off. $10/sf 2000 $20,000
BJHS‐6.5 Option 1A ‐ Foam grout the void under the corridor slab  1 $20,000 (EFT quote from SW Cole)
BJHS‐6.6 Option 1B ‐ Foam grout voids and jack slabs in classrooms 1 $130,000 The slabs will still settle over time.  

BJHS‐6.7
Option 1C ‐ Foam grout to stabilize soils, fill voids and jack classroom & corridor slabs $175,000 to reduce the risk of settlement over time.

BJHS‐6.8

Option 2‐Replace poor soils and settling slabs in classrooms & corridor = $570,000 + 
flooring

Remove and replace existing slabs and poor soils.  
Includes $40,000 for new partitions between 
classrooms

BJHS‐6.9 Option 3 ‐ Lightweight concrete fill to level the slabs in 7 classrooms $6.50/sf 5500 sf $35,000 estimate.  Slabs will continue to settle.

BJHS‐7.4
Modify roof edge with extension/drip to keep water off brick.  Add 'drip strip" and 
drainage.

$25/lf 1000 ft $25,000

BJHS‐9.1
Reinforce existing roof framing to comply with current IBC the requirements for new 
construction = $193,000

Optional ‐ See report from Becker Structural Engineers.

SUBTOTAL $250,000

Security 
BJHS‐1.3 Upgrade classroom door hardware to security function $350/door 77 $27,000
BJHS‐1.10 Provide exterior classroom and exit door numbering for security $50/sign 60 $3,000
BJHS‐3.2 Replace the phone system $30,000 Avaya phone system serves the School District
BJHS‐3.3 Replace the public address system $0.89 94000 sf $84,000
BJHS‐3.5 Install new CCTV Security System. $1.00/sf 94000 sf $94,000
BJHS‐3.10 Site Lighting upgrades ‐Entire Campus Included in Coffin School sitework item CES‐8.4
BJHS‐3.11 Install door status switches at all exterior door and monitoring system $500/door 17 $8,600
BJHS‐4.3 Add/reconfigure a secure entry vestibule near the main office. 1 $75,000

BJHS‐7.2
If sprinkler is added, eliminate exterior doors and modify frames with insulated panel 
(low) and window (above).

$1750/door 4 $7,000

BJHS‐10.7 Site lighting improvements (Included under Coffin School item CES‐8.5) $0
SUBTOTAL $328,600

Safety & Building Code Requirements
BJHS‐1.1 Provide full NFPA‐complaint sprinkler coverage at unprotected areas. $3.25/sf 51930 $168,800

BJHS‐1.2
Replace existing sprinkler heads at areas that are currently protected by a sprinkler 
system.

$0.25/sf 41800 $10,500
Replacement required within next 10 years.

BJHS‐1.4 Replace wire glass at doors and borrowed lites $50/sf 1080 sf $54,000 Optional

1 of 4



Brunswick Junior High School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS BY CATEGORY ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
BJHS‐1.5 Remove asbestos flooring/pipe covers/pipe fitting 1 $170,000 Abatement cost per AQM report + 1966 wing
BJHS‐1.6 Provide new flooring at abatement locations $4.00/sf 9000 $36,000 At floor tile abatement areas per AQM report.
BJHS‐1.7 Remove lead paint and repaint ($60,000 Abatement + $5000 for repairs) 1 $65,000 Optional ‐ Abatement cost per AQM report.
BJHS‐1.8 Remove PCB's and recaulk ($220,000 Abatement + $25,000 to recaulk) 1 $245,000 Abatement cost per AQM report.
BJHS‐1.9 Add ADA signage throughout  $50/sign 200 $10,000
BJHS‐1.12 Add 1 each ADA‐compliant Boys' & Girls' Toilet Rooms.  See also BJHS‐5.9. $350/sf 600 sf $210,000
BJHS‐2.3 Provide new emergency gas shut‐off in (1) science room, eliminate gas to other science 

classrooms
  $10,000

Verify with Owner if gas is used in all science 
classrooms

BJHS‐2.4 Provide ADA accessible emergency eyewashes in science and art rooms $4000/each 8 $32,000 Science and art rooms and kitchen
BJHS‐3.4 Install new fire alarm system and emergency evacuation system. $1.15 94000 sf $108,000
BJHS‐3.6 Replace illuminated exit signs throughout the building. $180 each 50 $9,000
BJHS‐4.4 Seal top of exterior wall to roof deck at main entrance doors 1 $500
BJHS‐4.5 Upgrade perimeter partitions around main lobby to 1‐hour fire‐rating, including doors,  $150/lf 200 $30,000

BJHS‐4.6
Install a 1‐hour rated HM frame and glazing at borrowed lite between the Main Office 
and corridor

1 $5,000 Allowance

BJHS‐4.7 Upgrade stair guard rails for fall protection and handrails for accessibility $100/lf 60 $6,000
BJHS‐4.8 Install tempered safety glazing at main stair enclosure $25/sf 120 sf $3,000
BJHS‐4.9 Renovate Boys' and Girls' toilet rooms 1st floor (2 rooms): $175/sf 500 $87,500

2.  New toilet partitions and accessories
3.  Patch ct flooring at existing toilet partition mounting locations
4.  Paint walls

BJHS‐5.3 Reconfigure or eliminate gas system, including shut‐off (see BJHS‐2.3)
BJHS‐5.4 Upgrade emergency shower in science classroom or convert to ADA eyewash unit. Included under mechanical items
BJHS‐5.9 Renovate Boys' and Girls' toilet rooms at First and Second Floors (4 rooms). $175/sf 600 $105,000

2.  New toilet partitions and accessories
3.  Patch ct flooring at existing toilet partition mounting locations
4.  Paint walls

BJHS‐5.11 Upgrade teachers lounge casework and sink to ADA standard 1 $4,000
BJHS‐5.12 Upgrade teachers lounge toilet room to ADA standard 1 $10,000

BJHS‐5.13
Upgrade guardrails and handrails at the library stair to comply with building code and 
ADA requirements

$100/lf 30 $3,000

BJHS‐5.14 Upgrade library stair lighting levels  $500/fixture 6 $3,000
BJHS‐5.15 Replace stair door with labelled fire‐doors $2000/door 2 $4,000
BJHS‐6.3 Verify smoke/fire rating at top of corridor partitions $500/door 16 $8,000
BJHS‐6.4 Upgrade faculty toilet rooms to ADA standard $7000/room 2 $14,000
BJHS‐6.12 Add ventilation at teachers room copiers 1 $4,000
BJHS‐7.1 Replace operable partitions with smoke/fire rated partitions at corridor $20/sf + doors 1000 sf $26,000
BJHS‐7.5 Enclose the kiln area with 1‐hour rated partitions and one 45‐minute door @ $1,665 448 sf $8.80/sf $5,600
BJHS‐8.2 Provide ADA fixtures in the boys' and girls' locker rooms $20,000

2 of 4



Brunswick Junior High School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS BY CATEGORY ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
BJHS‐10.3 Storm drainage repair (FS&T items B‐1 &2) $64,000
BJHS‐10.4 Additional storm drainage investigation (FST&T item B‐3) $36,400
BJHS‐10.6 Playground improvements (FS&T item D‐1) $57,400

SUBTOTAL $1,624,700

Repairs/Other for Additional 10 Year Occupancy 

BJHS‐1.11
Miscellaneous repair of window seals, glazing and screens, and replace glazing in 
1980's wing, repair glazing in all other wings as required.

See line items in specific building areas.

BJHS‐1.13 Provide new window shades in classrooms $600/clrm 50 $30,000 Optional
BJHS‐2.1 Replace underground hot water supply and return piping to the Central Boiler Plant 1 $58,000 Siemen's quote
BJHS‐2.2 Provide new pipe insulation for piping that has asbestos insulation abated. 1 $5,000
BJHS‐3.1 Replace clock system throughout  $0.74/sf 94000 sf $70,000 Optional

Technology Upgrades:
BJHS‐3.7 1.  Provide data and power outlets for ceiling mounted projectors in the classrooms $600/clrm 25 $15,000
BJHS‐3.8 2.  Provide fiber optic wiring to data switches located throughout the building 1 $18,400
BJHS‐3.9 3.  Provide Generator for data closet ‐ (Assumed 100KW) 1 $45,000
BJHS‐4.1 Replace exterior metal slat ceiling system and lights at  the main entrance 400 sf $8,000 $15/sf + $500/ light

BJHS‐4.2
Replace metal slat ceiling system and lights at main entrance interior entry lobby & 
gym lobby

2950 sf $59,000 $15/sf + $500/ light

BJHS‐4.9 Renovate Boys' and Girls' toilet rooms 1st floor (2 rooms): $75/sf 500 $37,500
1.  New gwb ceilings in toilet rooms
5.  Replace finned tube, provide new heat and ventilation
6.  Replace doors

BJHS‐5.1 Replace carpet in all non‐science classrooms and staff rooms $5.50/sf 11177 sf $61,500
BJHS‐5.2 Replace carpet in corridors $5.50/sf 4750 sf $26,000

BJHS‐5.5 Windows throughout the wing are failing.  Replace all window glazing and seals.   $26,000 Price #2 CCG estimate

BJHS‐5.6 Caulk the perimeter of all windows and doors $20,000 Price #3 CCG estimate
BJHS‐5.7 Replace wood windows and louvers in the Library/Special Ed wing. $69,000 Price #1 & 4 CCG estimate
BJHS‐5.8 Occasional damage to drywall at window perimeter‐repair and paint $5,000 Allowance
BJHS‐5.9 Renovate Boys' and Girls' toilet rooms at First and Second Floors (4 rooms). $75/sf 600 $45,000

1.  New gwb ceilings in toilet rooms
5.  Replace finned tube, provide new heat and ventilation
6.  Replace doors

BJHS‐5.10 Replace accordion partitions with fixed partitions. $10/sf 1575 sf $15,800
BJHS‐6.1 Replace classroom SAT ceilings $4/sf 6000 sf $24,000
BJHS‐6.2 Replace existing classroom light fixtures with LED fixtures (poor light levels) $180/fixture 80 $14,400
BJHS‐6.10 Repair windows 1 $5,000
BJHS‐6.11 Replace carpet at corridors, band room, interior classrooms and offices $5.50/sf 5300 sf $29,200

3 of 4



Brunswick Junior High School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS BY CATEGORY ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015           

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
BJHS‐7.3 Repair windows 1 $5,000
BJHS‐7.6 Provide SAT ceiling at Music Classroom (peeling paint at roof deck) $4/sf 1400 sf $5,600
BJHS‐7.7 Replace lights in Music Classroom $180/fixture 16 $2,900
BJHS‐7.8 Replace the HM door frame from the corridor to the courtyard $4,500
BJHS‐8.1 Repair windows $5,000
BJHS‐10.1 Turf playfield improvements (FS&T item A‐1) $96,800 Optional
BJHS‐10.2 Repair pavement ponding areas (FS&T items A‐2 & 4) $15,300
BJHS‐10.5 Pavement repair (FS&T items C‐1, 2 & 4) $163,800

SUBTOTAL $985,700

4 of 4



 

Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015 

 
 

 

1 of 13 

 

Existing Building Overview: 

The Coffin Elementary School appear to be largely in its original configuration with no significant 

renovations or additions other than a small expansion of the kitchen storage area.  Recent 

improvements to the HVAC system are evident in the form of exposed ductwork adjacent to 

classroom clerestory windows.  Windows and exterior doors opening off of corridors have been 

replaced with aluminum storefront and entrance systems.   

The predominant structural system of the building is unprotected wood framing and decking, 

which bears on steel beams, wood-framed bearing walls and cmu bearing walls.  The gym roof is 

framed with long span, open web steel joists and wood deck.  

A fire suppression system is present, but it only protects corridors, thy gym, the cafeteria and 

the kitchen. 

A few improvements have been made to improve accessibility, such as the installation of a lift to 

the stage and the improvement of a bathroom that opens into the gym, but others toilet rooms 

to not appear to meet current accessibility standards.  

PDT Architects has developed the following list of proposed repairs, improvements and 

replacements of building systems with the goals of maintaining and improving safety, comfort, 

and accessibility over the next decade of building operation. Systems and materials found to be 

near or beyond their expected service lifespans have been identified for replacement.  

BUILDING-WIDE WORK: 

CES-1.1/1.2 FIRE PROTECTION 

The Coffin School is partially protected by an 

automatic sprinkler system.  Expending the 

coverage area and integrating the existing system 

to provide a complete, supervised automatic 

sprinkler system would dramatically increase the 

level of protection for occupants and property in 

the even to of a fire.  Existing heads in protected 

areas should be replaced to assure functionality.   

Total building area:                 53,000 sf +- 

Area currently protected:      22,000 sf +- 

Full sprinkler coverage also reduces the 

requirement for corridor separation from 1-hour 

fire-separation to smoke tight separation and 

eliminate the requirement for exterior doors and 

emergency escape windows from classrooms. 

 

 



 

Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015 

 
 

 

2 of 13 

 

CES-1.3 DOOR HARDWARE 

Most doors are equipped with what appear to be 

original door knob hardware, which does not 

meet current standards for graspability.  

Replacing knobs with lever handles would 

address this concern, and replacing locksets that 

allow classrooms to be locked from the inside 

would add a layer of security.  Given the degree 

of skilled modification work to replace glazing 

and hardware, it may be more cost effective to 

replace existing door slabs with new slabs.  

CES-1.4 WIRED GLASS 

A significant number of doors lites, side lites, 

transom lites and borrowed lites are glazed with 

wired glass.  Building Codes now consider wired 

glass to be a safety hazard and prohibit its 

installation in new educational occupancies.  

Existing wire glass is allowed to remain, but 

replacing it in doors, sidelights and borrowed lites 

at levels of potential student impact would 

increase safety.  Many wood doors appear to 

have been modified by the facilities staff to 

accommodate glazing, which is held in place by 

light-gage metal angles.   

 
CES-1.5/1.6/1.7/1.8 REMOVE HAZARDOUS 

BUILDING MATERIALS 

The School Department has kept current with 

hazardous material monitoring requirements.  

Surveys on file with the School Department 

indicate the presence of asbestos in transite 

boards, floor tile, tile adhesives and pipe 

insulation and fittings.  Lead paint has been 

documented in a few locations.  As long as its 

condition is monitored and documented, 

immediate abatement of asbestos and lead is not 

required, but it may be considered desirable by 

the facilities staff or by the community.  PCBs, 

identified in exterior sealants, must be removed 

immediately. 

 

 



 

Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015 

 
 

 

3 of 13 

 

CES-1.9  ROOF DRAINAGE 

Water from sloped roofs currently runs off low 

roof edge into a system of gutters and leaders 

that are hard-piped to a sub-surface drain line.  

Snow bars have been added, but the gutters 

appear to be vulnerable to damage and freeze-

up.  Construct an extended roof overhang that 

would allow run-off to drop outboard of the face 

of the exterior wall  and installing a continuous 

trench drain to carry the  run-off to existing catch 

basins.  

 
CES-1.10 ADA-COMPLIANT ROOM SIGNAGE 

ADAAG-compliant room identification signage is 

not present at most locations. 

 



 

Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015 

 
 

 

4 of 13 

 

CES-1.11 EXTERIOR ROOM & DOOR NUMBERS 

Provide large-format exterior classroom and exit 

door numbering for security and to aid 

emergency responders. 

 

CES-1.12 REPLACE WINDOW TREATMENTS 

Lighting control is limited with existing drapes.  

Provide new window shades or woven blinds at 

classrooms for light control, to reduce glare and 

improve visibility of teaching boards and video 

displays. 

 
CES-1.13 EXTERIOR WINDOWS 

Replace selected sealed, insulated glazing units 

and replace seals at glazed panel perimeters at 

approximately 15% of window units. 



 

Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015 

 
 

 

5 of 13 

 

CES-1.14 SEAL MECH ROOM WALLS TO DECK  

The local fire department has requested that 

partitions around mechanical rooms be sealed to 

the deck to prevent the passage of smoke. 

CES-1.15 SEAL TOPS OF CORRIDOR WALLS 

Extend and seal tops of corridor partitions to 

resist the passage of smoke to comply with the 

life safety standard for new school construction.  

CES-1.16 REPOINT AREAS OF BRICK 

Repoint brick veneer in areas damaged by roof 

run-off. 

 



 

Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015 

 
 

 

6 of 13 

 

CES-2.1/2.2 REPLACE UNDERGROUND PIPING 

FROM BOILER PLANT AND REPLACE BOILER 

PLANT STACK 

The existing underground hot water piping 

between the Central Boiler Plant and school is 

past its useful life.  Existing and possible future 

leaks could result in the need to perform an 

emergency replacement which is likely to result 

in excessive costs and potential downtime. 

One of the existing boiler stacks is original and 

should be replaced to match the other stacks that 

have already been replaced.  Existing oil piping 

was abandoned in place when the system was 

converted to natural gas.  The existing oil pumps 

and piping should be removed. 
 

CES 2.3 PROVIDE VENTILATION TO GYM 

No ventilation is currently provided to the Gym. 

CES-2.4 PROVIDE EXHAUST AT COPY MACHINES 

Provide dedicated exhaust for copier at teacher 

work room and other locations. 

 

 
CES-2.5 COOLING AT SERVER CLOSET 

Provide a/c at server closet and computer 

classroom to preserve longevity of equipment, 

 



 

Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015 

 
 

 

7 of 13 

 

CES-2.6 PROVIDE AUTO CONTROLS AT STUDENT 

TOILET ROOMS 

This would increase building-wide water use 

efficiency. 

CES-2.7 PROVIDE AUTO CONTROLS AT STAFF 

TOILET ROOMS and CLASSROOM SINKS 

This would increase building-wide water use 

efficiency. 

 
CES-3.1 REPLACE CENTRAL CLOCK SYSTEM 

System is antiquated and should be replaced. 

 
CES-3.2 REPLACE PHONE SYSTEM 

System is antiquated and should be replaced. 

 



 

Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015 

 
 

 

8 of 13 

 

CES-3.3 REPLACE PUBLIC ADDRESS SYSTEM 

System is antiquated and should be replaced. 

 
CES-3.4 NEW FIRE ALARM SYSTEM 

System is antiquated and should be replaced. 

 

CES-3.5 NEW CCTV SECURITY SYSTEM 

System is antiquated and should be replaced. 

 

CES-3.6 SITE LIGHTING UPGRADES 

Replace exterior, building-mounted light fixtures 

with high cut-off LED fixtures.  Add pole-mounted 

pedestrian LED fixtures to increase site safety and 

security. 

CES-3.7 PROVIDE DOOR STATUS SWITCHES 

The ability to monitor the status of exterior doors 

increases safety and security. 

 



 

Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015 

 
 

 

9 of 13 

 

CES-3.8 DATA AND POWER FOR CEILING-

MOUNTED PROJECTORS 

Provide infrastructure for ceiling-mounted 

projectors at classrooms. 

CES-3.9 FIBER OPTIC WIRING 

Upgrade building-wide data system. 

 

CES-4.1 REINFORCE KITCHEN STORAGE ROOF 

Report by Becker Structural Engineers indicates 

that the capacity of the roof framing at this area 

in not adequate for expected roof loading.  See 

attached structural engineering report. 

 
CES-4.2 REINFORCE ROOF AT ERV INSTALLATION 

Provide additional structural support for the 

mechanical unit to be installed at the Gym. 

 

CES-4.3/4.5 BRACE ROOF BEAMS AT CAFETERIA 

Becker Structural recommends providing 

additional lateral support for cafeteria roof 

framing.  See attached structural engineering 

report.  Repair finishes at areas of structural 

work. 



 

Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015 

 
 

 

10 of 13 

 

CES-4.4 REINFORCE ROOF ADJACENT TO GYM 

Wood framing at low roof areas adjacent to Gym 

do not meet current IBC loading standards.  

 
CES-5.1 NEW ADA TOILET ROOMS 

None of the multi-user student toilet rooms meet 

current Maine Human Rights Act/ADAAG 

standards for accessibility.  Existing multi-user 

toilet room are too small to accommodate new 

side-transfer water closets.  The construction of 

from 2 to 4 new, barrier-free single user toilet 

rooms dispersed throughout the school would 

provide accessibility without dramatically 

reducing fixture count. 

 
CES-5.2 ADA DRINKING FOUNTAINS AT GYM 

Multiple drinking fountains do not appear to 

meet accessibility requirement for height, 

controls or cane detection. 

 

 



 

Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015 

 
 

 

11 of 13 

 

CES-5.3 INFILL CLASSROOM EXTERIOR DOORS 

If sprinkler system is added, exterior doors from 

classrooms will no longer be required and can be 

infilled. Replace existing water-damaged exterior 

trim. 

 

 
CES-5.4 ADA TOILET RM AND CLASSROOM SINK 

AT LIFE SKILLS ROOM 

None of the multi-user student toilet rooms meet 

current Maine Human Rights Act/ADAAG 

standards for accessibility.  Existing multi-user 

toilet room are too small to accommodate new 

side-transfer water closets.  The construction of 

a new barrier-free single-user toilet room and 

classroom sink at the Life Skills classroom would 

increase accessibility without dramatically 

reducing fixture count. 

CES-6.1 KITCHEN EXHAUST HOOD 

Kitchen hood does not have integral fire 

suppression, and cannot be used for open flame 

cooking.   



 

Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015 

 
 

 

12 of 13 

 

CES-6.2 PROVIDE 3-BAY STAINLESS SINK 

Users say that Health Inspectors have requested 

a three-bay stainless sink at the kitchen. 

CES-6.3 REPLACE LIGHTS AT CAFETERIA AND 

KITCHEN AND ADD ACOUSTICAL PANELS AT 

CAFETERIA 

Wiring is not code compliant and fixtures are 

nearing the end of their service life.  Installing 

areas of suspended ceiling tile would improve 

acoustics in the cafeteria. 

CES-7.1 REMOVE OLD PORTABLES  

CES-7.2 ADD ADA RAMPS TO NEW PORTABLES 

Library and education space on second portable 

are currently accessed by stairs only. 

 
CES-7.3/7.4/7.5/7.6/7.7 INSTALL NEW 12-

CLASSROOM MODULAR COMPLEX AND 

PROVIDE REQUIRED SITE RECONFIGURATION, 

BUILDING INFRASTRUCTURE, UTILITY 

CONNECTIONS AND FIRE SUPRESSION SYSTEM 

See schematic site plans in FST report. 

 

 



 

Coffin Elementary School - Brunswick, Maine 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 

June 2015 

 
 

 

13 of 13 

 

CES-8.1 PLAY AREA DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS 

Poor drainage and heavy use have damaged 

existing play areas.  See FHS report Item A-3. 

CES-8.2 SANITARY SEWER INVESTIGATION AT 

EXISTING PORTABLES  

See FST report Item B-4. 

 

 

CES-8.3 PAVEMENT REPAIR 

Repair damaged pavement at bus drop-off, 

parking and play areas.  See FST report items 

C-3A, 3B, 3C and 5C. 

 

CES-8.4 PLAYGROUND IMPROVEMENTS 

See FST Items D2, D3, D4, D5. 

 

CES-8.5 SITE LIGHTING IMPROVEMENTS 

LED site fixtures provide highly efficient lighting 

that will improve site safety and security.  See FST 

report Item E-1. 

 

 





Coffin Elementary School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015     

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
CES‐1.1 Entire Building ‐ Architectural Provide full NFPA‐complaint sprinkler coverage at unprotected areas. $3.25/sf 31000 $100,750

CES‐1.2
Replace existing sprinkler heads at areas that are currently protected by a sprinkler 
system.

$50/200sf 22000 $5,500
Replacement required within next 10 years.

CES‐1.3 Upgrade classroom door hardware to security lock function & ADA compliance $500/door 87 $43,500

CES‐1.4 Replace wire glass at doors and borrowed lites $350/door 45 $15,750 Optional

CES‐1.5
Remove asbestos Tansite trim and asbestos flooring ($255,000).  Install new trim (2100 
l.f. x 1.33 s.f./l.f. x $5.50/s.f. = $15,500)

$270,500
From AQM report 6/2013

CES‐1.6 Install new VCT flooring at abatement locations. $3.50 33000 $115,500
CES ‐1.7 Remove existing lead paint ($75,000 Abatement + $5000 for repairs) $80,000 Optional ‐ From AQM report 6/2013

CES‐1.8 Remove existing PCB containing materials  ($185,000 Abatement + $25,000 to recaulk) $210,000
From AQM report 6/2013

CES‐1.9
Provide eave overhang at all sloped roofs to eliminate water running down the face of 
the building and existing gutter system

$50/lf 700 lf $35,000 Heavy duty gutter option = $17,500

CES‐1.10 Add ADA interior room signage throughout  $50/door 100 $5,000
CES‐1.11 Add exterior classroom and exit door number signage for security $50/sign 40 $2,000
CES 1‐12 Provide new window shades in classrooms $5/sf 7760 sf $38,800 Optional
CES‐1.13 Miscellaneous repair of window seals, glazing and screens $1000/clrm 30 $30,000
CES‐1.14 Provide fire rated top of wall enclosures at all mechanical closets $500/room 6 $3,000
CES‐1.15 Seal all corridor partitions against the passage of smoke per current codes $20/lf high walls 700 $14,000

$40/lf low walls 450 $18,000
CES‐1.16 Repoint areas of brick veneer damage by roof run‐off $10/sf 2000 sf $20,000

CES‐2.1 Entire Building ‐ Mechanical Replace underground hot water supply and return piping to the Central Boiler Plant 1 $161,000
Siemen's Quote (Includes sitework)

CES‐2.2
Replace two (2) metal chimneys & remove all existing abandoned fuel oil pumps and 
piping at the Central Boiler Plant

1 $17,500

CES‐2.3 Provide a mechanical ventilation system (ERV) for the Gymnasium 1 $75,000 Plus structural costs item CES‐4.2
CES‐2.4 Provide local mechanical exhaust ventilation at all copying machines $4000/room 4 $16,000

CES‐2.5 Provide A/C system in the main data server closet and in the Computer Lab classroom 1 $16,000

CES‐2.6 Retro fix automatic electronic faucets/flush valves at student toilet rooms $350/fixture 38 $13,300 Optional

CES‐2.7 Retro fit automatic electronic faucets/flush valves at staff toilets and classroom sinks $350/fixture 28 $9,800 Optional

CES‐3.1 Entire Building ‐ Electrical Replace clock system throughout  $0.74 53000 $39,000 Optional

CES‐3.2 Replace phone system throughout  1 $50,000
Based in the district phone system which is Avaya

CES‐3.3 Replace public address system throughout $0.89 53000 $47,000

1 of 3



Coffin Elementary School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015     

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
CES‐3.4 Install new fire alarm system and emergency evacuation system $1.15/sf 53000 $61,000
CES‐3.5 Install new CCTV Security System $1.00/sf 53000 $53,000

CES‐3.6 Site Lighting upgrades ‐Entire Campus Included in Coffin School sitework item CES‐8.5

CES‐3.7 Install door status switches and monitoring system at all exterior doors $500/door 30 $15,000
Technology Upgrades:

CES‐3.8 1.  Provide data and power outlets for ceiling mounted projectors in the classrooms $600/clrm 22 $13,200

CES‐3.9 2.  Provide fiber optic wiring to data switches located throughout the building   $10,500

CES‐4.1 Structural Reinforce existing kitchen storage room roof structure $3,500 3 $10,500
CES‐4.2 Reinforce the existing roof structure for the new ERV serving the Gym $10,500 1 $10,500
CES‐4.3 Brace beams at cafeteria roof $225 20 $4,500
CES‐4.4 Reinforce the existing roof structure immediately adjacent to the Gym $210 100 $21,000
CES‐4.5 Paint & Finishes for structural repairs $20,000

CES‐5.1 Classroom Wings Provide (1) ADA accessible toilet room in each wing for student and staff use $12,500/room 2 $25,000

CES‐5.2 Provide new ADA compliant drinking fountains in the Gym $3,500 1 $3,500

CES‐5.3 If a full sprinkler system is provided, eliminate doors to courtyards from the classrooms $1000/door 20 $20,000

CES‐5.4 Provided an ADA toilet room and classroom sink in the Life Skills Room 1 $15,000

CES‐6.1 Kitchen/Cafeteria Provide new kitchen exhaust hood  1 $40,000
CES‐6.2 Provide 3‐bay stainless steel sink 1 $7,500
CES‐6.3 Add acoustic panels and new light fixtures in the kitchen and cafeteria $7.50/sf 5450 sf $41,000

CES‐7.1 Portable Classrooms Remove all older portable classrooms on the west side of the site (by Owner) $8,000/portable 4 $32,000

CES‐7.2
Provided ADA accessible ramps to the two newer portables classrooms in the 
courtyards 

2 $7,500 ea $15,000

CES‐7.3 Install new 4‐classroom modular unit (10‐year lease) $365,500
CES‐7.4 Pad and foundation preparations for modular classrooms $16,000
CES‐7.5 Utility connections for modular classrooms $12,000
CES‐7.6 Install sprinkler system in modular classrooms $3.25/sf 4340 sf $14,100

2 of 3



Coffin Elementary School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015     

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
CES‐8.1 Site Improvements Play area drainage improvements (FS&T item A‐3) $13,500
CES‐8.2 Sanitary sewer investigation at existing portables (FS&T item B‐4) $23,900

CES‐8.3 Pavement repair at bus drop‐off, parking & play areas (FS&T items C‐3A,3B, 3C & 5C) $186,000

CES‐8.4 Playground improvements (FS&T items D2, D3, D4, D5) $184,100
CES‐8.5 Site Lighting (FS&T item E‐1) $138,400

SUB‐TOTAL $2,823,600

10% Div 1 Conditions $282,360
10% GenCon O&P $282,360
10% Contingency $282,360
1% Bond $2,824
TOTAL $3,673,504

 3%/year Escal 1 year $3,784,000
2 years $3,898,000

3 of 3



Coffin Elementary School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEDMENTS BY CATEGORY ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015     

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks

CES‐1.9 Structural 
Provide eave overhang at all sloped roofs to eliminate water running down the face of 
the building and existing gutter system

$50/lf 700 lf $35,000 Heavy duty gutter option = $17,500

CES‐1.16 Repoint areas of brick veneer damage by roof run‐off $10/sf 2000 sf $20,000
CES‐4.1 Reinforce existing kitchen storage room roof structure $3,500 3 $10,500
CES‐4.2 Reinforce the existing roof structure for the new ERV serving the Gym $10,500 1 $10,500
CES‐4.3 Brace beams at cafeteria roof $225 20 $4,500
CES‐4.4 Reinforce the existing roof structure immediately adjacent to the Gym $210 100 $21,000
CES‐4.5 Paint & Finishes for structural repairs $20,000

SUBTOTAL $121,500

CES‐1.3 Security  Upgrade classroom door hardware to security lock function & ADA compliance $500/door 87 $43,500

CES‐1.11 Add exterior classroom and exit door number signage for security $50/sign 40 $2,000

CES‐3.2 Replace phone system throughout  1 $50,000
Based in the district phone system which is Avaya

CES‐3.3 Replace public address system throughout $0.89 53000 $47,000
CES‐3.5 Install new CCTV Security System $1.00/sf 53000 $53,000

CES‐3.6 Site Lighting upgrades ‐Entire Campus Included in Coffin School sitework item CES‐8.5

CES‐3.7 Install door status switches and monitoring system at all exterior doors $500/door 30 $15,000
SUBTOTAL $210,500

Safety & Building Code
CES‐1.1 Provide full NFPA‐complaint sprinkler coverage at unprotected areas. $3.25/sf 31000 $100,750

CES‐1.2
Replace existing sprinkler heads at areas that are currently protected by a sprinkler 
system.

$50/200sf 22000 $5,500
Replacement required within next 10 years.

CES‐1.4 Replace wire glass at doors and borrowed lites $350/door 45 $15,750 Optional

CES‐1.5
Remove asbestos Tansite trim and asbestos flooring ($255,000).  Install new trim (2100 
l.f. x 1.33 s.f./l.f. x $5.50/s.f. = $15,500)

$270,500
From AQM report 6/2013

CES‐1.6 Install new VCT flooring at abatement locations. $3.50 33000 $115,500
CES ‐1.7 Remove existing lead paint ($75,000 Abatement + $5000 for repairs) $80,000 Optional ‐ From AQM report 6/2013

CES‐1.8 Remove existing PCB containing materials  ($185,000 Abatement + $25,000 to recaulk) $210,000
From AQM report 6/2013

CES‐1.10 Add ADA interior room signage throughout  $50/door 100 $5,000
CES‐1.14 Provide fire rated top of wall enclosures at all mechanical closets $500/room 6 $3,000
CES‐1.15 Seal all corridor partitions against the passage of smoke per current codes $20/lf high walls 700 $14,000

$40/lf low walls 450 $18,000

1 of 3



Coffin Elementary School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEDMENTS BY CATEGORY ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015     

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
CES‐3.4 Install new fire alarm system and emergency evacuation system $1.15/sf 53000 $61,000

CES‐5.1 Provide (1) ADA accessible toilet room in each wing for student and staff use $12,500/room 2 $25,000

CES‐5.2 Provide new ADA compliant drinking fountains in the Gym $3,500 1 $3,500

CES‐5.3 If a full sprinkler system is provided, eliminate doors to courtyards from the classrooms $1000/door 20 $20,000

CES‐5.4 Provided an ADA toilet room and classroom sink in the Life Skills Room 1 $15,000

CES‐6.1 Provide new kitchen exhaust hood  1 $40,000
CES‐6.2 Provide 3‐bay stainless steel sink 1 $7,500

CES‐7.1 Remove all older portable classrooms on the west side of the site (by Owner) $8,000/portable 4 $32,000

CES‐7.2
Provided ADA accessible ramps to the two newer portables classrooms in the 
courtyards 

2 $7,500 ea $15,000

CES‐7.3 Install new 4‐classroom modular unit (10‐year lease) $365,500
CES‐7.4 Pad and foundation preparations for modular classrooms $16,000
CES‐7.5 Utility connections for modular classrooms $12,000
CES‐7.6 Install sprinkler system in modular classrooms $3.25/sf 4340 sf $14,100
CES‐8.1 Play area drainage improvements (FS&T item A‐3) $13,500
CES‐8.4 Playground improvements (FS&T items D2, D3, D4, D5) $184,100
CES‐8.5 Site Lighting (FS&T item E‐1) $138,400

SUB‐TOTAL $1,800,600

Repair/Other Items ‐ 10 years
CES 1‐12 Provide new window shades in classrooms $5/sf 7760 sf $38,800 Optional
CES‐1.13 Miscellaneous repair of window seals, glazing and screens $1000/clrm 30 $30,000

CES‐2.1 Replace underground hot water supply and return piping to the Central Boiler Plant 1 $161,000
Siemen's Quote (Includes sitework)

CES‐2.2
Replace two (2) metal chimneys & remove all existing abandoned fuel oil pumps and 
piping at the Central Boiler Plant

1 $17,500

CES‐2.3 Provide a mechanical ventilation system (ERV) for the Gymnasium 1 $75,000 Plus structural costs item CES‐4.2
CES‐2.4 Provide local mechanical exhaust ventilation at all copying machines $4000/room 4 $16,000

CES‐2.5 Provide A/C system in the main data server closet and in the Computer Lab classroom 1 $16,000

CES‐2.6 Retro fix automatic electronic faucets/flush valves at student toilet rooms $350/fixture 38 $13,300 Optional

CES‐2.7 Retro fit automatic electronic faucets/flush valves at staff toilets and classroom sinks $350/fixture 28 $9,800 Optional

CES‐3.1 Replace clock system throughout  $0.74 53000 $39,000 Optional

2 of 3



Coffin Elementary School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
PROPOSED IMPROVEDMENTS BY CATEGORY ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015     

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks

CES‐3.8 1.  Provide data and power outlets for ceiling mounted projectors in the classrooms $600/clrm 22 $13,200

CES‐3.9 2.  Provide fiber optic wiring to data switches located throughout the building   $10,500

CES‐6.3 Add acoustic panels and new light fixtures in the kitchen and cafeteria $7.50/sf 5450 sf $41,000
CES‐8.2 Sanitary sewer investigation at existing portables (FS&T item B‐4) $23,900

CES‐8.3 Pavement repair at bus drop‐off, parking & play areas (FS&T items C‐3A,3B, 3C & 5C) $186,000

SUB‐TOTAL $691,000

3 of 3



Coffin Elementary School ‐ Brunswick, Maine                                         
12 NEW  MODULAR CLASSROOMS  ‐ ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST
REV 6/16/2015     

Item # Location Description Unit Cost Quantity Probable Cost Remarks
CES‐7.1 Portable Classrooms Install new 12‐classroom modular complex  (68' x 208' = 14,144 sf) $1,100,000 Schiavi quote + 2 year escalation
CES‐7.2 Site circulation modifications for new modular complex (Option 1A) $613,200 F,S & T estimate
CES‐7.3 Pad & foundation prepartions for modular classrooms $65,000
CES‐7.4 Utility connections for modular classrooms $50,000
CES‐7.5 Install sprinkler system in modular classrooms $3.25/sf 14,144 sf $46,000

SUB‐TOTAL $1,874,200

5% Div 1 Conditions $93,710
5% GenCon O&P $93,710
5% Contingency $93,710
1% Bond $937
TOTAL $2,156,267

1 of 1



 15 June 2015 Project Budget

 Repairs Only

Coffin Elementary School   1955 Brunswick School Department
Grades PK-2

396 Students 54,718 sf ( 138 sf/stud.)

Brunswick Junior High School  1959
Grades 6-8

600 Students 98,834 sf ( 165 sf/stud. )

Item 1: Construction

1.1 Repairs @ Coffin $3,784,000

1.2 Repairs @ Junior High $4,239,000

1.3 New 12 classroom modular $0

Subtotal $8,023,000 $8,023,000

Item 2: Admin. Costs and Reserves

2.1 Site Purchase $0

2.2 Furnishings & Moveable Equipment 6% $0

2.3 Technology 3% $0

2.4 Advertising, Insurance, Legal, Printing $10,000

2.5 Contingency (5 % of Item 1) $401,150

2.6 % for Art $0

Subtotal $411,150 $411,150

Item 3: Fees and Services

Basic Services

3.1 Architect New (Item 1 x State of ME Fee) $8,023,000 @ 7.3 % $585,679

3.2 Architect Reno( Allocatted Reno 1.2 above) $0

3.3 Reimbursables & Permits $30,000

Special Services

3.4 Environmental Permitting $20,000

3.5 Survey, Soils and Wetlands $0

3.6 Construction Testing $40,000

3.7 Special Inspections $10,000

3.8 Clerk $75,000

3.9 Commissioning $0

3.10 Owner's Representative $0

$0

Subtotal $760,679 $760,679

Total Project Cost $9,194,829



 15 June 2015 Project Budget

 12 Classroom Modular w/ Site Work

Coffin Elementary School   1955 Brunswick School Department

12 Classroom Modular      14,076 sf

Item 1: Construction

1.3 New 12 classroom modular $2,156,267

Subtotal $2,156,267 $2,156,267

Item 2: Admin. Costs and Reserves

2.1 Site Purchase $0

2.2 Furnishings & Moveable Equipment 6% $129,376

2.3 Technology 3% $0

2.4 Advertising, Insurance, Legal, Printing $10,000

2.5 Contingency (5 % of Item 1) $107,813

2.6 % for Art $0

Subtotal $247,189 $247,189

Item 3: Fees and Services

Basic Services

3.1 Ecivil Engineering $774,200 @ 7.3 % $56,517

3.3 Reimbursables & Permits $15,000

Special Services  

3.4 Environmental Permitting $20,000

3.5 Survey, Soils and Wetlands $0

3.6 Construction Testing $10,000

3.7 Special Inspections $10,000

3.8 Clerk $0

3.9 Commissioning $0

3.10 Owner's Representative $0

$0

Subtotal $111,517 $111,517

Total Project Cost $2,514,973



  

 

 
 
 
June 9, 2015 
 
Mr. Lyndon Keck 
Principal 
PDT Architects 
49 Dartmouth Street 
Portland, ME 04101 
 
RE: Upgrades to Coffin Elementary & Brunswick Junior High School 
 
Dear Lyndon, 
 
We offer this report to summarize our findings and opinions regarding the structural condition of Coffin 
Elementary School and Brunswick Junior High School, located in Brunswick, Maine. Our intent is to 
identify a schematic level design and opinion of probable costs in order to provide a roof structure for 
each school that meets all of the structural requirements of the current state building code. We have also 
provided repair recommendations and associated costs for floor slabs that have settled at one wing of 
Brunswick Junior High School. 
 
Our findings are based on observations of structural elements that were readily visible, made during a site 
visit on April 21, 2015. Additionally, a previous evaluation of the existing structure was performed by 
Becker Structural Engineers (BSE) in 2012. The findings and opinions discussed herein reference and 
provide further elaboration on the 2012 evaluation. We have enclosed these evaluation documents in our 
report, as well as key drawings SKS1- SKS8, representing the existing roof framing plans for both 
schools, as well as suggested reinforcement where applicable.  
 
Our opinion of the probable costs necessary to reinforce the existing roofs to meet current code 
standards is $36,000 for Coffin Elementary School and $193,000 for Brunswick Junior High School. A 
detailed breakdown of these costs is provided in table 1 of this report. Cost estimates to repair or replace 
the settled slabs located in the 1965 addition to Brunswick Junior High can be found on pages 3-4 of this 
report. We have summarized the repair work in both schools in an itemized list below. These items are 
grouped into two priority levels. High level priority items are those that present a risk to public safety and 
should be addressed in the near future. Low priority items are those that do not currently present an 
imminent human safety risk or are not required by code to be addressed at this time. Further description 
of each item below is provided in this report. 
 
High Priority: 

• Install new posts and foundations to support steel beam in kitchen storage room (Coffin 
Elementary, Item 1). 

• Install steel braces from columns to roof deck in cafeteria and kitchen (Coffin Elementary, Item 2). 
• Fill voids below corridor slabs in 1965 addition of Brunswick Junior High (item 8B). 

 
Low Priority: 

• Replace wood beams at low roofs surrounding gymnasium, and install LVL beams for new ERV 
support (Coffin Elementary, Items 3&4). 

• Reinforce existing steel roof joists (Brunswick Junior High School, Items 5). 
• Replace existing cementitious fiber deck with metal roof deck at 1965 classroom/music wing and 

Cafeteria (Brunswick Junior High, Item 6). 
• Sister glulam beams with LVL reinforcement it 1976 addition (Brunswick Junior High, item 7) 
• Replace settled slabs and fills (item 8), or stabilize existing soils (item 8A) in 1965 addition to 

Brunswick Junior High School. 
 



COFFIN ELEMENTARY & BRUNSWICK JR. HIGH EVALUATION 
BRUNSWICK, MAINE 
PAGE  2 of 6 
 

 

DESIGN CRITERIA AND BUILDING CODES 
 
Coffin Elementary School is a single story building of approximately 57,000 square feet that was 
constructed circa 1954. The roof framing consists of wood plank decking spanning between wood joists, 
wood beams, open web steel joists, or structural steel beams. This secondary support framing is typically 
supported by wide flange steel girders spanning between steel pipe columns and/or concrete masonry 
bearing walls. In 1995, some low roof areas subject to drifting snow were reinforced. 
 
Brunswick Junior High School was originally constructed circa 1959 and has undergone a number of 
alterations and additions throughout the years. The current building is approximately 75,000 gross square 
feet and is predominately one-story with two-stories in some areas of the structure. The original structure 
and the additions are constructed with metal roof deck on open web steel joists, supported by steel 
beams and a combination of steel columns or masonry walls. The exception to this is two areas 
constructed in 1976, which consist of glue laminated wood beam construction with a cementitious fiber 
roof deck. The 1965 wing addition also has a cementitious fiber roof deck. 
 
Our evaluation is based on the 2009 editions of the International Building Code (IBC) and the 
International Existing Building Code (IEBC). Design dead loads for the building are based on the existing 
materials observed during our site visits. Given our understanding of the existing roof insulation, the 
design snow load for the buildings is 46 pounds per square foot (psf). It should be noted that, according to 
IEBC, the roof structures of both buildings are currently “grandfathered” as built, and are not required to 
be brought up to current code. If any funding for future renovations is provided by the State of Maine, the 
state will likely require the roof structures to meet current code if the roofing is repaired or replaced. This 
would require items 3-7 in this report to be completed. These items would also be required by IEBC if the 
roofs’ insulation is increased to an R-value beyond 25. The higher R-value corresponds to a lower rate of 
snow melt on the roof surface, creating a subsequent increase to the design snow load. 
 
OPINIONS OF MODIFICATIONS AND PROBABLE COSTS 
 
We are providing you with a summary of our observations for each building, along with the associated 
reinforcements required to meet current building codes. The opinions identified in this section correspond 
to the drawings SKS1-SKS8, and also reference 2012 evaluation documents that have been attached. 
Please refer to those documents for additional information. Also, attached is Table 1 which provides our 
opinions of the probable costs associated with each repair item. 

 
Coffin Elementary Roof Framing: 
 
Item 1: As discussed in the 2012 report by BSE, it is recommended that areas of the kitchen and cafeteria 
be reinforced. One area is the shed roof storage room located east of the kitchen, shown on SKS2. Some 
of the roof framing was not accessible for review, but appears to consist of two bays of wood joists 
spanning from the original exterior wall of the kitchen to an interior bearing line of exposed steel beams 
and pipe columns. Our analysis found the exposed steel beam to be significantly inadequate for current 
prescribed snow loads. One reinforcement method could be to add lally columns and footings at mid-span 
locations of the existing beams. Decreasing the beam spans will serve to reduce stresses and support the 
design snow loads. Due to the high overstress levels found in the steel beam, we recommend the 
reinforcement be installed in the near future. 
 
Item 2: The cantilevered steel girders that support the roof structure in the kitchen and cafeteria also 
require modifications. Although these girders were reinforced in 1995 and appear to have an adequate 
snow load capacity, the bottoms of the beams and tops of the columns are not adequately braced to the 
roof structure and could roll or buckle when loaded. We recommend that diagonal braces be installed 
from the bottom flanges to the underside of the roof deck at all column locations, as shown on SKS2. To 
avoid a potential sudden failure, we recommend that the diagonal bracing be installed in the near future. 
Adequate lateral bracing of beams and columns for buckling is of critical importance to improving the 
integrity of the structure. 



COFFIN ELEMENTARY & BRUNSWICK JR. HIGH EVALUATION 
BRUNSWICK, MAINE 
PAGE  3 of 6 
 

 

 
Item 3: There are low roof areas surrounding the gymnasium which are subject to drifting snow from the 
gymnasium roof. These areas appear to be adequate for the balanced roof snow load, but the 4x8 wood 
beams at the exterior west wall are overstressed under drifting snow loads. We recommend that these 
beams be replaced with 3 ½”x9 1/2” LVL beams, as shown on SKS3. In addition, at low roof over the front 
entrance lobby, there are similar drift loading conditions. Some of the supporting beams are overstressed 
under the drifting snow, and we recommend that these beams be replaced with 5 1/4x11 7/8 LVL beams 
(refer to SKS3). 
 
Item 4: At the same low roof area around the gym described in item 3, a new mechanical unit has been 
proposed to serve the gymnasium. This unit has been estimated at this time to weigh 8000 lbs. To 
support the new unit, LVL beams will be required at its perimeter, which in turn would be connected to the 
existing structural framing. Some of the surrounding existing framing would need to be cut away and 
supported by the new LVL beams, or removed entirely and replaced with new framing. 
 
Brunswick Junior High School Roof Framing: 
 
Item 5: As discussed in the 2012 evaluation, and shown on drawings SKS5-SKS8, many of the steel roof 
joists are overstressed and require reinforcement. Due to the different roof elevations, there are many low 
roof areas that accumulate drifting snow from the upper roofs. Some of these areas were reinforced in 
1995, but this reinforcement was found to be inadequate for current snow loads. Most of the low roof 
joists, as well as some of the high roof joists, will require top and bottom chord reinforcement. Select web 
members may also require reinforcement.  
 
Item 6: Some areas of this building were constructed with a cementitous fiber roof deck, which appears to 
be 2” thick. The deck will need to be replaced with metal decking to support flat roof and drifting snow 
loads in several locations, as shown on SKS6-SKS7. Replacing the deck will also improve the stability of 
the joists, and decrease the amount of reinforcement required at the joist top chords. 
 
Item 7: Parts of the 1976 addition were constructed with wood laminated beams. The majority of these 
members are adequate for the current snow load. The exceptions to this are the beams in the drift zone 
to the north side of the gymnasium. New LVL members will need to be sistered to the existing laminated 
beams, as shown on drawing SKS7. 
 
Items 8, 8A and 8B: The floor slabs in the 1965 classroom addition to Brunswick Junior High we observed 
to have significant amounts of settlement. The classrooms have settled up to 7 inches in some locations, 
while the corridors were observed with no settlement. Testing and sampling of the soils beneath the slabs 
were performed by S.W. Cole Engineering, Inc. on May 15, 2015. These tests determined that the fill 
beneath the slabs is very loose and of poor quality, indicating that the fill is not suitable for support of a 
floor slab. The tests also found voids beneath the corridor slabs of up to 1.5 inches. The building footings, 
which are founded on native soils, have not shown any signs of settlement or distress, indicating that the 
native soils are suitable for support of the building superstructure. We have no concerns with the building 
foundations or superstructure at this time. 
 
After discussion between BSE and S.W. Cole, three options have been proposed for the settled slabs: 
 

1. Item 8: In this option, the settled slabs are removed and replaced in their entirety. Once the slabs 
are removed, the existing fill materials would be removed down to the native soils and replaced 
with suitable, compacted structural fill. This method will require selective demolition of partitions, 
casework and finishes inside the building. Due to the constraints of working within an existing 
structure, the earthwork will likely need to be done by hand, which is very costly. We estimate that 
this work will approximately total $530,000. Our opinion is that this option is time consuming and 
extremely costly. However, it serves to provide the owner with the best performing floor slab and 
should eliminate concerns of future settlement. 



COFFIN ELEMENTARY & BRUNSWICK JR. HIGH EVALUATION 
BRUNSWICK, MAINE 
PAGE  4 of 6 
 

 

2. Item 8A: The slab and existing soils will be stabilized by installing grouted, vertical piers at several 
locations throughout the building. These piers are drilled through the slab and down into the 
existing soils in an approximate 6 foot x 6 foot grid. The piers serve to compress the surrounding 
soils and improve soil capacity so as to limit further settlement. S.W. Cole has indicated that they 
will need to perform further geotechnical investigations before this option can be confirmed as 
viable, and the loose condition of the existing soils may negate the use of this option. After further 
investigation, it would be determined at that time whether or not the existing slabs can be 
returned to their previous elevations by jacking or adding floor leveling materials. We estimate the 
cost to install the piers is approximately $400,000. 

3. Item 8B: Due to the high costs associated with items 8 and 8A, we have offered this option as a 
more economical approach. This option will address the safety concerns associated with the 
voids found below the corridor slab, while the slabs in the classrooms will remain in their current 
state. The voids beneath the corridor slabs will be pressure injected with grout, providing them 
temporary support on the existing soil. The support condition is temporary because the soils 
could settle further under the weight of the grout. We recommend that settlement be monitored 
every 1 to 2 years by drilling through the slab in select locations to determine if any voids are 
present. Those voids could be grouted at that time. Our opinion is that the costs associated with 
the pressure grouting is approximately $25,000 

 
CLOSING: 
 
We trust that this information addresses your concerns at this time and will be helpful in planning for the 
future renovations of Coffin Elementary School and Brunswick Junior High School. This letter report 
should be understood in the context it is provided. It is based upon our site observations and preliminary 
analysis of existing conditions. It has been prepared to provide an overview of the building’s structural 
condition, and to identify the scope and nature of structural issues, which may impact future renovation 
conditions. As there have been some assumptions made regarding the existing framing and proposed 
scope of future work, it is important to review, whenever possible, the building for conformance with the 
assumptions made. We would be happy to discuss this further, so please contact us if you have any 
questions. 
 
Sincerely, 
BECKER STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS, Inc. 

 
Christopher G. Williams, P.E., S.E. 
Project Engineer 

 



COFFIN ELEMENTARY & BRUNSWICK JR. HIGH EVALUATION 
BRUNSWICK, MAINE 
PAGE  5 of 6 
 

 

 
 
 

TABLES & REPORT DRAWINGS 



COFFIN ELEMENTARY & BRUNSWICK JR. HIGH EVALUATION 
BRUNSWICK, MAINE 
PAGE  6 of 6 
 

 

 
Table 1 - Opinion of Probable Repair/Reinforcement Costs 

Coffin Elementary School 

Item Description Quantity Unit Cost Unit Total Cost 

1 
Install Lally Cols and Ftgs to Beam in Kitchen 
Storage 

3 $3,500.00  ea $10,500  

2 
Add Angle Braces to Columns in 
Kitchen/Cafeteria 

20 $225.00  ea $4,500  

3 Install new LVL beams at Low Roofs 100 $210.00  lf $21,000  

4 Install Framing for new ERV 1 $10,500 ls $10,500 

Roof Structure Subtotal $46,500  

  
    

  

Brunswick Junior High School 

Item Description Quantity Unit Cost Unit Total Cost 

5 
Reinforce Short-Span Roof Joists  157 $1,000.00  ea $157,000  

Reinforce Long-Span Roof Joists at Cafeteria 2 $1,500.00  ea $3,000  

6 Replace Tectum Deck w/ Metal Roof Deck 9200 $2.50  sf $23,000  

7 Sister Exist Glulams w/ LVL 200 $50.00  lf $10,000  

Roof Structure Subtotal $193,000  

Settled Slab Repairs 

8 

Remove and Replace Existing Slab 7500 $20.00  sf $150,000  

Hand-Remove and Replace Slab Fill Mat'l 1500 $250.00  cy $375,000  

Remove and Replace Exterior Wall Fill 150 $30.00  cy $4,500  

Item 8 Subtotal $529,500  

8A Grouted Piers for Soil Stabilization Alternate 1 N/A ls $400,000  

8B Slab Grouting In Corridor Alternate 2500 $10.00  sf $25,000  

  

    

  

  Roof Structure Repair Costs $239,500  

 

  

  Total Repair Costs (w/ item 8) $769,000  
 

  

  Total Repair Costs (w/ item 8A) $639,500  
 

  

  Total Repair Costs (w/ item 8B) $264,500      

Notes: This table includes the costs associated with structural items only. Other items including, but 
not limited to, demolition and replacement of non structural materials, protection of existing elements 
during construction, removal of hazardous materials, and relocation of the existing mechanical and 
electrical component systems. 

 



























 
 

 
ITEM 84 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



 
Intentionally left blank 







 
 

 
ITEM 85 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 

























 
 

 
ITEM 86 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



STATE OF MAINE 

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, CONSERVATION & FORESTRY 

PAUL R. L EPAGE 

GOVERNOR 

22 ST ATE HOUSE ST A TION 

A UGUST A, MAINE 04333-0022 W ALTER E. WHITCOMB 

COMM ISSIONER 

June 30, 2015 
OFFICE OF TOWN MANAGER 

JUL 2 0 2015 
John Eldridge, Town Manager 
Steve Walker, Town Councilor 
Town of Brunswick 
85 Union Street 
Brunswick, ME 04011 

RE: Maine~euastal Communities Grant Application 
Mare Brook Watershed and Community Engagement Project 

Dear John and Steve: 

Thank you for submitting a proposal requesting financial assistance to enhance your coastal community. 
The Municipal Planning Assistance Program accepted 19 proposals with a request amount totaling 
$490,566. A review committee evaluated proposals using the weighted criteria outlined in the Program 
Statement. We have now concluded evaluation of the proposals. 

I am pleased to inform you that the referenced proposal scored high enough to receive a Coastal 
Community Grant in the amount of $4 7, 925. 

Ruta Dzenis, of my staff will be contacting you shortly about the grant agreement. 

Congratulations on development of a successful project. We welcome the opportunity to support 
Brunswick and its many partners to identify strategic actions to help restore water quality and enhance this 
recreational gateway. Should you have any questions, please contact Ruta at 287-2851 or 
ruta .dzenis@maine.gov. 

Elizabeth ertz, irector 
Municipal P a mg Assistance Program 

PHONE:207-287-8061 
18 ELKINS LANE, HARLOW B UILDING 

www.maine.gov/acf FAX:207-287-7439 



Mare Brook Watershed Assessment and Community Engagement Project  

A Proposal to the Maine Coastal Program Coastal Communities Grant Program 

Town & Region Covered: Brunswick, Maine – Northern Casco Bay 

Maine Coastal Program Goals Addressed: 

 Ensuring Sustainable, Vibrant Coastal Communities 

 Addressing the effects of land use activity on water quality 

 Restoring Coastal Habitats 

Grant request amount: $47,925.00 

Match proposed and source of match: $12,203.52 in-kind 

Project Manager: 

Steve Walker 
Brunswick District 2 Town Councilor 
Maine Coast Heritage Trust 
1 Bowdoin Mill Island, Suite 201 
Topsham, ME 04086 
swalker@mcht.org 

Project partners: Town of Brunswick; Maine Coast Heritage Trust; Brunswick-Topsham Land 
Trust; Friends of Casco Bay; Casco Bay Estuary Partnership, Bowdoin College; and Midcoast 
Regional Redevelopment Authority 

Project estimated start and end dates:  July 2015 – December 2016 

Project Summary Statement: 

The purpose of this project is to complete an assessment of the physical and ecological 
characteristics of Mare Brook in order to engage the public in a collaborative watershed planning 
process that will directly benefit the health of Harpswell Cove tidal waters, freshwater stream 
habitats, and enhance the recreational greenway, a central feature of the Mare Brook watershed, 
that extends from the Kate Furbish Preserve on the coast to in-town Brunswick. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:swalker@mcht.org


Executive Summary 

Mare Brook drains approximately 6-square miles of Brunswick, northern Casco Bay’s most 
populous municipality, and empties into Harpswell Cove which is one of the most important 
shellfish growing areas in the region.  Mare Brook has been designated as an urban impaired 
stream largely due to non-point source runoff from impervious surfaces which has resulted in the 
stream not meeting water quality standards for aquatic life use.  Recent work by Friends of 
Casco Bay has demonstrated that increased levels of nitrogen in near shore waters resulting from 
non-point source runoff has increased localized effects of ocean acidification impacting juvenile 
clam populations.  Harpswell Cove produces 2,500 bushels of softshell clams annually and is 
currently under consideration for the siting a municipal intertidal aquaculture operation.  A 
comprehensive assessment of Mare Brook has never been completed, and as a result, the town 
has little direction regarding how best, and where to address water quality issues.  

By completing an updated baseline assessment of the physical and ecological characteristics of 
Mare Brook, the project team will have the necessary data to engage the public in a facilitated 
and locally guided watershed planning process.  We anticipate rich discussion and public input 
given that Mare Brook and its tributaries flow through most of the town’s designated growth area 
including hundreds of residential backyards.   Mare Brook forms the backdrop of the popular 
College to the Commons public trail network and is the central feature of the newly established 
Kate Furbish Preserve located on lands formerly owned by the Department of Defense.  While 
users of both public parks value the scenic nature of the stream network, they are likely unaware 
of the challenges facing the stream, and how individual land care practices may impact water 
quality.  With public input in hand, the project technical advisory committee will guide the 
development of a report that identifies existing issues and stressors, potential actions for 
addressing these issues, and provides a document that will serve as an accessible resource for 
private landowners who want to voluntarily improve their land management practices for the 
health of the watershed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Project Summary 

The restoration and enhancement of coastal watershed functions is an effective approach to 
maintaining both marine and terrestrial resiliency in the face of climate change.  Planning at the 
watershed scale, especially along smaller coastal streams, offers municipalities the chance to 
proactively address non-point run-off associated issues projected to be exacerbated by 
increasingly regular significant precipitation events.  Maintaining naturally occurring watershed 
functions including floodflow regulation, riparian buffer filtration and erosion control capacities, 
and nutrient uptake capabilities provides real value for communities.  Attention to non-point 
source pollution is especially important for communities such as Brunswick which continue to 
support a strong shellfish industry.  Numerous studies have shown that the most effective way 
towns can address ocean acidification concerns in nearshore waters is to effectively address 
stormwater runoff which has been shown to worsen acidification with increased land based 
nitrogen inputs.   Mare Brook offers an ideal opportunity to realize effective results given the 
history of Brunswick to support natural resource efforts, and the close relationship many citizens 
already have with portions of the Mare Brook watershed.   

Mare Brook is and urban impaired stream as designated under Chapter 502 of the Maine 
Stormwater Management Rules that cuts through the heart of Brunswick’s residential districts, 
Brunswick Landing (former Naval Air Station), and significant public conservation land acreage 
including the Town Commons and Kate Furbish Preserve.  In 2001-2003 data collected by the 
Maine Department of Environmental Protection indicated that Mare Brook does not meet water 
quality standards for aquatic life use.  The watershed’s 21% impervious cover is the primary 
cause of this non-attainment.  Much of this impervious surface is in the residential headwaters 
(largely the Brunswick growth zone) and Brunswick Landing (former Naval Air Station).   
Historically, the brook supported native brook trout populations given its cool groundwater 
discharge sites and clean sandy substrate.  During the development of the town, headwater 
wetlands were drained and developed for residential neighborhoods, and riparian buffers 
compromised.  In 2003, the town passed an aggressive Natural Resource Protection Zone 
ordinance to better protect first order streams and associated wetlands.  Prior to that, the town 
had adopted a Coastal Protection Zone ordinance aimed specifically at reducing septic loading 
and impervious surface coverage.  While anecdotal information suggests that sea-run brook trout 
continue to populate tidal portions of the drainage, fish have disappeared from upper portions of 
the watershed.   

The brook is significant from an economic standpoint given that the entire 6 square mile 
watershed empties to one of Brunswick’s most important shellfish growing areas.  Like most 
nearshore shellfish flats, the flats of Harpswell Cove are currently experiencing the effects of 
increased ocean acidity which erodes and dissolves the shells of juvenile clams.  Recent work by 
Friends of Casco Bay has indicated that nitrogen associated with non-point runoff exacerbates 
this problem.  While there is little that a municipality can do to effectively combat the global 
ocean acidification trend, Brunswick can improve storm water management in the Mare Brook 
drainage to hopefully lessen the rate of acidification in Harpswell Cove.  



We anticipate that this watershed planning effort will generate broad public interest given the 
visibility of the brook and its location with tributaries flowing through most residential 
neighborhoods in western Brunswick, and it’s being immediately accessible along the popular 
College to the Commons Trail network, Town Commons public preserve, and the recently 
acquired Kate Furbish preserve.  The resulting plan will not only identify strategic actions that 
the project partners can voluntarily pursue to help restore water quality, but also identify tangible 
actions that individual homeowners can implement in their own back yards to contribute to the 
recovery of the brook. 

Project Purpose: 

The purpose of this project is threefold: 

1) To develop, facilitate and engage an action-oriented stakeholder group and technical 
advisory committee to advise and oversee the watershed assessment and report of 
findings; 

2) To conduct detailed watershed assessments providing a comprehensive baseline that 
identifies issues and can be used to measure progress toward restoration; and  

3) To produce a detailed and user-friendly watershed baseline report that will summarize 
watershed challenges and outline a potential course of actions to bring the stream into 
aquatic life use attainment levels. 
 

In accomplishing these three primary goals, the project will result in a technically sound 
watershed assessment to serve as a baseline for future action while also building strong local 
support in Brunswick to address non-point runoff issues at multiple scales. 

Project Duration: 17 months 

Project start date: July, 2015 

Project completion date: December, 2016 

Proposed Project Approach: 

In addition to administering and managing the project (Task 1) and convening and helping to 
facilitate the two stakeholder meetings (Task 2), the Town of Brunswick will work with state and 
federal agencies, non-governmental organization partners, and project consultants to assess the 
status of stream health relative to applicable water quality standards.  
 

The Mare Brook Watershed Assessment and Community Engagement Project will rely heavily 
on the input of a technical advisory committee (TAC) that will include individuals who can help 
with elements of the field survey effort, and oversee final project reporting and community 
outreach efforts. The TAC (Task 3) will help refine methodologies for field assessment tasks and 
will oversee the development of the Sampling and Analysis Plan (SAP). The stream corridor 
assessment (Task 4) will include a professional geomorphic assessment, fisheries assessment, 
and in-stream/riparian habitat survey for the entire stream network. These methods will provide a 
detailed survey of critical urbanized areas of this 5.2 square mile watershed.  All survey data 



gathered will provide a strong baseline for agency staff and community members to consider 
while making future management decisions for the stream.   

Information gathered as part of Tasks 2-4 will allow for the development of detailed Mare Brook 
Baseline and Best Management Practices Report (Task 5). This plan will serve as the basis for 
future management and restoration decisions.   

 

Tasks, Schedules, and Estimated Costs: 

Task 1: Project Management 

The Town of Brunswick will administer the project and will oversee the timely submittal of 
deliverables and reports to the Maine Coastal Program.  The Town of Brunswick will track the 
project budget and participate in regular calls with the Maine Coastal Program project 
administrator/manager. 

Start Date: July, 2015 End Date: December, 2016 

Cost: In-Kind Match = $3,500 

 

Task 2: Stakeholder Meetings /Landowner Participation 

The Town of Brunswick (with contractor assistance) will convene and facilitate two stakeholder 
meetings to gain input and support for the project elements. Presentations will be delivered at 
each of these meetings by project staff to illustrate the water quality issues and potential 
solutions to address these issues.  These meetings will be facilitated in a manner so that public 
input can help to guide the particular elements of the assessment, and provide feedback regarding 
the Mare Brook Baseline and Best Management Practices Report. Particular focus will be 
provided at the meetings to illustrate the various stressors to the stream that cause water quality 
impairment. A preliminary meeting and final meeting are planned.  These meetings will be 
publicly advertised and broadcast on local access cable television channels.  Meeting materials 
will also be posted on the Town of Brunswick web-site.  Additionally, up to six separate on-site 
landowner meetings are planned to assist key stakeholders with the goals of the project and how 
they relate to Brunswick’s planning and regulatory efforts.   

Start Date: July, 2015 End Date: December, 2016 

Cost: Grant: $7,000 + $3,000 In-kind Match = $10,000 Total Estimate 

 

Task 3: Develop and Facilitate Technical Advisory Team (TAC) and Sampling and Analysis Plan 
(SAP) 

The Town of Brunswick (with contractor assistance) will develop a Technical Advisory 
Committee (TAC) to oversee the technical elements of the project, and report of findings. The 



responsibilities of the technical advisory committee will include: approving a Sampling and 
Analysis Plan (SAP) developed by the contractor; conducting a stressor analysis process; 
refining the field methods planned for the stream corridor assessment and stormwater retrofit 
reconnaissance surveys; and assisting with the development of the Mare Brook Baseline and 
Best Management Practices Report.  TAC members are expected to include Town of Brunswick 
staff and committee members, project consultants, Maine DEP, Friends of Casco Bay, Casco 
Bay Estuary Partnership, and interested landowners and citizens with technical expertise.  The 
TAC will meet no more than three times over the course of the project.   

Start Date: July, 2015 End Date: December, 2016 

Cost: Grant: $7,000 + $4,000 In-Kind Match = $11,000 Total Estimate 

 

Task 4: Mare Brook Corridor Assessment  

The Town of Brunswick (with contractor assistance) will conduct field survey activities to 
provide valuable baseline information regarding the basic physical and ecological characteristics 
of the Mare Brook.  Additional chemical and biological data will be collected during the summer 
months including flow, nutrients, metals, temperature, and dissolved oxygen. The survey of the 
stream will include a professional geomorphic assessment, a fisheries survey and an in-
stream/riparian habitat survey.   

Start Date: July, 2015  End Date: October, 2016 

Cost: Grant: $24,000 + $5,000 In-Kind Match = $29,000 Total Estimate 

 

Task 5: Develop Mare Brook Baseline and Best Management Practices Report  

The Town of Brunswick (with assistance of a contractor with considerable watershed based plan 
development experience) will develop a report summarizing findings of the Mare Brook Corridor 
Assessment by sub-reach.  This report will include documentation of all field activities as well as 
specific recommendations for addressing issues that were identified during the field survey 
efforts. The contents of this report will include background data, watershed description, 
suggestions for an implementation plan, cost estimates, and funding options.  The report will also 
include an estimate of current pollutant loads and the necessary reduction to pollutant loading for 
the stream to meet water quality standards.  Aside from serving as a technical baseline document 
of stream health, this report will also identify, and present in an accessible fashion, best 
management practices that landowners can employ at multiple scales.  These BMP’s will be 
promoted by the Brunswick Conservation Commission and other project partners.  

Start Date: August, 2016 End Date: December, 2016 

Cost: Grant: $12,000+ $4,000 In-kind Match = $16,000 Total Estimate 

 



Deliverables: 

1. Sub-agreements; Progress Reports, Final Project Report (Task 1) 
2. Report of Attendance at Stakeholder Meetings (Task 2) 
3. Draft and Final Sampling and Analysis Plan (Task 3) 
4. Final Stream Corridor Survey Summary; Water Quality Data Summary (Task 4) 
5. Mare Brook Baseline and Best Management Practices Report (Task 5) 

 

Interagency Coordination, Roles, and Responsibilities: 

Bowdoin College – As available, Bowdoin College will provide a qualified student intern to 
assist Brunswick with the project during the summer of 2015 and 2016.  College staff and/or 
faculty may also participate on the Technical Advisory Committee. 

Brunswick-Topsham Land Trust – Will serve on the technical advisory committee and assist 
with the development of landowner focused conservation and restoration efforts identified in the 
plan. 

Casco Bay Estuary Partnership – Casco Bay Estuary Partnership will serve as technical 
advisors for the project including serving on the technical advisory committee. 

Friends of Casco Bay – Friends of Casco Bay will serve as technical advisors for the project 
including serving on the technical advisory committee. 

Maine Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) – The Maine DEP will serve as 
technical advisors for the project including serving on the technical advisory committee, and 
assisting with field surveys.   

Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority – Will be requested to participate in the 
technical advisory committee to provide technical support during field assessment work 
conducted on MRRA lands. 

Town of Brunswick – The Town of Brunswick will act as the project coordinating entity and 
will also be an active participant in all phases of the project.  A qualified student intern, or 
volunteer will be assigned by the Town to assist the Town and its consultants to help reduce 
project costs. In-kind contributions are anticipated from the marine resource and public works 
departments.  Additionally, this project will draw on the talents of the conservation commission, 
and marine resources committee.  

 

 

 

 

   



 
 

 
ITEM 87 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



MEMORANDUM	
	
	
TO:	 Town	Council	
	
FROM:	 John	Eldridge	
	 Town	Manager	
	
DATE:	 July	29,	2015	
	
SUBJECT:	 Bay	Bridge	Landing	
	
	
As	part	of	the	construction	of	the	Merrymeeting	Bridge	and	Coastal	Connector,	the	Maine	
Department	of	Transportation	(“MDOT”)	was	required	to	construct	a	wetlands	mitigation	project.		
MDOT	chose	to	create	a	wetland	in	the	vicinity	of	Bay	Bridge	Estates.		At	the	time,	the	Town	of	
Brunswick	expressed	an	interest	creating	an	interpretive	park	and	trails	within	the	wetland	area.		
MDOT	agreed	to	construct	trails	and	parking,	and	installed	bridges	and	signs	to	create	the	park.		
The	Town	became	a	party	to	a	conservation	easement	for	the	property.		A	copy	of	that	easement	is	
attached.	
	
The	easement	places	certain	obligations	on	the	Town.		Among	its	obligations	are	those	stated	in	the	
easement’s	purpose:	

	
1.	PURPOSE:	It	is	the	purpose	of	this	easement	to	assure	that	the	Protected	Property:	(1)	
will	be	used	for	the	purposes	set	out	in	the	Town	of	Brunswick's	"Proposal	for	the	Bay	
Bridge	Wetland	Mitigation	Site"	dated	October	20,	1994,	and	the	Town	of	Brunswick's	Park	
Ordinance,	Section	V,	Articles	14‐121	through	14‐143,	as	it	may	be	amended;	(2)	will	be	
retained	forever	in	its	restored	status;	(3)	will	not	be	used	in	a	way	that	will	significantly	
impair	or	impede	the	conservation	uses	of	the	Property;	and	(4)	will	be	restored	and	
maintained	in	accordance	with	permits	issued	by	the	State	of	Maine,	Department	of	
Environmental	Protection,	(DEP	L‐18787‐4E‐A‐N)	and	the	United	States	Army	Corps	of	
Engineers,	(1991‐00575.)	

	
MDOT	has	offered	to	deed	the	wetland	property	to	the	Town.		In	reviewing	the	potential	
conveyance,	Town	staff	expressed	concerns	that	ownership	of	the	parcel	would	place	obligations	on	
the	Town	beyond	those	already	outlined	in	the	conservation	easement.		Michael	Lane,	an	attorney	
at	Preti	Flaherty,	reviewed	the	proposed	Governor’s	deed,	conservation	easement,	and	project	
permits	and	concluded:	
	

“The	Governor’s	deed,	for	the	most	part,	restates	obligations	set	forth	in	the	Conservation	
Easements,	EXCEPT:	
	
1.	 No	right	of	access	by	the	general	public	shall	be	permitted,	except	that	users	of	the	
trail	system	shall	be	permitted	to	use	the	trail	system	so	long	as	they	comply	with	the	
Protective	Covenants	in	the	Deed.		Section	3(e)	of	the	Deed	
	
2.	 Any	transfer	by	the	Town	would	require	approval	by	DEP.		Section	5	of	the	Deed	
	



	
Memorandum	Re:	Bay	Bridge	Landing	
July	29,	2015	
	
	

2	
	
R:\Council\Memos	to	Council\2015\Memo	Bay	Bridge	Landing	072915.docx	

The	Conservation	Easement	is	subject	to	the	DEP	and	ACOE	permits.”	
	

In	follow‐up	conversations	with	MDOT,	we	asked	that	the	public	access	restrictions	in	the	proposed	
deed	be	relaxed	to	allow	more	general	access.		The	Town	was	told	that	MDOT	would	not	change	
that	language	but	that	the	Town	would	not	be	expected	to	enforce	casual	public	use	of	the	property.	
	
Upon	conveyance	to	the	Town,	MDOT	has	agreed	to	provide	$5,000	in	funding	toward	the	
reconstruction	of	portions	of	the	pedestrian	bridges	that	were	destroyed	by	arson	several	years	
ago.		The	repairs	have	been	estimated	to	cost	in	excess	of	$15,000.		The	Town	needs	to	provide	
funding	for	the	amount	exceeding	MDOT’s	contribution.		Alternatively,	the	Town	could	seek	funding	
from	an	alternate	source.		The	repairs	are	necessary	in	order	to	re‐open	the	facility	for	its	intended	
use	as	a	park	with	an	interpretive	tail	loop.	
	
Since	the	Town	requested	construction	of	the	park	with	the	expectation	that	it	would	maintain	it,	
and	since	the	Town’s	attorney	has	concluded	that	the	proposed	deed	imposes	no	additional	
obligations,	Town	staff	recommends	that	the	Town	Council	approve	acceptance	of	the	property	as	
described	in	the	proposed	deed.		Should	the	Town	not	accept	the	property,	MDOT	would	close	
access	to	the	property	and	seek	to	convey	it	to	another	entity.	
	
	
Attachments	
	
	
Cc:	 Tom	Farrell,	Director	
	 Parks	and	Recreation		
	
	 Town	Attorney	



.. at I 3390PG321 

063157 

DEED OF CONSERVATION EASEMENT 

BAY BRIDGE SITE, BRUNSWICK, MAINE 

+h 
THIS GRANT OF CONSERVATION EASEMENT is made this f!l day of 

May, 1997, by the STATE OF MAINE, by and through its Department 
of Transportation, having an address of 16 State House Station, 
Augusta, ME 04333-0016, (hereafter "Grantor"), in favor of the 
Town of Brunswick, having an address of 28 Federal Street, Suite 
2, Brunswick, ME 04011-1583 (hereafter "Grantee"), and the STATE 
OF MAINE, Department of Environmental Protection, having an 
address of 17 State House Station, Augusta, ME 04333 (hereafter 
"Third Party Enforcer"). 

WHEREAS, this Indenture is created pursuant to the 
provisions of 33 M.R.S.A. Sections 476 through 479-B; and 

WHEREAS, the Grantor holds title to certain real property 
situated in Brunswick, Maine, designated "Wetland Mitigation 
Area" as described on Maine Department of Transportation 
Right-of-Way Map for Brunswick, Cumberland County, Maine, 
Federal Aid Project No. DE-0091(801), dated April 1995, on file 
in its office at Augusta, File No. 3-394 (the "Right of Way 
Map"), and in Notice of Layout and Taking dated February 5, 
1996, recorded in the Cumberland County Registry of Deeds in 
Book 12338, Page 281; 

WHEREAS, the real property described above shall be 
restored, pursuant to (1) DEP Wetland Protection Rules, Code of 
Maine Rules, Chapter 310; (2) 38 M.R.S.A. section 480-A et 
seq.; (3) Section 404 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. section 
1344) and federal regulations promulgated thereunder; and (4) 
pursuant to permits issued by the State of Maine, Department of 
Environmental Protection and the United States Army Corps of 
Engineers (the real property described above as restored 
hereafter referred to as the "Protected Property"); and 

WHEREAS, the Protected Property shall provide compensatory 
mitigation (pursuant to 23 M.R.S.A. section 153 (B) (1) (g), eff. 
March 25, 1994) for the environmental effects of the Grantor's 
transportation project known as the "Topsham-Brunswick By-Pass," 
Project No. 1665.20; and 

WHEREAS, the Grantor and the Grantee, recognizing the 
functions and values of the Protected Property as described 
above, have the common purpose of conserving the functions and 
values of the Protected Property by the conveyance of a 
Conservation Easement over the Protected Property, which 
easement shall benefit, protect and conserve the functions and 
values of the Protected Property, conserve and protect the 
indigenous plant and animal populations, and prevent the use or 
development of the Protected Property for any purpose or in any 



-2-
Bk: l 3390PG328 

manner that would conflict with its condition, for the benefit 
of Cumberland County and the people of the State of Maine; and 

WHEREAS, the Protected Property, when restored, shall have 
significant educational, aesthetic, and ecological functions and 
values ("conservation values"); and 

WHEREAS, preservation of the Protected Property is 
consistent with federal, state, and local governmental 
conservation policy; and 

WHEREAS, the Grantee has the purpose of preserving and 
conserving the Protected Property for educational, aesthetic, 
and ecological values; and 

WHEREAS, the Granter intends, as owner of the Protected 
Property, that Grantee holds the easement for the purpose of 
maintaining it in its restored state; and 

WHEREAS, the Granter intends, as owner of the Protected 
Property, to convey to Third Party Enforcer the right to 
preserve and protect the conservation values of the Protected 
Property; and 

WHEREAS, Grantee and Third Party Enforcer agree by 
accepting this grant to honor the intentions of Granter stated 
herein and to preserve and protect in perpetuity the 
conservation values of the Protected Property for the public 
benefit of this generation and the generations to come; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above and the 
mutual covenants, terms, conditions, and restrictions contained 
herein, Granter does hereby voluntarily grant, give, bestow, and 
convey unto the Grantee, its successors and assigns forever, a 
conservation easement in perpetuity over the Protected Property 
consisting of the following: 

1. PURPOSE: It is the purpose of this easement to assure 
that the Protected Property: (1) will be used for the purposes 
set out in the Town of Brunswick's "Proposal for the Bay Bridge 
Wetland Mitigation Site" dated October 20, 1994, and the Town of 
Brunswick's Park Ordinance, Section V, Articles 14-121 through 
14-143, as it may be amended; (2) will be retained forever in 
its restored status; (3) will not be used in a way that will 
significantly impair or impede the conservation uses of the 
Property; and (4) will be restored and maintained in accordance 
with permits issued by the State of Maine, Department of 
Environmental Protection, (DEP L-18787-4E-A-N) and the United 
States Army Corps of Engineers, (1991-00575.) 

2. RIGHTS OF GRANTEE: To accomplish the purposes of this 
Easement, the following rights are conveyed to Grantee: 



•"' i 

-3-
Bt I 3390PG329 

a. The right to preserve and protect the conservation 
values of the Protected Property; 

b. The right to enter and inspect the Protected Property 
over other lands or easements held by the Granter at 
any reasonable time and in any reasonable manner 
provided that the time and manner of such entry does 
not unreasonably interfere with the uses of the 
Protected Property permitted hereunder or the quiet 
enjoyment of other lands of Granter, and to enforce by 
proceedings at law or in equity the covenants 
hereinafter set forth; including the right to require 
restoration of the Protected Property to its condition 
prior to any breach hereof; and 

c. The right to prevent any activity on or use of the 
Protected Property that is inconsistent with the 
purpose of this Easement and to require the 
restoration of such areas or features of the Protected 
Property that may be damaged by any inconsistent 
activity or use. 

3. RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTY ENFORCER: The Granters hereby 
grant to the Third Party Enforcer the same inspection and 
enforcement rights as are granted to the Grantee under this 
easement. However, the Parties hereto intend that the Grantee 
shall be primarily responsible for the enforcement of this 
Easement, and that the Third Party Enforcer will assume such 
responsibility only if the Grantee shall fail to enforce it. If 
the Third Party Enforcer shall determine that the Grantee is 
failing in such enforcement, the Third Party may give notice of 
such failure to the Grantee and the Granter, and if such failure 
is not corrected within a reasonable time thereafter, the Third 
Party Enforcer may exercise, in its own name and for its own 
account, all the rights of enforcement conveyed to the Grantee 
under this Easement. 

The Third Party Enforcer shall also have reasonable access 
to any and all records of the Grantee relevant to the Protected 
Property. 

4. USE OF THE PROPERTY: The Protected Property shall be 
used for limited educational, passive recreational and 
conservation purposes only. No commercial, industrial, 
quarrying, or mining activities shall be permitted on the 
Protected Property. No motorized vehicles (except motorized 
wheelchairs) of any kind, including recreational vehicles, 
all-terrain vehicles, motorcycles, dirt bikes, and snowmobiles 
shall be permitted on the Protected Property except in 
emergencies and when necessary to the exercise of Grantor's, 
Grantee's, and Third Party Enforcer's rights under the terms of 
this Easement. No filling, paving, dumping, excavation or other 
alteration shall be made to the surface of the Protected 
Property other than that caused by the forces of nature. Any 



-4-
St: I 3390PG330 

activity on or use of the Protected Property inconsistent with 
the purposes of this Easement is prohibited. 

Provided, however, that parking by motorized vehicles for 
access to the Protected Property shall be permitted in the 
parking area designated on the above-described Right of Way Map. 
Parking in the designated area shall also be permitted for 
vehicles utilizing the boat launch facility located easterly of 
the Protected Property, adjacent to "Bay Bridge Road," so-called. 

The parties to this instrument acknowledge that the Grantee 
intends to create an extensive trail system along the 
Androscoggin River which will connect with the "Access Trail" 
located along the southerly sideline of the Protected Property, 
as designated on the above-described Right of Way Map. Users of 
the trail system shall be permitted to pass through the 
Protected Property on the Access Trail so long as they comply 
with the terms of this Conservation Easement. 

5. RIGHTS OF GRANTOR: Nothing herein shall be construed 
to entitle the Grantee or Third Party Enforcer to enforce the 
terms of this Easement against the Granter or its successors or 
assigns for any changes to the Protected Property due to causes 
beyond the Grantor's control, such as changes caused by fire, 
flood, storm, or the unauthorized wrongful acts of a third 
party. The Granter herein (State of Maine, Department of 
Transportation) reserves the right to sell, give, or otherwise 
convey its fee interest in the Protected Property, provided such 
conveyance is subject to the terms of this Easement; and the 
terms, conditions, and restrictions imposed with this grant 
shall be binding not only upon the Granter, but upon its agents, 
successors and assigns, and all other successors to them in 
interest, and shall continue as a servitude running with the 
Protected Property in perpetuity. No right of access by the 
general public to any portion of the Protected Property is 
conveyed by this Easement; provided, however, that limited 
access as described in Paragraph 4 herein shall be permitted. 

Also provided that if the Granter State of Maine, 
Department of Transportation, elects to convey the fee 
underlying the Protected Property to the Town of Brunswick, the 
deed of conveyance shall contain all the terms, restrictions and 
conditions set out in the within Conservation Easement, and 
Grantee, by acceptance of this Conservation Easement, hereby 
agrees to accept title subject to such terms. Transfer of title 
shall not occur until approved by the Third Party Enforcer, and 
the Third Party Enforcer shall retain all rights set forth 
herein. 

6. CUTTING OF TIMBER AND VEGETATION: The destruction or 
removal of standing timber, plants, shrubs or other vegetation 
shall not be permitted, except, however, there are retained in 
the Granter the following rights: 



-5-
~\3390~331 

a. The right to clear and restore vegetation that is 
damaged or destroyed by the forces of nature, such as 
fire or disease and with the prior written approval of 
the Grantee and the Third Party, when necessary to 
prevent the spread of disease. 

b. The right to clear and restore vegetation, in the 
event of an emergency, when necessary to prevent the 
spread of fire. 

c. The right to gather, use or remove dead wood. 

7. RESTORATION and MAINTENANCE 

a. Restoration During Monitoring Period 

Granter shall be responsible for the restoration of the 
Protected Property pursuant to the permits described Section 1, 
above. Granter shall monitor the Protected Property for a 
period of five (5) years from the date of restoration to ensure 
the successful functioning of the restored wetland (the 
"monitoring period"). 

In the event that the Grantor's restoration efforts fail 
within the monitoring period, Granter shall undertake additional 
restoration efforts as required by applicable permits, laws and 
regulations. In the event of a catastrophic event such as fire, 
flood, storm, or the unauthorized wrongful acts of a third 
party, causing substantial damage to the restored wetland during 
the monitoring period, Granter shall undertake such additional 
restoration efforts as required by applicable permits, laws and 
regulations. 

b. Day-to-Day Maintenance 

By acceptance of this conservation easement, Grantee 
covenants and agrees to bear all costs of and responsibility for 
day-to-day operation, upkeep, and maintenance of the Protected 
Property, except that Grantee is not obligated to undertake any 
affirmative restoration efforts if the restored wetland does not 
function as anticipated. No actions may be brought against the 
Town of Brunswick to enforce the terms of this Conservation 
Easement for any changes to the Protected Property caused by a 
catastrophic event beyond the Town's control, such as fire, 
flood, storm, or the unauthorized wrongful acts of a third 
party. 

The Granter has provided the Grantee with sufficient 
information to determine the condition of the Protected Property 
as of the effective date hereof and has certified that such 
information is an accurate representation of the same. 

8. TAXES: Grantee covenants and agrees to pay any and 
all real property taxes and assessments levied by competent 



' .. .. . 
' ... BK. I 3390PG332 

authority on the Protected Property, if any, and does hereby 
relieve, indemnify and hold harmless the Granter therefrom. 

9. SUCCESSORS: Except as otherwise indicated herein, the 
covenants, terms, conditions, and restrictions of this Easement 
shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties 
hereto and their respective successors, and assigns and shall 
continue as a servitude running in perpetuity with the Protected 
Property. 

10. TERMINATION OF RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS: A party's 
rights and obligations under this Easement terminate upon 
transfer of the party's interest in the Easement or Protected 
Property, except that liability for acts or omissions occurring 
prior to transfer shall survive transfer. 

11. NOTICES: Any notice, demand, request, consent, 
approval or any other communication that either party desires to 
give to the other regarding the protected property shall be in 
writing and shall be sent via certified mail addressed as 
follows: 

To Granter: Office of Environmental Services 
16 State House Station 
Augusta, Maine 04333-0016 

To Grantee: Town of Brunswick 
28 Federal Street 
Brunswick, Maine _04011-1583 

To Grantee's Attorney: Catherine O'Connor, Esq. 
Bernstein, Shur, Sawyer 

& Nelson 
62 Portland Road 
Kennebunk, Maine 04043 

12. RECORDATION: Grantee shall record this instrument in 
timely fashion in the official records of Cumberland County, 
Maine, and may re-record it at any time as may be required to 
preserve its rights in the easement. 

13. CONTROLLING LAW: The interpretation and performance 
of this easement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Maine. This easement shall be liberally construed in favor of 
the grant to effect the purpose of this easement. 

14. SEVERABILITY: If any provision of this easement or 
the application thereof is found to be invalid, the remainder of 
the provisions of the easement, or the application of such 
provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to 
which it is found to be invalid, shall not be affected thereby. 



' .. .,, . -7-

15. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: This instrument sets forth the 
entire agreement of the parties with respect to the conservation 
easement, and supersedes all prior discussions, negotiations, 
understandings or agreements relating to the easement, all of 
which are merged herein. 

16. ACCEPTANCE BY HOLDER AND THIRD PARTY ENFORCER: 
Grantee and the Third Party Enforcer, hereby accept the rights 
and duties set forth in this instrument by signing the agreement 
below. 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the said conservation easement unto 
said Grantee, its successors and assigns forever and the said 
Third Party Rights unto the said Third Party and its successors 
and assigns forever. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF Granter, Grantee, and Third Party 
Enforcer have executed and sealed this document the day and year 
first above written. 

~ itness 

TOWN OF BRUNSWI~ 

VMN~ ~ ~ald H. G€iSh 
Its: Town Manager 

J/j_Q&~ 
Witness 

Duly Authorized 

STATE OF MAINE 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

STATE OF MAINE 
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL 

PROTECTION 



State of Maine 
Kennebec County 

Then personally appeared 
in his aforesaid capacity,and 
instrument to be his free act 
of the State of Maine. 

State of Maine 
Kennebec County 

-8-

OL:/f. cJ.11 I 19 9 7 

the above named John G. Melrose, 
acknowledged the foregoing 
and deed and the free act and deed 

/9 t 1997 

Then personally appeared the above named Donald H. Gerrish, 
Town Manager, and acknowledged the foregoing instrument to be 
his free act and deed and the free act in his capacity as Town 
Manager of the Town of Brunswick. 

CONSESMT.2/ECLARK/MITIGATE 

lldruJJ--1 (!d~ 
Notary Public 
Date commission expires 
Seal 

Deborah S. Cabana 
Notary Public 

My Commission Expires Feb. 17, 2001 

RECEIVED 
[?£COHOEO REGfSTRY OF DEEDS 

1997 OCT 23 AM 8: 59 



 Page 1 of 7

 
GOVERNOR’S DEED 

 
THE STATE OF MAINE, acting by and through its Governor, on recommendation of the 

Commissioner of the Department of Transportation (the “State), under and pursuant to the 

provisions of 23 M.R.S.A., Section 61, for consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby 

acknowledged, RELEASES to the TOWN OF BRUNSWICK (the “Town”), a body politic and 

corporate, its successors and assigns forever, whose mailing address is 85 Union Street, 

Brunswick, Maine 04011, all its right, title and interest in and to a certain lot or parcel of land 

situated in Brunswick, County of Cumberland and State of Maine, and being as shown on a State 

of Maine Department of Transportation Right of Way Map entitled Wetland Mitigation Site, 

Brunswick, Cumberland County, Federal Aid Project No. DE-0091(801) Part VI, on file in its 

office at Augusta, File No. 3-394, sheet 36 of 40 Sheets (the “Right of Way Map”), bounded and 

described as follows: 

All land and rights in land within the following described boundaries, which are located with 
respect to the following described Base Line (the “Subject Property”):   

Base Line Description 

BEGINNING at a point about six hundred eighty-six (686) feet southwesterly from the 
present southwesterly line of Bay Bridge Road, said point also being about one hundred 
seventy (170) feet southeasterly from the present southeasterly line of the Androscoggin 
River, and designated as Station 0-51.48;  

THENCE N 31°08’24.5” E and crossing Bay Bridge Road eight hundred one and forty-
eight hundredths (801.48) feet to Station 7+50, which Station is about fifty-fie (55) feet 
northeasterly from the present northeasterly line of Bay Bridge Road;  

Boundary description: 

BEGINNING at a point in the present southwesterly line of Bay Bridge Road, said point 
being about two hundred twenty-five (225) fee southeasterly from and as measured along 
a line at right angles to the Base Line at about Station 5+98; 

 



 Page 2 of 7

THENCE southwesterly by a direct course about three hundred sixty-two (362) feet to 
an iron pin located two hundred seventy-four and forty-three hundredths (274.43) feet 
southeasterly from and as measured along a line at right angles to the Base Line at Station 
2+39.47; 

THENCE S 53°40’33” W three hundred fifteen (315) feet to a point one hundred fifty-
three and seventy-one hundredths (153.71) feet southeasterly from and as measured along 
a line at right angles to the Base Line at Station 0-51.48;  

THENCE N 36°19’27” W about three hundred fifty-six (356) feet to a point in the 
present southeasterly line of the Androscoggin River, said point being about one hundred 
seventy-five (175) feet northwesterly from and as measured along a line at right angles to 
the Base Line at about Station 0+85; 

THENCE northeasterly along the present southeasterly line of the Androscoggin River 
about five hundred eighty-five (585) feet to a point in the present southwesterly line of 
Bay Bridge Road, said point being about one hundred forty-three (143) feet northwesterly 
from and as measured along a line at right angles to the Base Line at about Station 6+75;  

THENCE northeasterly by a direct course about forty-nine and five tenths (49.5) feet to 
a point in the present northeasterly line of Bay Bridge Road, said point being one hundred 
thirty three (133) feet northwesterly from and as measured along a line at right angles to 
the Base Line at about Station 7+23;  

THENCE southeasterly along the present northeasterly line of the Bay Bridge Road 
about three hundred seventy-five  (375) feet to a point two hundred thirty-five (235) feet 
southeasterly from and as measured along a line at right angles to the Base Line at about 
Station 6+47;  

THENCE southwesterly by a direct course about forty-nine and five tenths (49.5) feet to 
the point of beginning.   

Said lot or parcel of land contains approximately 5.93± acres. 
 
MEANING AND INTENDING TO CONVEY the same premises acquired by the State of 
Maine from Marion A. Crooker, Harry C. Crooker, and Harry C. Crooker & Sons, Inc. through a 
Notice of Taking filed in the Cumberland County Registry of Deeds on February 5, 1996 and 
recorded in Book 12338, Page 281.   
 
FOR FURTHER REFERENCE, see Deed of Conservation Easement between the State of 
Maine and the Town of Brunswick dated May 19, 1997 and recorded in said Registry of Deeds 
in Book 13390, Page 327 (the “1997 Conservation Easement”).   
 
 



 Page 3 of 7

THIS CONVEYANCE IS SUBJECT TO the following restrictions, covenants, conditions, and 
servitudes (collectively, the “Protective Covenants”), which shall inure to the benefit of and be 
binding upon the Town, its successors and assigns, and shall perpetually run with the Subject 
Property: 
 

1. PURPOSE:  The Subject Property was previously acquired and preserved as a mitigation 
site by the State.  It is the purpose of the Protective Covenants to assure the following:   
 

a. The Subject Property will be used for the purposes set out in the Town of 
Brunswick’s “Proposal for the Bay Bridge Wetland Mitigation Site” dated 
October 20, 1994, and the Town of Brunswick’s Park Ordinance, Section V, 
Articles 14-121 through 14-143, as such may be amended;  
 

b. The Subject Property will be retained forever in its restored state;  
 

c. The Subject Property will not be used in a way that will significantly impair or 
impede the conservation uses of the Subject Property;  

 
d. The Subject Property will be maintained in accordance with permits issued by the 

State of Maine, Department to f Environmental Protection (DEP L-18787-4E-A-
N) and the United States Army Corps of Engineers (1991-00575); and  

 
e. The covenants, terms, restrictions and conditions created through the 1997 

Conservation Easement that are specifically restated herein shall not be 
extinguished through any doctrine dictating a merger of title into the Town. 

 
2. THIRD PARTY ENFORCER: The Subject Property continues to be subject to the 

inspection and enforcement rights of the Maine Department of Environmental Protection 
as the Third Party Enforcer (the “Third Party Enforcer”) designated in the 1997 
Conservation Easement.  Nothing herein shall be construed to entitle the Third Party 
Enforcer to enforce the terms of these Protective Covenants against the Town or its 
successors or assigns for any changes to the Subject Property due to causes beyond the 
Town’s control, such as changes caused by fire, flood, storm, or the unauthorized 
wrongful acts of a third party.  The Third Party Enforcer shall also have reasonable 
access to any and all records of the Town relevant to the Subject Property.   
 

3. USE OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY:   
 

a. The Subject Property shall be used for limited educational, passive recreational 
and conservation purposes only;  
 

b. No commercial, industrial, quarrying or mining activities shall be permitted on 
the Subject Property;   

 
c. No motorized vehicles (except motorized wheelchairs) of any kind, including 

recreational vehicles, all-terrain vehicles, motorcycles, dirt bikes, and 
snowmobiles shall be permitted on the Subject Property except in emergencies 



 Page 4 of 7

and when necessary to the exercise of the Town’s rights and duties under these 
Protective Covenants; provided, however, that parking by motorized vehicles for 
access to the Subject Property shall be permitted in the parking area designated on 
the Right of Way Map.  Parking in the designated area shall also be permitted for 
vehicles utilizing the boat launch facility located easterly of the Subject Property, 
adjacent to “Bay Bridge Road,” so called.   

 
d. No filling, paving, dumping, excavation or other alteration shall be made to the 

surface of the Subject Property other than that caused by the forces of nature.  
Any activity on or use of the Subject Property inconsistent with the purposes of 
these Protective Covenants is prohibited.   

 
e. No right of access by the general public to any portion of the Subject Property 

shall be permitted.  However, the parties to this instrument acknowledge that the 
Town has created an extensive trail system along the Androscoggin River that 
connects to the “Access Trail” located along the southerly sideline of the Subject 
Property, as designated on the Right of Way Map.  Users of the trail system shall 
be permitted to pass through the Subject Property on the Access Trail so long as 
they comply with the terms of these Protective Covenants.  .   

 
f. The destruction or removal of standing timber, plants, shrubs or other vegetation 

shall not be permitted, except, however, the Town shall have the following rights:  
 

i. The right to clear and restore vegetation that is damaged or destroyed by 
the forces of nature, such as fire or disease and with the prior written 
approval of  the Third Party Enforcer, when necessary to prevent the 
spread of disease; 
 

ii. The right to clear and restore vegetation, in the event of an emergency, 
when necessary to prevent the spread of fire; 

 
iii. The right to gather, use or remove dead wood.   

 
4. MAINTENANCE:   By acceptance of this deed and the terms of these Protective 

Covenants, the Town covenants and agrees to bear all costs of and responsibility for day-
to-day operation, upkeep and maintenance of the Subject Property, except that the Town 
is not obligated to undertake any affirmative restoration efforts if any restoration efforts 
previously implemented by the State to the Subject Property do not continue to function 
as anticipated.   No actions may be brought against the Town to enforce the terms of 
these Protective Covenants for any changes to the Subject Property caused by a 
catastrophic event beyond the Town’s control, such as fire, flood, storm, or the 
unauthorized wrongful acts of a third party. 
 

5. SALE BY TOWN:  If the Town elects to convey the underlying fee interest of the 
Subject Property, the deed of conveyance shall contain all the terms, restrictions and 
conditions set out in these Protective Covenants, and the Town, by acceptance of this 
Deed, hereby agrees to accept title subject to such terms.  Any such transfer of title shall 



 Page 5 of 7

not occur until approved by the Third Party Enforcer, and the Third Party Enforcer shall 
retain all rights set forth herein.   
 

SUBJECT TO all utility easements and installations located on the above described premises, if 
any, including those shown on the herein referred to Right of Way Map, and to those rights 
which any utility enjoys over the Subject Property for maintenance, location or relocation of 
poles and other installations. 
 
THE STATE makes no representations or warranties with respect to the Subject Property 
conveyed.  The representations and warranties so excluded encompass, but are not limited to, 
those pertaining to: land use and environmental matters; fitness of the premises or any portion 
thereof for any particular purpose; water quality or quantity; the condition or quality of the soil; 
inchoate or unrecorded liens; or the existence, status, or condition of access to, or public utilities 
serving the Subject Property. Any subsequent use of, improvement to, or construction on the 
Subject Property is subject to the terms of this deed, as well as all applicable laws, regulations, 
ordinances, and permitting requirements. 
 
ACCEPTANCE OF PROTECTIVE COVENANTS:  By execution hereof, the Town and the 
Third Party Enforcer accept and acknowledge the rights and duties set forth in this instrument.   
 



 Page 6 of 7

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I, Paul R. LePage, Governor of the State of Maine, have caused the 
name and great seal of the State of Maine to be hereto affixed this ________________day of 
____________________________in the year two thousand _______. 

 
 
 
      STATE OF MAINE 
 
 
      By: _____________________________, Governor 
             Paul R. LePage 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Affixed by:___________________________ 

     Secretary of State 
 
 
STATE OF MAINE  
COUNTY OF KENNEBEC  ____________________________________, 201__ 
 
Personally appeared the above-named Paul R. LePage, Governor of the State of Maine and 
acknowledged the foregoing instrument to be his free act and deed in his said capacity and 
the free act and deed of the State of Maine. 
 
      Before me ________________________________ 
        Notary Public/Attorney at Law 

Print Name: _______________________________ 

My commission expires: _____________________ 



 Page 7 of 7

 

SEEN AND AGREED TO BY: 

 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK    STATE OF MAINE 

       Department of Environmental Protection 

 

 

By:___________________________  By:________________________________ 

Print Name:____________________   Print Name:________________________ 

Its_____________________________  Its_________________________________ 

Duly authorized     Duly authorized 

 

 

 
   
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
ITEM 88 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



 
MEMORANDUM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: Appointments Committee 

SUBJECT: Report for August 3rd Appointments 

DATE: 7/29/2015 

 
The Appointments Committee interviewed several people and are making the following 
nominations: 
 
Cable TV Committee 
 David Carpenter– reappointment for a term to expire on 09/06/2018  
 
Marine Resource Committee 

Scott Hawkes – appointment as Commercial Harvester representative for a term to expire 
on 05/01/2018 



Current and future vacancies: (listed alphabetically) 
 
 Cable TV Committee 
(Link to summary of duties including meeting schedule) 

 5 members – 3 year terms to begin on 9/6/2015 and expire on 09/06/2018. (Please apply by July 13) 
 
Downtown & Outer Pleasant Street Master Plan Implementation Committee 
(Link to Committee’s webpage and link to summary of duties including meeting schedule) 
(3 year terms to begin immediately and expire on 12/01/2017) (Current openings-apply now) 

 1 member – Pleasant Street Business Owner 
 1 member – Pleasant Street Resident 
 1 member – Brunswick Downtown Association member 
 1 member – Business Owner – Downtown 
 1 member – Citizen at Large 

 
Fair Hearing Authority 
(Link to summary of duties including meeting schedule) 
3 members – 3 year terms to begin immediately and expire on 10/01/2017 (Current opening – apply now) 
 
Marine Resource Committee 
(Link to link to Committee’s webpage and summary of duties including meeting schedule) 

 1 Alternate member – Commercial Harvester – balance of 3 year term to begin immediately and expire on 05/01/2017 
(Current opening – apply now) 

 2 Commercial harvester – 3 year terms to begin on 05/01/2015 and expire on 05/01/2018 (Current openings – apply 
now) 
 
Recreation Commission 
(Link to summary of duties including meeting schedule) 

 1 members – 3 year term to expire on begin on 07/01/2015 and expire on 07/01/2018 (Current opening – apply now) 
 
Trust Fund Advisory Committee 
(Link to summary of duties including meeting schedule) 

 1 member – balance of 3 year term to begin immediately and to expire on 05/10/2016 (Current opening – apply now) 
 
Village Review Board 
(Link to the Board’s webpage and to summary of duties including meeting schedule) 

 2 members – 3 year terms to begin on 10/20/2015 and expire on 10/20/2018. (Please apply by September 14) 
 
Water District Board of Trustees 
(Link to summary of duties including meeting schedule) 

 2 members – 3 year terms to begin on 09/13/2015 and expire on 09/13/2018 (Please apply by August 17) 
 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
(Link to Board’s webpage and link to summary of duties including meeting schedule) 

 1 Associate member – balance of 3 year term to begin immediately and expire on 07/01/2016 (Current opening – 
apply now) 

 1 Associate member – balance of 3 year term to begin immediately and expire on 07/01/2018 (Current opening – 
apply now) 

 1 Associate member – 3 year term to begin immediately and expire on 12/18/2017 (Current opening – apply now) 
 2 Full members – 3 year terms to begin on 11/20/2015 and expire on 11/20/2018 (Please apply by October 19) 

 










	ca a
	ca b yes
	ca a July 20, 2015 min
	ca b yes
	ca b quit_20150729103626
	mr a to c NO
	mr d yes
	83 yes
	84 yes
	84 school cross walks
	85 yes
	85 Aug 1 harbor grant _20150722085506
	86 yes
	86 Mare Brook Grant 063015
	86 MCP_Mare Brook_Proposal 051315
	In addition to administering and managing the project (Task 1) and convening and helping to facilitate the two stakeholder meetings (Task 2), the Town of Brunswick will work with state and federal agencies, non-governmental organization partners, and ...

	87 yes
	87 app committee report for 8-3-2015
	87 app Comm
	83 FULL.pdf
	83 yes
	83 a BSD-L-PPerzanoski-28JUL15-07292015090446
	83 b Coffin School Repair Study - Spread Sheet - FINAL - 6.16.15 - REV 7.28.15
	83 c Repair. Coffin-BJHS Repairs & finishes REV.  7-28-15  ldk
	83 d BJHS Repair Study - Spread Sheet - FINAL - 6.16.15 -REV7.28.15
	83 e12 unit Portables  6-15-15  ldk.mo
	83 ON LINE June-18th-SB-Compiled-Final-Document-Compressed


	Text2: Presentation from the School Department were added to the packet after the meeting.


